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SHAPING ASIA

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

SembCorp Industries is Asia’s foremost integrated services
group focussed on infrastructure, marine engineering,
information technology and lifestyle. SembCorp Industries
merges engineering and technology to deliver multi-disciplinary,
customer-oriented solutions in Asia and beyond.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

SHAPING ASIA
IT

IS A PRIVILEGE TO INTRODUCE YOU THE

FIRST

A NNUAL R EPORT

I NDUSTRIES . W E
OPERATING

1998

OF

S EMB C ORP

HAVE BEEN A FULLY

G ROUP

SINCE EARLY

O CTOBER

UPON SHAREHOLDERS ’ APPROVAL FOR

THE MERGER BETWEEN

S INGAPORE

T ECHNOLOGIES I NDUSTRIAL C ORPORATION
(STIC)

AND

S EMBAWANG C ORPORATION

(S EMBAWANG ).
As such, we have three objectives for this report. First, to
give you an account of our financial performance. Second,
we would like to report the actions we have taken since
October to reorganise the numerous businesses and
companies from STIC and Sembawang.
Third, we would like to discuss the issues facing us as a
new Group and the strategic path we intend to take to
fulfill our vision of becoming:
“An internationally-recognised integrated services expert in
engineering and technology with significant business
interests and operations across the world”.

SHAPING ASIA

one-time exceptional item of S$150 million
taken as a provision for the Solitaire arbitration.
Had this provision not been taken, our PATMI
would have been S$92.9 million. However, this
consequential net loss caused our earnings per
share to fall to (3.78) cents. SembCorp Industries’ NTA per share declined from S$0.81 to
S$0.40, a fall caused by the write-downs we
have made in our non-core operations and the
Solitaire exceptional item. Our net debt to
equity ratio climbed from 0.86 times to 1.03
times for the same reasons. However, our
borrowings, net of cash, actually declined from a
pre-merger S$1.7 billion to about S$1.5 billion
due to our efforts to manage our debt level.

said it could not reach a decision on the issue of
termination. Further evidence will now have to
be given to the Tribunal and a final decision on
the issue of termination will only be known after
the conclusion of the next hearing which is
expected to start around September 2000.
Notwithstanding the fact that the Solitaire
owners’ alleged claim of the right to terminate
the contract has not been decided upon by the
Tribunal, the Board and management of
SembCorp Industries feel that it will be prudent
to make the S$150 million provision in FY 1998.
This provision is made for financial prudence
only and merely reflects a cautious approach on
our part to discount the difference that may
result from the extreme positions of winning or
losing the case. It is in no way an admission of

Notwithstanding, for the year under review, our
Board of Directors has recommended a first and
final dividend of 10 per cent (less tax of 26 per
cent).

any fault or liability as Sembawang intends to
continue defending its position that the owners’
termination was unlawful.
The Solitaire matter is envisaged to go on for a
few more years but this provision is designed to

About Solitaire

put the matter behind us, so that we, as
SembCorp Industries can move ahead.

As this matter dates back about six years, some
background is in order for our shareholders.
In 1993, Sembawang Shipyard was awarded a
S$230 million contract for conversion works for
the vessel, Solitaire. However, in October 1995,
the owners terminated the contract and removed
the vessel from our yard, citing defects and
breaches of contractual obligation. In early
1996, a series of arbitration hearings before a
tribunal in London started.

The Right Time to Do
the Correct Thing
Our merger was carried out at what many
considered a controversial time – Asia was in the
throes of a recession after years of high growth.
But we believed otherwise. The economic
doldrums in fact provided the opportune
time to plan ahead, to get our house in order
and to position our Group for the next rising
tide, so that when Asian economies recover,
we would be poised to ride on that upturn.

3

Against the 1997 proforma Group, our turnover
grew 18 per cent to S$3.9 billion. However, our
profit after tax and minority interests was
depressed to a loss of S$57.1 million due to a

In September 1998, a hearing was conducted to
consider if the owners were entitled to terminate
the contract and whether the yard was in
repudiatory breach of the contract. In March
this year, the Tribunal in delivering its award
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SembCorp Industries’ competitive advantage
lies in harnessing our distinct strengths in engineering and technology.

Furthermore, we saw that both STIC and
Sembawang were approaching a point where
their lack of size had hindered their rate of
growth. To us, it was time to act decisively
and take the right steps for all our shareholders.
We believed then, as we do now, that there
is never a wrong time to do what is right.
We carried out the initial restructuring of
SembCorp Industries in four steps:
• Determine the business focus and core
businesses of the Group.
• Ascertain what the non-core operations are
and plan an orderly exit.
• Establish a proper framework of corporate
governance.
• Rationalise our structure and develop
strategic business units (SBUs) of the right
size and critical mass.

harnessing our distinct strengths in engineering
and technology. Three areas of business were
identified as core to us - Infrastructure, Marine
Engineering and Information Technology. Food
processing and distribution is the primary
activity in the Lifestyle sector which will remain
integral to our business.
Seeing that these areas are in themselves broad,

State our business focus
From early on, we have established that
SembCorp Industries is an integrated services
group whose competitive advantage lies in

we measured each individual business operation
against three criteria to ascertain if it qualified as
core.

The three questions each operation had to ask
were :
• Is the company or business truly an
engineering or technology-related
operation?
• Is it possible for the company or business to
grow into a dominant force on the Asian

year, our total write-downs amounted to S$458
million.
In the exit of non-core businesses, the aim is to
be orderly in our approach and to negotiate for
the best prices possible. We estimate that the
divestment programme may take up to two years
to be fully completed.

business scene?

A company or business had to meet all three

We opted for a flat structure with just two tiers a lean Corporate HQ and our main operating
companies, which we refer to as SBUs. It is our
governance policy to work directly with our

criteria to be considered as a core operation.

SBUs and to give them maximum operational
autonomy to carry out their various businesses.

Exit non-core areas

On the other hand, Corporate HQ will oversee
four key processes in the Group. They are :

Ten businesses have been identified as noncore, namely: property development; financial
services; food retail; ferry, cruise and shipping
operations; retail of consumer goods; travel
operations; hotels and resorts; healthcare;
leisure parks; and cineplexes.
Our evaluation showed that the financial
performances of these businesses were mixed
– some were profitable, others were in start-up
phase, while there were those which were badly
hit by the Asian economic crisis and suffered
severe diminution in the carrying values of their
assets.
The Group therefore, in February 1999, announced S$452 million worth of write-downs in
the carrying values of its property, financial
services, hotels and resorts, ferries, cruises and
shipping assets and other investments. These
write-downs were taken as an extraordinary
item (below-the-line) in the second half of FY
1998. For the whole of the 1998 financial

• Ensuring that the strategies of our SBUs are
in line with the overall direction of
SembCorp Industries.
• Overseeing the financial and legal discipline
of the Group to ensure that the best
practices in corporate finance, financial
planning and risk management are upheld.
• Maintaining proper and consistent
communications with our shareholders,
the financial community, the media and
our staff.
• Developing a proactive human resource
development system to manage the careers
of all our staff, in particular those at the
senior management level.
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• Can the company deliver to its shareholders
an ROE of at least 12 per cent and a
positive EVA?
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Corporate governance framework
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Right-size businesses

Another area of business we have reorganised

Singapore is currently our largest market and
expectedly so, as it is our home base. But more
significantly, we will witness an expanding
presence in the Asia-Pacific region. These are

is our logistics operations. In mid-December,
we proposed to the shareholders of listed
Sembawang Marine & Logistics (SML) a plan to
merge it with Singapore Technologies Logistics.
The merger would form an internationally
competitive integrated logistics provider

At end-October, we merged the construction
operations of Sembawang Engineering &

focussing on supply chain management, offshore
logistics and marine services. At a shareholders’
meeting on March 8, 1999, approval was given
for the merger to proceed and SembCorp Logistics came to be formed.

Priorities and Concerns
In the coming year, we see continuing difficulties
in the Asian business environment. The political
upheaval in Indonesia has yet to be resolved.
In China, with an economy slackening, there

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES
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tough markets and our competitors, most of
whom hail from Europe and the United States,
are large and formidable. For this reason, we
have reorganised several of our key companies
to “right-size” them to take on the competition
more effectively.

have been disturbing occurrences of tightened
control over foreign exchange and repatriation
of earnings. This has caused some difficulties
for our infrastructure-related investment company, Cathay International - although most of
these issues have been resolved at the time of
writing.

Construction (SembEC) with Singapore
Technologies Construction. The new company,
SembCorp Construction, is now the largest civil
and building company in the Asean region.
On the other hand, SembEC (renamed
SembCorp Engineering) will focus on industrial
plant building services along with being a thirdparty utilities services provider to petrochemical
companies located on Jurong Island. This
company is also Singapore’s first commercial
importer of natural gas from the West Natuna
field of Indonesia with the landmark agreement
finalised in January this year.

While some signs of recovery are in evidence in
certain Asian economies, it is still too early to
tell if we have turned the corner. We see this
continuing weakness affecting our construction
operation, although the effects of a slow pick-up
in the building industry will be felt only a year
or two down the road. Currently, our engineering and construction order book is still healthy
with some S$1.8 billion worth of projects. Our
industrial parks will likely experience another
slow year given that MNCs are still undecided
on the degree of recovery in the region.
While we can exert little control over the
external factors, internally as a Group, we are
able to take steps to tighten our costs and to

improve our competitiveness. We have set all
our companies cost savings targets and we
expect to realise approximately S$35 million in
savings across the Group in 1999. These savings
will come from the elimination of overlapping
costs from duplicated facilities, equipment and
office space as well as the Government’s
recommended cost cutting measures.

In many senses, we have come to regard
SembCorp Industries as work-in-progress.
There is no final structure to the Group, just
a process of continually recasting ourselves in
new forms to meet the challenges of the market
place and what our customers require of us.
It has been said that the ability to reorganise
a company to suit the needs of the time is in
itself a valuable core competence.

Economic Value-Added (EVA) is one area that

expect a full, Group-wide EVA system to be in
place within two years.

We have been through a trying year in 1998.
We want to thank the management and staff
for diligently bringing this merger to fruition.
We treasure the heritage we bring from both
these groups - but it will be as SembCorp
Industries that we will face the future and apply
ourselves to the task of helping to shape Asia. ■

With SembCorp Industries having stated its
business focus for the Group, we are now
working with each SBU to identify precisely
those activities they will engage in and those
they will not undertake. The direction is clear
– we want to focus, not diversify.
PHILIP YEO
Chairman

Looking to the Future
April 1999

We chose “Shaping Asia” as the theme for both
our merger and for our first Annual Report. This
theme embodies our aspiration of the kind of
organisation we aim to be.
The restructuring of SembCorp Industries is
not yet complete. As we divest our non-core
operations, we will need to acquire capabilities
to enhance the services we provide to our
customers. We expect more acquisitions
and strategic alliances to strengthen our Infrastructure, Marine Engineering and IT businesses.

WONG KOK SIEW
President/CEO
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who joined us from both STIC and Sembawang
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needs much effort and we have taken steps to
build an EVA management culture across all
our SBUs. We will use EVA not simply as a
measurement tool but also as a process to
improve our business performance and manage
capital deployment at all operating levels. We

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

1997
(proforma)

1998

S$’000

%

S$’000

%

Infrastructure
Engineering & Construction
Integrated Logistics

1,100,671
437,573

33
13

1,131,928
420,704

29
11

Building Materials
Industrial Parks
Others
Sub-Total

200,876
28,629
1,767,749

6
1
53

154,869
15,446
1,722,947

4
44

Marine Engineering

537,440

16

935,285

24

Information Technology
IT Services
Internet Services Provider
Sub-Total

376,152
44,583
420,735

11
2
13

479,237
59,092
538,329

12
2
14

Lifestyle
Food Processing & Distribution
Food Retailing
Travel & Retail
Others
Sub-Total

244,920
14,806
135,727
106,706
502,159

7
1
4
3
15

280,533
137,343
100,147
61,523
579,546

7
3
3
2
15

Others
(Properties, Financial Services)

63,208

3

115,609

3

Corporate

18,042

-

8,350

-

3,309,333

100

3,900,066

100

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES
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Turnover By Activity

TOTAL

1,767.8
1,722.9

Turnover By Activity

S$million

579.5

Infrastructure
Marine Engineering
Information Technology
Lifestyle
Others
Corporate

1997
1998

1997
1998

1997
1998

1997
1998

1997
1998

1997
1998

18.0
8.4

63.2
115.6

502.2

420.7

537.4

538.3

S$’million

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

935.3

1

1998 Total S$3,309.3
1997 Total S$3,900.0

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

1997
(proforma)
S$’000

1998
%

S$’000

24,550
53,619
5,991
10,250
6,092
100,502

12
26
3
5
3
49

42,890
53,029
5,956
7,111
(2,294)
106,692

20
25
3
3
(1)
50

Marine Engineering

29,817

15

99,012

46

Information Technology
IT Services
Internet Services Provider

21,924
(1,996)

11
(1)

17,108
16,317

8
8

Sub-Total

19,928

10

33,425

16

Lifestyle
Food Processing & Distribution
Food Retailing
Travel & Retail

19,282
3,147
200

9
2
-

25,470
9,024
5,656

12
4
3

Others
Sub-Total

5,182
27,811

3
14

(7,006)
33,144

(3)
16

Others
(Properties, Financial Services)

65,709

32

6,390

3

Corporate

(40,758)

(20)

(65,490)

(31)

TOTAL

203,009

100

213,173*

100

%

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES
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Profit Before Tax By Activity
Infrastructure
Engineering & Construction
Integrated Logistics
Building Materials
Industrial Parks
Others
Sub-Total

* Before Exceptional Item of S$(150) million.

Profit Before Tax By Activity

S$million
(Before Exceptional Item of S$(150) million taken in FY 1998)

27.8
33.1
1997
1998

1997
1998

1997
1998

6.4

19.9
1997
1998

1997
1998
Infrastructure
Marine Engineering

Lifestyle
Others

(40.7)

Information Technology

(65.4)

Corporate

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

33.4
1997
1998

29.8

S$’million

11

65.7

99.0

100.5
106.7

1998 Total S$213.2
1997 Total S$203.0

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

1997
(proforma)

1998

S$’000

%

S$’000

%

16,773
26,389
463
4,971
4,403
52,999

18
28
1
5
5
57

29,289
28,350
2,884
5,541
(3,544)
62,520

32
30
3
6
(4)
67

8,320

9

41,776

45

Information Technology
IT Services
Internet Services Provider
Sub-Total

8,401
(2,149)
6,252

9
(2)
7

6,090
11,398
17,488

7
12
19

Lifestyle
Food Processing & Distribution
Food Retailing
Travel & Retail
Others (Minting, Hotels & Resorts)
Sub-Total

12,108
1,421
(2,440)
5,750
16,839

13
2
(3)
6
18

16,150
5,271
1,867
531
23,819

17
6
2
1
26

38,641

42

(1,263)

(2)

(30,759)

(33)

(51,454)

(55)

92,292

100

92,886*

100
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Profit After Tax/Minority
Interests by Activity
Infrastructure
Engineering & Construction
Integrated Logistics
Building Materials
Industrial Parks
Others (Heavy Infrastructure, Energy)
Sub-Total
Marine Engineering

Others
(Properties, Financial Services)
Corporate
Total (Consolidated Group PATMI)
Shareholders’ Fund (S$ million)
Net Tangible Assets Per Share of
S$0.25 each (cents)
Net Earnings Per Share of
S$0.25 each (cents)
Capital Expenditure (S$million)
Investments
Fixed Assets
Total
* Before Exceptional Item of S$(150) million.
# With Exceptional Item of S$(150) million.

1,292.72

657.13#

80.87

40.11#

5.69

(3.78)#

723.4
400.3

133.4
214.5

1,123.7

347.9

Profit After Tax/Minority
Interests By Activity S$million
(Before Exceptional Item of S$(150) million taken in FY 1998)

Infrastructure
Marine Engineering

Lifestyle
Others

(30.7)

Information Technology

(51.4)

Corporate

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

1998

1997
1997
(1.3)

1997
1998

1997
1998

16.8

6.3
1997
1998

1997
1998

1997
1998

8.3

17.5

23.8

S$’million

13

38.6

41.8

53.0

62.5

1998 Total S$92.9
1997 Total S$92.3

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Registered Office
391A Orchard Road
#18-00 Ngee Ann City Tower A
Singapore 238873
Telephone: (65) 735 2222
Facsimile: (65) 735 2006
http://www.sembcorp.com.sg
Effective Date of Merger
October 3, 1998
Board of Directors
Philip Yeo Liat Kok
Chairman
Ms Ho Ching
Deputy Chairman
Peter Seah Lim Huat
Deputy Chairman
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Lua Cheng Eng
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Group Company Secretary
Ms Linda Hoon Siew Kin

Ms Linda Hoon Siew Kin
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Singapore 068808
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80 Raffles Place
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Singapore 048624
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Singapore 189556
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Deputy Director, Group Corporate
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Danny Ng Bun Lang
Head, Group Internal Audit
Ms Grace Quek Wei Lan
Senior Manager, Group Business Development
Line Management
Infrastructure
Paul Chain
President
SembCorp Construction
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President
SembCorp Engineering
Koh Soo Keong
President
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Wong Kok Siew
President/CEO
Tay Siew Choon
Managing Director/
Deputy CEO
Cheong Quee Wah
Executive Director
Executive Committee
Philip Yeo Liat Kok
Chairman
Sat Pal Khattar
Wong Kok Siew
Tay Siew Choon
Audit Committee
Peter Seah Lim Huat
Chairman
Lua Cheng Eng
K Shanmugam
Executive Resource Committee
Ms Ho Ching
Chairman

Overseas Union Bank Ltd
1 Raffles Place
OUB Centre
Singapore 048616
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Ltd
65 Chulia Street
OCBC Centre
Singapore 049513
Standard Chartered Bank
6 Battery Road
Singapore 049909
Auditor
KPMG
Certified Public Accountants
16 Raffles Quay
#22-00 Hong Leong Building
Singapore 048581

Loh Weng Whye
President
SembCorp Energy
Marine Engineering
Tan Kwi Kin
Group Managing Director
Jurong Shipyard
Heng Chiang Gnee
Managing Director
Sembawang Shipyard
Information Technology
Stephen Yeo Siew Chye
President/Chief Executive Officer
Singapore Computer Systems

Partner-in-Charge: Ng Boon Yew
Corporate Management
Wong Kok Siew
President/CEO
Tay Siew Choon
Managing Director/
Deputy CEO
Cheong Quee Wah
Executive Director

Peter Seah Lim Huat
Sat Pal Khattar

David Eaw Kok Hin
Director, Group Finance

Budget Committee
Sat Pal Khattar
Chairman

Swee Lay Sing
Executive Director, Regional Business
Japan

Wong Kok Siew

Yap Eu Win
Director, Group Human Resource

Tay Siew Choon

Goh Song How
President
Sembawang Resources
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Pacific Internet
Lifestyle
Peter Tay
Managing Director
Singapore Food Industries
Chan Wing Leong
Executive Chairman
Delifrance Asia
Ms Chong Phit Lian
Group General Manager
SAFE Enterprises
Group General Manager
Singapore Precision Industries

GROUP STRUCTURE

Core
Businesses

Core
Competencies

Strategic
Business Unit

INFRASTRUCTURE

Engineering

SembCorp Construction
SembCorp Engineering

Integrated Logistics

SembCorp Logistics

Building Materials

Sembawang Resources

Industrials Parks

SembCorp Parks
Management
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Energy

SembCorp Energy
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SembCorp Industries Group

MARINE
ENGINEERING

INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY

LIFESTYLE

Jurong Shipyard
Sembawang Shipyard

Information Technology

Singapore Computer
Systems

Internet Services Provider

Pacific Internet

Food Processing and
Distribution

Singapore Food Industries

Minting

Singapore Precision
Industries

# First level of core operating companies shown only.
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CORPORATE MANAGEMENT

Wong
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Tay Siew
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Managing
Director/
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Cheong
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Director

David Eaw
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Swee Lay
Sing
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Director,
Regional
Business
Japan
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Wei Lan
Senior
Manager,
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Linda Hoon
Siew Kin
Director,
Group Legal
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF 1998

December

September

SembCorp Industries announced the integration

Shareholders of both STIC and Sembawang gave
their approval for the merger of the two companies at their respective Court Meetings and
Extraordinary General Meetings.

of its two logistics units through the injection of
ST Logistics into listed Sembawang Marine &
Logistics (SML). The enlarged group which is
called SembCorp Logistics will focus on the
three main areas of supply chain management,
offshore logistics and marine services.

November
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Pacific Internet filed with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission a Registration Statement
on Form F-1 for an initial public offering of
2,500,000 ordinary shares of the company.
Singapore’s first central multi-utility complex,
SembCorp Utilities and Terminals (SUT), signed
a S$244 million syndicated loan agreement with
four banks for its first phase project development (SUT1) on Pulau Sakra.
SembCorp Industries reorganised its engineering
and construction units, namely Singapore
Technologies Construction (ST Construction)
and Sembawang Engineering and Construction
(SembEC). ST Construction was renamed
SembCorp Construction while SembEC changed
its name to SembCorp Engineering.
SembCorp Engineering secured a multi-million
dollar design and build contract to develop the
non-process facilities and utilities for Merck,
Sharp and Dohmes (Singapore)’s new bulk
manufacturing plant in Singapore.

October
ST Logistics won the award to manage the
logistics services for the GE group in Singapore.
The two-year logistics services agreement with
an optional one-year extension is estimated to
be worth above S$10 million.
STIC and Sembawang merged its Corporate
Headquarters and operated as one company
with effect from October 5, 1999.

August
Wong Kok Siew, President and CEO of
Sembawang and Chairman of STIC, assumed
chairmanship of the logistics subsidiaries of both
companies.

July
In-principle approval was granted by the Stock
Exchange of Singapore for the listing and quotation of shares in SembCorp Industries under the
proposed merger of STIC and Sembawang.
A consortium led by STIC and comprising
Mitsubishi Heavy Industries and Mitsubishi
Corporation won the tender to design and build
the Light Rapid Transit systems for Sengkang
and Punggol new towns. The contract awarded
was worth S$656 million.
His Royal Highness, The Prince of Wales officially opened the new £5 million factory of
Singapore Food Industries’ subsidiary, International Cuisine Limited, in Hownsgill Park,
Consett, United Kingdom.
Sembawang Engineering clinched a S$125.6
million contract to build Singapore Airport
Terminal Services’ third inflight kitchen.
Sembawang Gas and Indonesian state-owned
company, Pertamina, initialled a Gas Sales
Agreement for the sale and purchase of natural
gas from the West Natuna Sea in Indonesia to
Jurong Island in Singapore.

June

April

STIC and Sembawang announced their intention
to merge to create SembCorp Industries, one

ST Computer Systems, National Computer
Board and National Trade Union Congress

of Asia’s foremost integrated services groups,
focussing on four business areas - infrastructure,
marine engineering, information technology
and lifestyle.

signed a joint venture agreement to set up NTUC
Link. The company would operate the smart
card for the labour movement and it would be
managed by STCS.

ST Computer Systems won a S$2.2 million
project to implement the complete network

March

infrastructure for the new Overseas Union
Bank Tampines building.

contract from Jurong Town Corporation.
It won the contract out of a total of 10 bids
from Singapore and international construction
companies.

eastern seaboard of Thailand to position itself
as a leading supply base operator.
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ST Computer Systems signed a two-year contract
valued at S$1.3 million with Compaq Computer
Asia Pacific to manage Compaq’s Data Centre
operations on a round-the-clock basis.

Wong Kok Siew was appointed CEO of
Sembawang. He would eventually take up the
new position of President and CEO in SembCorp

Sembawang Media acquired at book value the
entire business undertaking and assets of Pacific

Industries, a proposed merged entity between
Sembawang and STIC.

Internet, a leading Internet service provider in
Singapore.

May

February

STIC acquired the entire shareholding in the
capital of ST Energy from Singapore Technolo-

Sembawang Marine & Logistics was awarded
a public licence for the provision of harbour

gies. With the acquisition, ST Energy became
a wholly-owned subsidiary of STIC.

towage services by the Maritime & Port
Authority of Singapore. ■

Sembawang Industrial, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sembawang, disposed 4,500,000 shares in
its associated company, First Capital Corporation. With the disposal, FCC ceased to be an
associated company of Sembawang.
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Oil Tex Thailand, a subsidiary of Sembawang
Marine & Logistics, expanded its offshore
logistics operations to the Sattahip Port in the

ST Construction clinched a S$207.3 million

•

Integrated Logistics

•

Building Materials

•

Industrial Parks

STRUCTURE
Growth in SembCorp Industries’ Infrastructure business was
largely driven by its engineering and construction activities.
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INFRASTRUCTURE

The Infrastructure business sector of SembCorp
Industries contributed about S$1.7 billion or 44
per cent to group turnover in FY 1998. Turnover
was 2.5 per cent lower compared to FY 1997
proforma turnover. Pre-tax profit however rose

multi-million design and build contract for the
non-process facilities and utilities for Merck,
Sharp and Dohmes’ US$300 million bulk manu-

6.2 per cent to S$106.7 million, resulting in a
PATMI increase of nearly 18 per cent to S$62.5
million.

While engineering, procurement and construction constituted the bulk of contributions from
the engineering activity, contributions from
build, own and operate (BOO) projects would

These BOO projects, which serve a host of
petrochemical and chemical companies on
Jurong Island, include :

improved profit margins and returns as well as
cost control measures.
The engineering activity contributed S$13.3
million to PATMI, compared to the S$5.9
million contribution in FY 1997. Major projects
completed during the year under review
included :
•

The US$70 million project of two wellhead
platforms for Maersk Oil Qatar for the Al
Shaheen field development project.

• The fast-track US$35 million engineering,
procurement and construction contract of a
gas compression module for Mossgas.
• The US$48 million engineering, procurement
and construction of 60,000 MTPA capacity
multi-product complex.
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SembCorp Industries’ engineering and construction units performed well in FY 1998, improving
PATMI by 74.6 per cent to S$29.3 million on the
back of a mere 2.8 per cent growth in turnover.
The better performance was due largely to

provide a steady stream of income for the Group
from FY 1999 onwards.

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES
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facturing plant in Singapore.

• SembCorp Utilities and Terminals (SUT)
which has already secured 11 off-take
agreements for a duration of 15 years.
FY 1999 would mark full commercial
operations for SUT.

• A S$92 million contract in collaboration with
German partners for upgrading works on the
Ulu Pandan Sewage Treatment Works.

• SembCorp Air Products which has signed a
15-year contract to supply syngas and

There were also new prestigious contracts
secured during the year, such as the US$11
million dollar Mobil project in Vietnam and a

• A wholly-owned propylene purification unit.

hydrogen to Eastman.

INFRASTRUCTURE
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1998 marked the Group’s construction business’ penetration into the transportation
sector with successful bids for the mass
rapid transit and light rail transit projects.
Following the success of SUT, construction of a
second utilities complex on Pulau Seraya (part of
the Jurong Island reclamation project) would

SembCorp Industries’ construction business saw
a 46 per cent rise in PATMI contribution,
corresponding to a 31.9 per cent rise in turnover.

begin in FY 1999. Apart from expanding the
utilities services currently provided by SUT, SUT
Seraya would also feature a high-grade industrial
water treatment facility and a chemical waste
incineration facility. SUT Seraya would be ready
in 2000.

The result was achieved despite lower overseas
revenue due to delays, deferment or cancellation
of projects as a result of the Asian economic
crisis. However measures taken to reduce and
contain costs, conserve cash, reduce capital
expenditure and investments as well as improve

Work on SembCorp Cogen’s 800MW co-generation plant would start in 1999. A 40 per centowned joint venture with Tractebel (30 per cent),
EDB Investments (20 per cent) and JTC International (10 per cent), the plant would begin to
supply electricity and steam in 2001.
Coming onstream in 2001 as well would be the
natural gas project undertaken by 50 per centowned SembCorp Gas. The landmark agreement with Pertamina for the sale and purchase
of natural gas piped from the West Natuna Sea
in Indonesia to Jurong Island in Singapore was
the most significant development for the year
under review. The agreement was first initialled
in July 1998 and was concluded in January
1999. Under the 22-year arrangement, 325
million standard cubic feet per day of gas would
arrive in Singapore via a 640 km undersea
pipeline.

debt collection helped lessen the impact of the
regional malaise.
The year 1998 marked the Group’s construction
business’ penetration into the transportation
sector with successful bids for the mass rapid
transit (MRT) and light rail transit (LRT)
projects. The design and build contract for the
Sengkang and Punggol LRT projects was worth
S$655.7 million, of which S$340 million would
be the Group’s share of the contract. The Group
is leading a consortium comprising Mitsubishi
Corporation and Mitsubishi Heavy Industries
for the LRT project. As for the S$204.5 million
construction contract for the Changi Airport
MRT project, the Group has formed a 50:50
joint venture with Kumagai Gumi.

Other major contracts, both local and overseas,
which were secured in FY 1998 included:
• Stack-up factories for Jurong Town
Corporation.
• An inflight catering centre for
Singapore Airport Terminal Services.
• A construction management contract for a
residential cum commercial complex called
The Exchange, in Tianjin, China.

• A construction management project for the
Nokia Telecommunications Base Station
Facility in Suzhou.
To add to the accolades that the construction
unit has already achieved were two Construction
Excellence Awards given by the Construction
Industry Development Board (CIDB) for the
Changi Airport Terminal 2 extension project and
a factory development. In addition, the design
arm won two CIDB Best Buildable Design
Awards for the industrial building category.
As at end-March 1999, the combined order
book for the engineering and construction
business stood at about S$1.8 billion. Of this
amount, construction projects comprised some
S$1.2 billion.
In the year under review, the Group re-organised
its construction and engineering units, namely
Singapore Technologies Construction (STC) and
Sembawang Engineering and Construction
(SembEC). The result of the re-organisation was
the formation of SembCorp Construction - made
up of STC and the building and civil division of
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printed circuit board manufacturing plant
located in China-Singapore Suzhou
Industrial Park.
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• A turnkey design and build project for a

INFRASTRUCTURE

SembEC. The enlarged construction unit is now
the largest building and civil construction
company in the Asean region.
Concurrently, SembEC was renamed SembCorp
Engineering with its focus on plant engineering
and construction for the chemical, petrochemi-
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cal, power, and oil and gas industries as well as
the development of industrial facilities.
The rationale for the re-organisation was to
integrate resources and expertise to further
improve competitiveness and efficiency.

Integrated Logistics
The logistics and transportation business of
SembCorp Industries was identified for reorganisation as well. Similar to the integration
of the engineering and construction business, the
strategy behind the merger of the two individual
logistics businesses was to create a business unit
of sufficient size to become a dominant industry
force in Asia. That strategy was fulfilled
through the injection of supply chain management specialist, Singapore Technologies Logistics
(STL), into listed Sembawang Marine & Logistics (SML).
Minority shareholders of SML gave their approval in March 1999 for purchase of the entire
shareholding of STL from STIC for a consideration of S$126 million. The sale was satisfied by
an issue of 73,987,081 new ordinary shares of
S$1 each in the capital of SML, representing
42.46 per cent of the enlarged issued share
capital of SML. As a result of the transaction,
SembCorp Industries (through subsidiary,
Sembawang Corporation) which used to own
57.17 per cent of shareholding in SML now
holds 75.34 per cent of the enlarged issued share
capital of SML.

To reflect the shift towards a stronger focus on
the logistics business - supply chain management
has been identified as the main driver of growth
for the new logistics group - SML’s name was
changed to SembCorp Logistics (SCL). SCL’s
main areas of businesss would encompass supply
chain management, offshore logistics and marine
services. SCL would begin to operate as one
business unit in FY 1999.
For FY 1998, the Group’s logistics business as a
whole generated sales of S$420.7 million, PBT of
S$53 million and PATMI of S$28.4 million
respectively. The post-tax profit was a slight 7.4
per cent improvement over that of proforma FY
1997.
Listed SML’s PATMI contribution declined by
4.2 per cent for a number of reasons. Losses
were incurred by the ferry operations in the Riau
islands which were severely affected by the
devaluation of the Indonesian Rupiah. The ferry
business in the Philippines also suffered as a
result of the regional economic crunch. Steps
were being taken to wind the Philippine ferry
business down.

A loss of S$1 million before tax and interest was
incurred by the shipyard operations which
experienced a decline in demand for repair of
smaller vessels. Lower earnings were recorded
from an associated company in the shipping
business due to the world-wide decline in the
market for bulk carriers. In addition, provisions
for regional exposure resulted in lower contributions from associates.
A review of operations was carried out as part of
SembCorp Industries’ direction to focus on core
businesses and exit the non-core areas. In the
case of SML, ferry and cruise, shipping and
shipyard operations were slated for divestment.
As a consequence, write-downs amounting to
S$47.7 million (SembCorp Industries’ share)
were taken in FY 1998 as extraordinary items.
The write-downs pertained to the diminished
value of investments in the cruise and ferry
business and estimated diminution in value of
shipping-related investments, as well as for a
financial services company. An extraordinary
gain of S$3 million was made from the sale of
SML’s stake in North China Port Consortium as
part of the divestment programme.
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The strategy behind the merger of the two
individual logistics businesses was to create
a business unit of sufficient size to become a
dominant industry force in Asia.

INFRASTRUCTURE

Bright spots in SML’s business during the year
were:

Other major contracts won were :
• A five-year contract was awarded to the

• The offshore logistics business that saw a
higher demand for its services at the local
offshore base despite slower oil exploration
activities, and improved contributions from
regional offshore bases.
• The salvage division for which steady profits
were derived from long-term charter of
offshore support vessels, floating storage
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barge and coastal product tankers.

integrated logistics division by Freeport
Indonesia, the largest copper and gold mining
concern in Indonesia, to provide logistics
support for its mines in Irian Jaya. The
contract was estimated at S$2 million per
year.
• A five-year contract, worth about US$8.8
million, with Thaipo for the use of warehouse,
open storage and office space at the Sattahip
port in Thailand and for the provision of
wharf and logistics services.
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• A 10-year contract to provide petrochemical
logistics support, such as packaging, storage
and distribution, to Bayer Polymers
(Thailand). The contract with Katoen Natie
Sembawang Industrial Services was estimated
at about US$1.4 million annually.
Higher sales lifted turnover and profit contributions to the Group by STL. PATMI contribution
rose 26 per cent to S$12.8 million from S$10.1
million in FY 1997 as a result of successful cost
cutting measures.

• The sale of two vessels with a gain of S$18.1
million as part of the fleet rationalisation
programme.

The Asian economic crisis did little to dampen
the business prospects for STL in the year under
review. Instead, the situation yielded several
opportunities when multinational corporations
(MNCs) began to outsource their logistics needs

• Increased demand for harbour tug services as
well as long-term charter of vessels.

and to focus on their core businesses. STL fitted
the profile of a strong and reliable partner whom
MNCs could work for long-term benefits.

During the year, SML and 50 per cent-owned
Jurong Marine Services were each issued a 30year public licence by the Maritime & Port
Authority of Singapore to provide towage
services to vessels within the limits of the port
and approaches to the port. The harbour tug
division had also begun to make inroads into the
Persian Gulf.

The GE group for instance awarded STL a twoyear contract with an optional one-year extension to manage its entire logistics needs in
Singapore. The intention is to expand on that
relationship to work together on a regional scale.
Other new long-term contracts awarded in
FY 1998 included Beckton Dickinson and
Intra-Motors.

During the year, STL launched a novel logistics
solution for Singapore’s National Library with
the patent-pending Electronic Library Management System. Through harnessing technology -

New initiatives would also be launched to take
advantage of the pervading influence of the
Internet and e-commerce. An on-line car auction
system - a joint project with sister company,
Singapore Computer Systems, as well as
Japanese partners - is already in operation.

Building Materials
The building materials activity experienced
difficult conditions in 1998. Although the
business managed to maintain its market share
and performed well in volume terms, turnover
was lower compared to the previous year due to
lower selling prices in the Singapore market and
to poorer contributions from regional
subsidiaries.
The business registered a decline of 22.9 per cent
in turnover contribution to S$154.9 million,
while PBT was relatively flat at S$6 million. The
contribution at PATMI level was S$2.9 million.
The unit expanded its business in China by
taking a 28 per cent stake in a Shenzhen company that manufactures ready-mixed concrete,
cement and other concrete-related products.
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network. Already a strong presence in China
and Thailand, the Group would focus its efforts
on enhancing its India network as well as set up
networks in the Philippines, Malaysia and
Vietnam.
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such as radio frequency identification (RFID) STL has been able to provide creative solutions
to customers and to increase productivity and
effectiveness in the logistics operations.
For the coming years, the Group would continue
to build upon its Asia-wide logistics and IT

INFRASTRUCTURE

Industrial Parks
With the merger of STIC and Sembawang in
October 1998, the Group is acknowledged as
Asia’s leading industrial park developer and
manager. As a business, SembCorp Industries’
five industrial parks, located in Riau Indonesia,
China and Vietnam, contributed S$5.5 million to
Group PATMI in FY 1998. The figure was 11.5
per cent higher than the contribution registered
for the previous financial year on a proforma
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basis.
Batamindo Industrial Park (BIP) continued to be
the key contributor, providing a PATMI of
S$12.4 million to SembCorp Industries. This
was 16.6 per cent more than its contribution in
FY 1997. The improvement in profit levels was
registered despite a fall in revenue. The lower
revenue was attributable to lower factory sales one unit of custom-built factory was sold in FY
1998 compared to four factories sold in the
previous financial year. The shortfall in factory
sales was however compensated by cost savings
and improved operational efficiencies. The
depreciating Rupiah also lowered the costs of
generation and other operating expenses significantly. Hence, the higher PATMI contribution.

While political, economic and social problems in
Indonesia continued to affect the investment
climate in the industrial park, BIP nevertheless
managed to draw three new companies, including its first Australian tenant, Go Medical. The
tenant list at BIP reached 90 by end-1998. In
addition, BIP’s development company secured a
S$5.8 million design and build contract from
Rubycon.
To enhance the attractiveness of BIP to investors,
a joint venture was set up with SOXAL to
supply industrial gases to the tenants of the park.
BIP also received its ISO 1401 certification in
February 1998, thereby becoming the first
integrated industrial park in Asia Pacific to have
achieved standards on environmental management.
As in FY 1997, Bintan Industrial Estate (BIE)
made a small loss in FY 1998. The result was an
impact of S$0.7 million loss to SembCorp
Industries’ PATMI. In FY 1997, BIE’s loss took
the Group’s PATMI down by S$0.6 million.
Higher revenue for rental of factories, cost
cutting measures and savings on purchases as a
result of the weaker Rupiah helped improve the

With the merger of STIC and Sembawang in
October 1998, the Group is acknowledged
as Asia’s leading industrial park developer
and manager.

SembCorp Industries’ third industrial park in
Riau Indonesia, Karimun Marine & Industrial
Complex (KMIC), incurred a smaller loss in FY
1998 - S$(0.5) million impact to the Group
compared to FY 1997’s impact of S$(0.8)
million.

WSIP. The new and additional investments in
FY 1998 totalled US$197 million. While prospects were not likely to improve in the coming
year, stringent cost control and cost-cutting
measures had been introduced. The park’s
expansion plans had also been rescheduled.

Other Infrastructure Activities
The Group’s investments into heavy infrastructure and energy projects recorded PATMI
contribution of S$(3.5) million compared to

Prospects for the Group’s Indonesian industrial
parks in FY 1999 remained at best, cautious,
particularly with the impending general elections
in the country. Potential clients were withholding their investment plans pending the outcome
of the political situation. But the longer term
outlook continued to be optimistic for both BIP
and BIE. As for KMIC, plans were afoot to
expand the target industries beyond shipyards
and marine-related operations.
A lower take-up rate was also the problem faced
by the Group’s industrial parks in Vietnam and
Wuxi. The Vietnam-Singapore Industrial Park
(VSIP) turned in a slight loss in FY 1998. The
impact to the Group’s PATMI was S$(0.6)
million, whereas in FY 1997, the contribution
was S$(0.5) million. Nonetheless, VSIP managed to record 11 new investments worth some
US$85 million during the year. Of this number,
two were expansions on existing operations.
The Wuxi-Singapore Industrial Park (WSIP)
faced another difficult year, hit by low factory
and land sales as well as weak demand for
factory leasing. Furthermore, pressures on
pricing also affected revenue earned. The net
effect was a S$(5.3) million impact on the
Group’s PATMI.
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1998. Among them were, electronics, and
plastics parts and garment manufacturers.
The number of confirmed tenants in the estate
stood at 33 at the close of 1998.

Five new tenants signed up and seven existing
ones committed additional investments into the
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earnings profile of the estate. And despite the
problems dogging Indonesia, BIE, situated just
an hour’s ferry ride from Singapore and far
removed from the troubled spots in Indonesia,
managed to draw a total of nine new tenants in

S$4.4 million in FY 1997. Part of the loss was
for expenses incurred on the Tuas Power project.
(The Tuas Power tender was subsequently called
off by Temasek Holdings). And about S$2.6
million was the Group’s share of a one-time loss
incurred by Cathay International. That was
largely attributable to two factors - the rise in
interest costs arising from a timing mismatch
between the receipt of bond proceeds and
investments in projects, as well as changes to
accounting provisions. ■

•

Shipbuilding

•

Specialised Ship Conversion

•

Rigs and offshore platforms

NEERING
The Marine Engineering sector had a sterling year, registering
record earnings in FY 1998.
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Shiprepair
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•

MARINE ENGINEERING

In FY 1998, the business provided for 24 per
cent of Group turnover, 46.4 per cent of pre-tax
profit and 45 per cent of PATMI.
The significantly higher contribution from
Marine Engineering was due largely to the
incorporation of full-year results of Jurong
Shipyard (JSL) in FY 1998. In FY 1997, only
five months of JSL’s earnings were accounted for,
following the completion of the merger with
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Sembawang Shipyard and the shipyards in
Bohai, China and Karimun, Indonesia.
Turnover contribution rose 74 per cent to
S$935.3 million. Profit before tax contribution
reached S$99 million, while contribution to
PATMI was S$41.8 million. In FY 1997, contributions to PBT and PATMI were S$29.8 million
and S$8.3 million respectively.
The higher offshore and shipbuilding base load,
the stronger US dollar against the Singapore
dollar, US dollar denominated contracts in
offshore upgrading works and shipbuilding
contracts, as well as share of profits from associated companies which rose by S$3.3 million,
helped achieve the good results.
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MARINE ENGINEERING
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The Asian economic crisis did not have any
significant impact on the Marine Engineering
business as nearly all its customers were from
outside the Asean region.

Ship repairs composed the largest proportion, at
54 per cent, of turnover. Offshore upgrading
works and ship conversion activities contributed
18 per cent, while shipbuilding made up 16 per
cent of turnover.
A total of 428 ships were repaired compared to
326 in FY 1997. Six ships were completed and
delivered in FY 1998. They included three 831
TEU container ships, two bulk carriers of 37,000
dwt and one product tanker at 30,000 dwt. The
‘Ta’kuntah” - an Ultra Large Crude Carrier
(ULCC) converted from a tanker to a Floating
Storage Offloading (FSO) facility - was completed in a record time of 11 months.

Lines. The agreement covered the docking,
repairs, conversion and upgrading of vessels
operated and managed by NSSPL.
Sembawang Shipyard on the other hand signed
an evergreen alliance agreement with Shell
International Trading and Shipping, UK, and
renewed term contracts with Tschudi & Eitzen
Ship Management and JO Tankers from Norway, and BHP Transport Ship Management
Services.
Sembawang Shipyard celebrated its 30th anniversary on December 1, 1998. Singapore’s
Senior Minister Mr Lee Kuan Yew was guest-ofhonour at the celebrations. A special book to

Several major contracts were won in 1998. They
included a number of conversion projects such as
a tanker conversion to an FSO, a tanker to a

commemorate the special milestone was also
launched.

Floating Production Storage Offloading (FPSO)
facility, an accommodation barge to a floating
production unit (FPU), and an FPSO conversion

The Asian economic crisis did not have any
significant impact on the Marine Engineering
business as nearly all its customers were from

for Proster II. In addition, two projects involving upgrading of semi-submersibles for deep
water drilling and a major damage repair on the
passenger ship, “Kerinci”, were secured.

outside the Asean region. Outlook for the
business in FY 1999 remained bright and the
good results achieved in FY 1998 were expected
to be repeated or even improved upon in FY
1999. The confidence stemmed from the base
load of projects that had already been secured. ■

JSL struck a strategic alliance with Neptune
Shipmanagement Services (NSSPL), the ship
management subsidiary of Neptune Orient
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•

Internet Services Provider

AT I O N
NOLOGY
SembCorp Industries’ Information Technology business
performed well in FY 1998, due largely to contributions from
the Group’s Internet Services Provider.
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Information Technology Services
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

SembCorp Industries’ Information Technology
business contributed S$17.5 million to Group
PATMI, a massive 179.7 per cent rise from FY
1997 (proforma). The vast increase in PATMI
was achieved against a 67.7 per cent rise in pretax profit and 27.9 per cent increase in turnover
contributions. The better results were due largely
to the Group’s internet services provider which
turned in a substiantial profit in the year under
review.

by Singapore Computer Systems (SCS), posted a
27.4 per cent growth in turnover contribution.
The consolidation of results of CSN Networks
which was acquired in FY 1998 and higher sales
from operations in Malaysia, Greater China,
New Zealand and Singapore boosted turnover.
As in previous years, the Singapore market
accounted for two-thirds of revenue earned.
New Zealand accounted for 18 per cent, Malaysia for 10 per cent, Greater China at five per cent
and Brunei, one per cent. CSN Networks
contributed S$54 million sales to the IT services
business.
PATMI however fell due mainly to the adoption
of a more conservative accounting policy for
general provisions, resulting in additional aftertax provision of S$1.5 million for inventory,
S$1.8 million for debtors and S$0.7 million for
depreciation. The net effect was a fall of 27.5
per cent in PATMI contribution to S$6 million
from S$8.4 million in FY 1997. Profit before
tax contribution was 22 per cent lower at S$17.1
million from the previous year’s S$21.9 million.
Had it not been for a change in the accounting
policy, SCS’ post-tax profit would have increased
by 2.9 per cent over FY 1997’s post-tax profit.
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The IT services business, primarily undertaken
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Information Technology Services

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

Some of the significant projects for the year
included :
• A S$14 million logistics management
information system.
• National Computer Board’s tender to provide
personal computers, notebooks, servers and
network.

• S$2.2 million network infrastructure project

The former involved a 30 per cent-owned joint
venture with the National Trades Union Congress and National Computer Board to promote
the widespread use of smart cards in Singapore,
including Internet transactions. As a joint
venture partner, SCS would provide the technical
expertise and knowledge to develop, operate and
act as the technology partner of NTUC Link.
More than 500,000 NTUC Link cards would
eventually be issued to all union members and
members of NTUC-affiliated co-operatives.
The regional e-commerce centre was set up with
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• A two-year contract valued at S$1.3 million to
manage Compaq’s data centre operations on
a round-the-clock basis.

To expand on its role in the promotion of ecommerce, SCS launched new initiatives such as
NTUC Link and a regional e-commerce centre.

GE Information Services, with the aim of building a critical mass of e-commerce expertise in
consulting, service support, marketing and sales
and community building. Such a business would
position Singapore as the e-commerce hub for
South East Asia, and in the process, enhance the
country’s position to tap into the global ecommerce market which was estimated to reach
US$300 billion in 2000.

Internet Services Provider

for Overseas Union Bank (OUB) for the new
OUB Tampines Building.
• US$37 million Philippines social security
system project.
• S$1.6 million broadband multimedia metropolitan area network for the Beijing Science
& Technology Institute.

SembCorp Industries’ internet services provider
(ISP) company, Pacific Internet (PI), applied for
registration to be listed on NASDAQ in 1998
and was subsequently listed on February 5,
1999.
The listing on NASDAQ capped a particularly
fruitful year for the company. PI turned in
record earnings - contributing S$11.4 million to
the Group’s PATMI. In FY 1997, it made a
negative contribution of S$2.1 million.
The main reason for the high earnings growth
was an increase in turnover due to a higher dial-

up subscribers’ base in 1998 compared to 1997.
In 1998, the subscriber base reached 170,145,
while in 1997, the number of subscribers was
96,290. On a regional basis, the subscriber base
was about 204,000 in 1998. An expanded
product range and aggressive marketing campaign drove subscriber base up. In addition, cost
savings were achieved from the closure of gameson-line division and cafe operations. The
exclusion of the financial results of non-core
companies also boosted PI’s earnings contribution.
In late 1997, PI, in a strategy to focus on its ISP
business and be the premier ISP in the AsiaPacific region, transferred its interests in other
loosely-connected Internet-related companies to
Sembawang Ventures.
During the year, the ISP business expanded into
the Philippines ISP market through the acquisition of 40 per cent stake in Primeworld Digital
Systems. And to position itself as a strong
contender for the corporate market, the company formed an alliance to provide Virtual
Private Network (VPN) solutions as a viable
alternative to International Leased Circuit. This
new Internet technology would allow corporate

customers to increase their bandwidth usage.
A new Enterprise Mail Service was also launched
which enabled companies with 100 or more staff
to outsource their Internet mail services to PI
with the inclusion of Light-weight Directory
Access Protocol (LDAP) services.
While FY 1998 was a year of high growth,
heightened competition from other ISPs in the
Singapore market would affect prospects for FY
1999. PI would continue to grow through
regional expansion from its initial public offering
proceeds as part of its strategy to defend its
home market. In FY 1999, the company would
widen its regional coverage to Australia and
India. ■
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SembCorp Industries’ internet services provider (ISP) company, Pacific Internet (PI),
applied for registration to be listed on
NASDAQ in 1998 and was subsequently
listed on February 5, 1999.

•

Food Retailing

•

Travel & Retail

•

Other Lifestyle Activities

STYLE
The complexion of the Lifestyle sector would change drastically in FY 1999 given the Group’s intention to focus on its
core businesses and rationalise non-core areas, the bulk of
which fall under the Lifestyle sector.
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Food Processing & Distribution
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•

LIFESTYLE

As a business sector, SembCorp Industries’
collection of Lifestyle activities posted gains
despite the regional economic crisis. Turnover
grew 15.4 per cent to reach S$579.5 million
compared to S$502.2 million in FY 1997.
Correspondingly, pre-tax profit grew 19.2 per
cent to S$33.1 million. PATMI growth was even
higher at 41.5 per cent to close the year with
S$23.8 million.
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Food Processing and Distribution
The food processing and distribution activity,
identified as a core business to SembCorp
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Industries, recorded higher profits for FY 1998.
Pre-tax profit contribution rose 32.1 per cent to
S$25.5 million and correspondingly, contribution to PATMI was an increase of 33.4 per cent
to S$16.2 million. Turnover was 14.5 per cent
higher at S$280.5 million compared to S$244.9
million in FY 1997.
The higher turnover was achieved by the Singapore operations, Singapore Food Industries (SFI),
as well as from its UK subsidiary, International
Cuisine. Better sales were also recorded by the
start-up subsidiaries in China. The significantly
higher increase in pre-tax profits was due to
higher sales volume from operations with higher
value-add. The result was higher gross margins
that translated into higher returns on sales.
The Singapore operations for instance, continued
in its efforts to develop new products under the
Farmpride house brand as well as for customers’
labels. Investments were also made in packing
equipment and materials to improve the shelf life
and presentation of tray-pack meat products for
supermarkets.
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As part of its rationalisation programme,
SembCorp Industries wrote down and made
provisions for its non-core assets in hotels
and resorts to the tune of S$56.9 million.
The official opening of the new £5million readymeal factory in UK on July 2, 1998 by HRH The
Prince of Wales marked a new chapter for SFI

economic downturn and a further strengthening
of the US dollar would affect growth prospects.
Currently, some 20 per cent of SFI’s purchases

and its subsidiary. The new facilities made it
possible for the shift to higher value-added
product mix which in turn, provided opportunities for penetration into the more up-market
retail market in the UK as well as increase the
export potential of the products to other European markets.

are in US currency.

The Asian economic crisis did not have much
impact on the Singapore operations although the
commercial sector met with slower sales uptake
as consumers became more price sensitive and
cost conscious. Apart from a small distribution

The recent ban on import of live pigs into
Singapore because of a viral outbreak that has
crippled the pig industry in Malaysia would also
have an impact on SFI’s earnings in FY 1999.
To manage risks and stay competitive, the best
route available would be a prudent policy on
inventory, debtors’ collection and control,
operational efficiency, financial management,
fast response to price and market changes and a
proactive search for cheaper source of supplies.

operation in Myanmar, the Group did not own
any operations in countries badly affected by the
crisis. The overseas subsidiaries in UK and
Australia were relatively buffered from the crisis
affecting the regional economies. And stability
in the RMB in 1998 also helped the China

Such a strategy worked to SFI’s benefit in FY
1998.

operations.

The food retailing business contributed S$5.3
million to Group PATMI in FY 1998, compared
to S$1.4 million in the previous financial year.
Except for a change in the financial reporting
year to follow the calendar year, the business had
actually shrunk some 30 per cent when a com-

While the food processing and distribution
business turned in a good set of financial results
in FY 1998, the 1999 financial year would be
approached with caution. A worsening of the

Food Retailing

parison was made between calendar years 1998
and 1997.

In effect, Delifrance’s PATMI for January 1 to
December 31, 1998 dropped to S$6.9 million
compared to S$10 million that was recorded in
the corresponding period of the previous year.
The decline was due largely to the economic
crunch and intense retail competition. Plans
were underway to divest the Group’s majority
stake in the business.

S$(2.4) million. Stringent cost control measures
as well as rationalisation of non-performing
associates were the main factors for the better
results.

Other Lifestyle Activities
The minting business generated a turnover that
was some 41 per cent lower than FY 1997.
Turnover recorded for FY 1998 was S$51.1
million. PATMI contribution to the Group was
similarly affected - S$4.4 million as opposed to
FY 1997’s contribution of S$7.2 million.
As part of its rationalisation programme,
SembCorp Industries wrote down and made
provisions for its non-core assets in hotels and
resorts to the tune of S$56.9 million. The writedowns were taken as extraordinary items in the
1998 financial accounts. ■
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Despite a bleak retail market, SembCorp Industries’ travel and retail business improved on its
financial performance, chalking up a PATMI
contribution of S$1.9 million. The previous
year’s PATMI contribution to the Group was
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Travel and Retail
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Infrastructure
Engineering & Construction
SembCorp Construction Pte Ltd
60 Admiralty Road West
#03-00 Sembawang Building
Singapore 759947

Energy
SembCorp Energy Pte Ltd
300 Beach Road
#10-05/06 The Concourse
Singapore 199555

Tel: (65) 754 6678
Fax: (65) 758 9891

Tel: (65) 295 9210
Fax: (65) 296 6131

SembCorp Engineering Pte Ltd
60 Admiralty Road West
#02-00 Sembawang Building

Marine Engineering

Singapore 759947
Tel: (65) 752 2222
Fax: (65) 758 6852
SembCorp Utilities & Terminals Pte Ltd
51 Sakra Avenue
Singapore 627894
Tel: (65) 266 0416
Fax: (65) 661 6526
Integrated Logistics
SembCorp Logistics Ltd
5 Clementi Loop
ST Logistics Centre
Singapore 129816
Tel: (65) 462 2288
Fax: (65) 462 8890
Building Materials
Sembawang Resources Ltd
3 Lim Teck Kim Road
#10-02 Singapore Technologies Building
Singapore 088934
Tel: (65) 227 2268
Fax: (65) 227 7229
Industrial Parks
SembCorp Parks Management Pte Ltd
3 Lim Teck Kim Road
#12-01 Singapore Technologies Building
Singapore 088934
Tel: (65) 221 5374
Fax: (65) 221 1994

Jurong Shipyard Limited
29 Tanjong Kling Road
Singapore 628054
Tel: (65) 265 1766
Fax: (65) 261 0738
Sembawang Shipyard Pte Ltd
Admiralty Road West
Singapore 759956
Tel: (65) 752 2222
Fax: (65) 758 1025

Information Technology
IT Services
Singapore Computer Systems Limited
7 Bedok South Road
Singapore 469272
Tel: (65) 441 2688
Fax: (65) 441 2811
Internet Services Provider
Pacific Internet Ltd
77 Science Park Drive
#04-09/14 Cintech III
Singapore 118256
Tel: (65) 872 0622
Fax: (65) 872 6334

Food Processing & Distribution

Hotels & Resorts

Singapore Food Industries (Pte) Limited
234 Pandan Loop
Singapore 128422
Tel: (65) 778 4466
Fax: (65) 778 4238

Sembawang Leisure Private Limited
3 Lim Teck Kim Road
#10-02 Singapore Technologies Building
Singapore 088934
Tel: (65) 227 2268
Fax: (65) 372 0415

Food Retailing
Delifrance Asia Ltd
350 Orchard Road
#15-08/10 Shaw House
Singapore 238868
Tel: (65) 735 7488
Fax: (65) 735 7787

Bintan Resort Management Pte Ltd
1 Temasek Avenue
#03-01 Millenia Tower
Singapore 039192
Tel: (65) 339 1368

Travel & Retail
SAFE Enterprises Pte Ltd
190 MacPherson Road
#02-00 Wisma Gulab
Singapore 348548

SAFE Bintan Resort Ltd
3 Lim Teck Kim Road
#08-02 Singapore Technologies Building
Singapore 088934
Tel: (65) 226 3122

Tel: (65) 748 4333
Fax: (65) 747 6776

Fax: (65) 223 0693
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Lifestyle

Minting
Singapore Precision Industries Pte Ltd
20 Teban Gardens Crescent
Singapore 608928
Tel: (65) 566 2626
Fax: (65) 565 2626 ■
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the period ended 31 December 1998
We, the undersigned directors, on behalf of all the directors of the Company, submit this annual
report to the members together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the
Company for the financial period ended 31 December 1998.
Directorate

(Appointed on 29 July 1998)
(Appointed on 29 July 1998)
(Appointed on 29 July 1998)
(Appointed on 29 July 1998)
(Appointed on 29 July 1998)
(Appointed on 29 July 1998)
(Appointed on 1 December 1998)
(Appointed on 30 March 1999)
(Appointed on 23 June 1998)
(Appointed on 23 June 1998)
(Appointed on 23 June 1998)

Incorporation
The Company was incorporated on 20 May 1998 as a public limited company.
Listing of the Company
The shares of the Company were admitted to the official list of the Stock Exchange of Singapore
Limited on 5 October 1998.
Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Company during the financial period are those of an investment holding company, as well as a corporate headquarters which gives direction, provides management
services, integrates the activities of its subsidiaries and undertakes engineering and technology related
businesses.
The Group is involved in four core business areas, namely, infrastructure, marine engineering, information technology and lifestyle. Organised under these four business areas are the following core
activities:
Infrastructure
Engineering and Construction
This business is engaged in turnkey construction, design consultancy, infrastructure development and
project management. It is also involved in the plant engineering design and construction of facilities
for the oil and gas, petrochemical and power industries. It invests in utilities centres and is the
provider of utilities and terminalling services on Jurong Island.
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Philip Yeo Liat Kok
Ho Ching
Peter Seah Lim Huat
Sat Pal Khattar
Lua Cheng Eng
K Shanmugam
Lam Chuan Leong
Tetsuro Kawakami
Wong Kok Siew
Tay Siew Choon
Cheong Quee Wah
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The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:–
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Integrated Logistics
It provides one-stop logistics management services, parts and components management, automated
warehouse operations, preservation and packaging technologies, and hazardous goods management.
The business operates offshore supply bases in Singapore, China and Thailand to support the growing offshore drilling and development activities of the oil and gas industry in Asia. It is also involved
in salvage and towage activities and provides ferry and shipping services.
Building Materials
It is engaged in the quarrying of granite and the manufacturing of ready-mixed concrete, asphalt
premix, graded stones and cement.
Industrial Parks
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It invests, owns, operates and manages five industrial parks in Riau Indonesia, China and Vietnam.
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Marine Engineering
This business area focuses principally on ship repair, shipbuilding, specialised ship conversions and
offshore structures.
Information Technology
IT Services
Services provided include computer and IT software, systems design and engineering, systems integration, computer disaster recovery, and the maintenance and distribution of software and computer
related products.
Internet Services Provider
It provides internet access and related on-line services.
Lifestyle
Food Processing and Distribution
The business is involved in food importing, wholesale and retail distribution, processsing and manufacture of food products, institutional catering, provision of abattoir and hog auctioning services.
Food Retailing
It owns and operates a cafè-bakery chain.
Travel and Retail
The activities relate to services in the retail of consumer durables, corporate ticketing and travel and
tours organisation.
Minting and Others
The minting business covers design and minting of circulation coins, production of commemorative
issues, and sale of numismatic items. Other lifestyle-related activities include investment into and
management of hotels and resorts.

Directors’ Report (cont’d)

There have been no significant changes in the principal activities of the Company and the Group
during the financial period.

Acquisitions and Disposals of Interests in Subsidiaries
During the financial period, the Company acquired the whole of the issued and paid up share capital
of the following companies (“Scheme Companies”) pursuant to a scheme of arrangement under
Section 210 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (“Scheme of Arrangement”):–
• Singapore Technologies Industrial Corporation Ltd (“STIC”)
• Sembawang Corporation Limited (“SCL”)
In addition, these subsidiaries acquired/incorporated and disposed of the following subsidiaries
during the financial period:

Effective
Equity Interest
Acquired
%

Net Tangible
Assets/
(Liabilities)
Acquired
$’000

Consideration
$’000

Singapore Technologies Industrial Corporation Ltd
SembCorp Energy Pte Ltd
(formerly known as ST Energy Pte Ltd)
Chongqing Zhongxin Garden City Hotel Co Ltd

100

(2,585)

#

65

10,836

10,836

59.75
48.4

4,977
2,883

4,977
2,883

100

(4)

#

9.6

(216)
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ST Computer Systems & Services Limited
Chartered Systems & Networks Pte Ltd
Commerce Network Singapore Pte Ltd
SembCorp Energy Pte Ltd
(formerly known as ST Energy Pte Ltd)
ST–Huaneng Energy International Pte Ltd
Asia Pacific Logistics Services Pte Ltd
Asia Pacific Air Cargo Pte Ltd *
Sembawang Corporation Limited
SembCorp Logistics Ltd
(formerly known as Sembawang
Marine & Logistics Limited)
Delifrance Singapore Pte Ltd

5.14
14.76

14,028
7,306

2,755
48,463

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES
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(a) Acquisitions of subsidiaries/additional interests in subsidiaries:
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(a)

Acquisitions of subsidiaries/additional interests in subsidiaries (cont’d):

Equity Interest
Acquired
%

Net Tangible
Assets
Acquired
$’000

Consideration
$’000

127

158

SembCorp Logistics Ltd
(formerly known as
Sembawang Marine & Logistics Limited (“SML”))

60

Sem PC Maritime Co. Ltd (“SPC”)

14.29

Subsequent to the acquisition, SML transferred its entire equity interest in SPC to another subsidiary
within SML group, at net tangible asset value.
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Singapore Food Industries (Pte) Limited
International Cuisine Limited
Singapore Food Development Pte Ltd
Primary Industries Pte Ltd **

4.65
33.33
4

385
290
1,244

605
540
3,644

59.82
59.82

4,062
13,392

4,062
13,400

59.82

13,876

13,400

59.82

12,930

13,400

29.31

1,571

1,129

Pacific Internet Limited
(formerly known as Sembawang
Media Pte Ltd)
Pacific Internet Corporation Pte Ltd

18.76

2,834

#

Sembawang Ventures Pte Ltd
Information Frontiers Pte Ltd ***

62.5

95

313

Jurong Shipyard Limited
Tridex Investment Inc***
Jurong Shipping Company Private Limited***
(formerly known as Sembawang Shipping
Company Private Limited)
Jurong Shipping Company Beta Pte Ltd***
(formerly known as Sembawang Shipping
Company (Beta) Pte Ltd)
Jurong Shipping Company Gamma Pte Ltd***
(formerly known as Sembawang Shipping
Company (Gamma) Pte Ltd)
SES Marine Services (Pte) Ltd
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Incorporation of subsidiaries:
Place of
Incorporation

Equity interest
subscribed for

Singapore
Singapore

88.89%
100%

Effective
Equity Interest
Disposed
%

Net Tangible
Assets
Disposed
$’000

Consideration
$’000

39

368

162

55
60

#
#

#
#

37.62
31.98

4,549
1,726

4,549
191

25.01

5,044

#

62.5

95

313

100

22,388

22,400

100

23,197

22,400

100

21,615

22,400

10.76

94,169

112,306

STIC Garden City Hotels Pte Ltd
Faversham Pte Ltd
(c)

Disposal of subsidiaries/interests in subsidiaries:

Environ Technologies Pte Ltd
SembCorp Air Products (Hyco) Pte Ltd
(formerly known as Sembawang Air
Products (Hyco) Pte Ltd)
SembCorp Cogen Pte Ltd
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SembCorp Engineering Pte Ltd
(formerly known as Sembawang
Engineering and Construction Pte Ltd)

Sembawang Resources Limited
Singapore Vietnam Investment Pte Ltd
Sembawang Golden Maya Investments Pte Ltd
Sembawang Ventures Pte Ltd
Pacific Internet Limited
(formerly known as
Sembawang Media Pte Ltd)
Pacific Internet Limited
(formerly known as
Sembawang Media Pte Ltd)
Information Frontiers Pte Ltd***
Sembawang Corporation Limited
Jurong Shipping Company Private Limited***
(formerly known as Sembawang Shipping
Company Private Limited)
Jurong Shipping Company Beta Pte Ltd***
(formerly known as Sembawang Shipping
Company (Beta) Pte Ltd)
Jurong Shipping Company Gamma Pte Ltd***
(formerly known as Sembawang Shipping
Company (Gamma) Pte Ltd)
Jurong Shipyard Limited
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(c)

Disposal of subsidiaries/interests in subsidiaries (cont’d):
Effective
Equity Interest
Disposed
%

Net Tangible
Assets
Disposed
$’000

Consideration
$’000

41.87
35.89

83
1,924

75
2,094

100

6,790

6,790

Jurong Shipyard Limited
JPL Construction Pte Ltd
Tat Wai Enterprise Pte Ltd
Sembawang Bethlehem Pte Ltd
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Tridex Investment Inc***
(d)

STIC transferred its effective 45.1% equity interest in Sichuan Huayang Garden City Hotel Co
Ltd, to STIC Chengdu Hotel Investment Pte Ltd for $5,727,693.

(e)

Subsidiaries under voluntary liquidation/de-registered:
(i)

under voluntary liquidation:
– STCS Electronics Investments Pte Ltd
– SAFE–KNT Travels Pte Ltd
– Wuxi–Singapore Industrial Park Food Co Ltd
– RDC (Taipei) Construction Co Ltd
– Sembawang Reefer Lines (Jambu) Bahamas Limited

(ii)

de–registered:
– Singaruda Properties Pte Ltd
– Contech Vietnam Investment Pte Ltd
– Condotel Investment Pte Ltd

Except as disclosed above, there were no acquisitions or disposals of any other subsidiaries during the
financial period.
*

The additional interest was acquired from a non wholly-owned subsidiary of SCL group.
STIC Group has accounted for these net liabilities in previous years.

**

The additional interest was acquired from a wholly-owned subsidiary of SCL group.

***

The equity interest was acquired from/disposed to another wholly-owned subsidiary within the
SCL group.

#

Amount is less than $1,000.
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Financial Results
Results of the Group and of the Company for the financial period are as follows:

(20,283)
(36,831)

49,363
–

(Loss)/Profit after taxation but before extraordinary items
Extraordinary items

(57,114)
(457,990)

49,363
–

(Loss)/Profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company

(515,104)

49,363

Unappropriated profit brought forward as previously reported
Prior years’ adjustments

236,479
6,410

–
–

Unappropriated profit brought forward as restated

242,889

–

(Loss)/Profit available for appropriation
Goodwill written off
Transfer from/(to) Capital Reserves arising from:–
– changes in group structure
– issue of bonus shares by a subsidiary
– realisation upon liquidation of subsidiary
Transfer from Currency Translation Reserve
Redeemable cumulative preference dividends of 1% per annum
less tax at 26%
First and final proposed dividend of 10% less tax at 26%

(272,215)
(21,985)

49,363
–

18,849
(5,842)
5,822
2,734

–
–
–
–

(2,590)
(29,195)

–
(29,195)

(Accumulated loss)/Unappropriated profit carried forward

(304,422)

20,168
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(Loss)/Profit after taxation but before
minority interests and extraordinary items
Minority interests

The Company
$’000
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The Group
$’000
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Transfers to and from Reserves and Provisions
There were the following material transfers to/(from) reserves during the financial period:
The Group
$’000

The Company
$’000

97

97

Share Premium Account
• Premium arising on issue of shares and exercise of share options
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Asset Revaluation Reserve
• Realised on provision for diminution in value
• Transfer to Extraordinary Item on disposal of associated company
• Deficit on revaluation of investment properties
Other Capital Reserve
• Capital reserve arising on consolidation
• Share premium arising on issue of shares by subsidiaries
• Transfer from/(to) Unappropriated Profit arising from
– changes in group structure
– issue of bonus shares by subsidiaries
• Capital Reserve realised on liquidation of subsidiary
Unappropriated Profit
• Transfer from/(to) Capital Reserve arising from
– changes in group structure
– issue of bonus shares by subsidiaries
– realisation upon liquidation of subsidiary
Currency Translation Reserve
• Exchange differences on consolidation
• Exchange differences on net investments in foreign entities
• Exchange differences transferred to Profit and Loss Account
on repayment for foreign currency liability for hedged investments

(55,555)
(4,311)
(11,167)

–
–
–

6,743
1,203

–
–

(18,849)
5,842
(5,822)

–
–
–

18,849
(5,842)
5,822

–
–
–

(5,279)
(304)

–
–
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–

Movements in provisions are set out in the notes to the accompanying financial statements.

Scheme of Arrangement and Issues of Shares and Debentures
The Company was incorporated on 20 May 1998 with an authorised share capital of $100,000
divided into 100,000 ordinary shares of $1 each. At the time of incorporation, 2 ordinary shares of
$1 each were issued at par for cash to the subscriber shareholders.
On 10 July 1998, the Company
(i)

sub-divided its ordinary shares of $1 each into ordinary shares of $0.25 each; and

(ii)

increased its authorised share capital from $100,000 comprising 400,000 ordinary shares of
$0.25 each to $500 million, comprising 2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of $0.25 each, by the
creation of 1,999,600,000 new ordinary shares of $0.25 each.

On 3 October 1998, the effective date of the Scheme of Arrangement (“Effective Date”), the Company
allotted and issued 1,577,999,238 ordinary shares of $0.25 each in the capital of the Company, credited
as fully paid, to the shareholders of the Scheme Companies in exchange for their respective shares in the
Scheme Companies on the basis of the share exchange as set out in the Scheme of Arrangement.

Directors’ Report (cont’d)

Scheme of Arrangement and Issues of Shares and Debentures (Cont’d)

684,299,001 ordinary shares of $0.25 each in the capital of STIC held by STIC shareholders as
at 2 October 1998 (“Relevant Date”) were cancelled and 684,299,001 new ordinary shares of
$0.25 each in the capital of STIC were allotted and issued, credited as fully paid, to the
Company; and

(b)

223,437,700 ordinary shares of $1 each in the capital of SCL held by SCL shareholders as at
the Relevant Date were cancelled and 223,437,700 new ordinary shares of $1 each in the
capital of SCL were allotted and issued, credited as fully paid, to the Company.

Accordingly, with effect from the Effective Date, the Scheme Companies became wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company. The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange of Singapore Limited
on 5 October 1998. The ordinary shares of the Scheme Companies were delisted on 5 October 1998.
The Company issued the following ordinary shares of $0.25 each fully paid for cash at the respective
price per share upon the exercise of the replacement options granted by the Company under the
SembCorp Executives’ Share Option Scheme:
Number of ordinary
shares issued

Price per
ordinary share

Share Premium
per share

52,546
48,694

$1.159
$1.267

$0.909
$1.017

The following subsidiaries issued the following shares during the financial period:–
Name of Subsidiaries

Description of shares issued

Purpose of issue

Singapore Technologies
Industrial Corporation Ltd

97,000 ordinary shares of
$0.25 each for cash at
subscription prices of
$1.71 and $1.87 per share

Exercise of options under the
STIC Executives’ Share
Option Scheme

ST Computer Systems &
Services Limited (“STCS”)

2,017,000 ordinary shares
of $0.25 each for cash at
subscription prices of
between $0.68 to $1.32
per share

Exercise of options under the
STCS Executives’ Share
Option Scheme

STIC Hotels International
Pte Ltd

699,998 ordinary shares
of $1 each fully paid
at par for cash

To provide for initial
working capital

STIC Garden City Hotels
Pte Ltd

720,000 ordinary shares
of $1 each fully paid
at par for cash

To incorporate company
and provide initial working
capital
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On the Effective Date:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

66

Scheme of Arrangement and Issues of Shares and Debentures (Cont’d)
Name of Subsidiaries

Description of shares issued

Purpose of issue

STIC Chengdu Hotel
Investment Pte Ltd

6,824,040 ordinary shares
of $1 each at par for
consideration other than cash

To acquire equity interest
in a subsidiary

175,958 ordinary shares of
$1 each fully paid at
par for cash

To provide for initial working
capital

SembCorp Energy Pte Ltd
(formerly known as
ST Energy Pte Ltd)

4,999,998 ordinary shares of
$1 each fully paid at par
for cash

To provide for additional
working capital

Shenzhen ST-Anda
Logistics Co. Ltd

4,200,472 ordinary shares of
US$1 each fully paid at par
for cash

To provide for additional
working capital

ST Computer Systems
& Services Limited

50,495,500 ordinary shares of
$0.25 each at par credited as
fully paid out of Share
Premium account and
Unappropriated Profit Account

Bonus issue

MicroAsia Private Limited

700,000 ordinary shares of $1
each fully paid at par for cash

To provide additional
working capital

Regional Infrastructure
Management Pte Ltd

99,998 ordinary shares of $1
each fully paid at par for cash

To provide initial working
capital

Pace Airconditioning &
Engineering Pte Ltd

6,000,000 ordinary shares of
$1 each fully paid at par
for cash

To provide for additional
working capital

SembOCL Pte Ltd

99,998 ordinary shares of
$1 each fully paid at par
for cash

To provide for additional
working capital

Apogee Properties Pte Ltd

999,998 ordinary shares of
$1 each fully paid at par
for cash

To provide for additional
working capital

Asphalt Distribution
Company

Increase of legal capital
by $562,007

To provide for additional
working capital

Megastone (Vietnam)
Company Limited

Increase of legal capital
by $80,800

To provide for additional
working capital

Jurong Shipyard Limited

134,000 ordinary shares of
$0.50 each fully paid for cash
at subscription prices of
$6.50 and $7.85 per share

Exercise of options under
the Jurong Shipyard
Executives’ Share Options
Scheme

Sembcorp Logistics Ltd
(formerly known as
Sembawang Marine &
Logistics Limited)

5,333 ordinary shares of
$1 each fully paid for cash
at $3 per share

Conversion of $16,000
11/2% Convertible Unsecured
Loan Stock

Directors’ Report (cont’d)

Description of shares issued

Purpose of issue

Sembawang Kimtrans (S)
Pte Ltd

4,000,000 ordinary shares
of $1 each fully paid at par
for cash

To provide for additional
working capital

Faversham Pte Ltd

2 ordinary shares of $1
each fully paid at par for cash

For the purpose of
incorporation

SembCorp Energy (Tuas) Pte Ltd 100 ordinary shares of $1 each
(formerly known as Oregan
fully paid at par for cash
Pte Ltd, Sembawang-SMRT
Holdings Private Limited and
Connix Investments Pte Ltd)

To provide for additional
working capital

Hong Kong Supernet Limited

To provide for additional
working capital

9,700,000 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each fully paid at par
for cash

No debentures were issued by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the financial period.

Arrangements to Enable Directors to Acquire Shares and Debentures
Other than the SembCorp Executives’ Share Option Scheme and the Executives’ Share Option
Schemes of subsidiaries as described in this report, neither at the end of nor at any time during the
financial period was the Company or its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement whose objects are,
or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ Interests in Shares and Debentures
Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial period had
interests in shares or debentures of the Company or of related corporations either at the date of
appointment or at the end of the financial period.
According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Companies
Act, Cap. 50, particulars of interests of directors who held office at the end of the financial period in
shares and debentures in the Company and related corporations at the date of appointment and at
the end of the financial period are as follows:–

Shareholdings registered
in the name of director
Name of director
and corporation in
which interests held

Description
of interests

Other shareholdings
in which the director
is deemed to have
an interest

At date of
appointment

At end of
the period

At date of
appointment

At end of
the period

1,500

1,500

1,380

1,380

Philip Yeo Liat Kok
Singapore
Telecommunications
Ltd

Ordinary shares
of $0.15 each
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Scheme of Arrangement and Issues of Shares and Debentures (Cont’d)
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Other shareholdings
Shareholdings registered
in the name of director
Name of director
and corporation in
which interests held

Description
of interests

At date of
appointment

in which the director
is deemed to have
an interest

At end of
the period

At date of
appointment

At end of
the period

Ho Ching
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Singapore
Telecommunications
Ltd

Ordinary shares
of $0.15 each

1,530

1,580

1,640

1,700

Ordinary shares
of $0.15 each

1,640

1,700

1,330

1,380

SembCorp Industries
Ltd*

Ordinary shares
of $0.25 each

–

–

–

148,136

Sembawang
Corporation Limited*

Ordinary shares
of $1 each

–

–

58,250

–

Singapore
Telecommunications
Ltd

Ordinary shares
of $0.15 each

1,580

1,580

1,580

1,580

Ordinary shares
of $0.15 each

550

600

550

600

Ordinary shares
of $0.15 each

1,550

1,550

1,550

1,550

Ordinary shares
of $0.15 each

1,640

1,700

1,640

1,700

Peter Seah Lim Huat
Singapore
Telecommunications
Ltd
Sat Pal Khattar

Lua Cheng Eng
Singapore
Telecommunications
Ltd
K Shanmugam
Singapore
Telecommunications
Ltd
Lam Chuan Leong
Singapore
Telecommunications
Ltd

Directors’ Report (cont’d)

Shareholdings registered
in the name of director

Other shareholdings
in which the director
is deemed to have
an interest

Name of director
and corporation in
which interests held

Description
of interests

At date of
appointment

At end of
the period

At date of
appointment

At end of
the period

Ordinary shares
of $0.25 each

–

236,446

–

–

Singapore Technologies Ordinary shares
Industrial Corporation of $0.25 each
Ltd*

143,000

–

–

–

Singapore Technologies Ordinary shares
Engineering Ltd
of $0.10 each

5,137

5,137

–

–

ST Computer Systems
& Services Limited

Ordinary shares
of $0.25 each

10,000

–

–

–

Singapore
Telecommunications
Ltd

Ordinary shares
of $0.15 each

1,440

1,500

1,330

1,380

Ordinary shares
of $0.25 each

–

54,598

–

–

–
–
–

110,672
144,611
224,295

–
–
–

–
–
–

Singapore Technologies Ordinary shares
37,000
Industrial Corporation of $0.25 each
Ltd*
Options to subscribe
ordinary shares
of $0.25 each at
- $3.21 per share
75,000
- $3.74 per share
98,000
- $1.91 per share
152,000

–

–

–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

Tay Siew Choon
SembCorp Industries
Ltd *

Options to subscribe
ordinary shares
of $0.25 each at
- $2.175 per share
- $2.535 per share
- $1.294 per share
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SembCorp Industries
Ltd*
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Shareholdings registered
in the name of director

Other shareholdings
in which the director
is deemed to have
an interest

Name of director
and corporation in
which interests held

Description
of interests

At date of
appointment

At end of
the period

At date of
appointment

At end of
the period
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Tay Siew Choon
ST Computer Systems
& Services Limited

Ordinary shares
of $0.25 each

158,000

181,000

–

–

Singapore
Telecommunications
Ltd

Ordinary shares
of $0.15 each

1,440

1,500

1,330

1,380

Vertex Investment (II)
Ltd

Ordinary shares
of US$1.00 each

–

–

2

2

Redeemable
preference shares
of US$1.00 each

–

–

18

14

–
–
–
–
–
–

101,724
101,724
178,018
178,018
216,164
139,871

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

Cheong Quee Wah
SembCorp
Industries Ltd*

Options to subscribe
ordinary shares
of $0.25 each at
- $4.392 per share
- $4.632 per share
- $3.775 per share
- $2.874 per share
- $2.623 per share
- $1.172 per share
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Shareholdings registered
in the name of director

Other shareholdings
in which the director
is deemed to have
an interest

Name of director
and corporation in
which interests held

Description
of interests

At date of
appointment

At end of
the period

At date of
appointment

At end of
the period

40,000
40,000
70,000
70,000
85,000
55,000

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

1,500

1,500

1,380

1,380

Singapore
Telecommunications
Ltd

*

Options to subscribe
ordinary shares
of $1 each
- $11.17 per share
- $11.78 per share
- $9.60 per share
- $7.31 per share
- $6.67 per share
- $2.98 per share
Ordinary shares
of $0.15 each

During the financial period, the Scheme Companies entered into a Scheme of Arrangement (the
“Scheme”) whereby the Company’s shares and share options were issued in exchange for
previous holdings of shares and share options in the Scheme Companies in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme. The Scheme took effect on 3 October 1998.

There were no changes in the above–mentioned direct and deemed interests of any directors in the
Company and related corporations between the end of the financial period and 21 January 1999.
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Sembawang
Corporation
Limited*

71

Cheong Quee Wah

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Dividends
Since the date of incorporation, the Company did not pay any dividend in respect of the financial
period.
The directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend of 10% less tax at 26% amounting to
$29,195,000 in respect of the financial period under review.

Other Statutory Information
(a)

Before the profit and loss account and the balance sheet of the Company were made out, the
directors took reasonable steps to ascertain what action had been taken in relation to writing
off bad debts and providing for doubtful debts of the Company. The directors have satisfied
themselves that all known bad debts have been written off and that adequate provision has
been made for doubtful debts.
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Bad and Doubtful Debts

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render
any amounts written off for bad debts or provided for doubtful debts in the Group inadequate
to any substantial extent.
(b)

Current Assets
Before the profit and loss account and the balance sheet of the Company were made out, the
directors took reasonable steps to ascertain that current assets of the Company which were
unlikely to realise their book values in the ordinary course of business have been written down
to their estimated realisable values and that adequate provision has been made for the
diminution in value of such current assets.
At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt
with in this report which would render the values attributable to current assets in the
consolidated financial statements misleading.

(c)

Charges and Contingent Liabilities
Since the end of the financial period:

(d)

•

no charge on the assets of the Company or any corporation in the Group has arisen
which secures the liabilities of any other person.

•

no contingent liability of the Company or any corporation in the Group has arisen.

Ability to Meet Obligations
No contingent liability or other liability of the Company or any corporation in the Group has
become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve months after
the end of the financial period which, in the opinion of the directors, will or may substantially
affect the ability of the Group or of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they
fall due.

Directors’ Report (cont’d)

(e)

Other Circumstances Affecting the Financial Statements
At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt
with in this report or the financial statements which would render any amount stated in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group or the financial statements of the Company
misleading.

(f)

Unusual Items

Directors’ Interests in Contracts
Since the date of incorporation, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by
reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm
of which he is a member or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest except
that SembCorp Construction Pte Ltd (formerly known as Singapore Technologies Construction Pte
Ltd) (“SCPL”) has entered into various design contracts with its associated company, ST Architects
& Engineers Pte Ltd, (“STAE”) in which Mr Wong Kok Siew, a director of the Company, is a
shareholder by virtue of his professional capacity under the Professional Engineers Act, Chapter 253.
However, Mr Wong Kok Siew has not received or become entitled to receive any benefits by reason
of the contracts made between SCPL and STAE, other than those to which he is ordinarily entitled to
as a shareholder of STAE.

Share Options
At the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on 3 October 1998, the shareholders of
the Company approved the adoption of SembCorp Executives’ Share Option Scheme. Pursuant to
the Scheme of Arrangement, all executives with outstanding options to subscribe for shares in the
respective Scheme Companies are entitled to convert such options to those under SembCorp
Executives’ Share Option Scheme.
(a)

Options granted
During the financial period:
(i)

replacement options to subscribe for 29,484,895 ordinary shares of $0.25 each in the
Company were granted and accepted under SembCorp Executives’ Share Option Scheme
pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement.

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

Except for the events disclosed in note 56 to the financial statements, in the opinion of the
directors, no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the
interval between the end of the financial period and the date of this report which is likely to
affect substantially the results of the operations of the Group or of the Company for the
financial period in which this report is made.
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Except as disclosed in notes 45 and 47 to the financial statements, in the opinion of the directors,
no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has substantially affected the results
of the operations of the Group or of the Company during the financial period.
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Share Options (Cont’d)
(ii)

options were granted and accepted under the Executives’ Share Option Scheme of the
Scheme Companies prior to the Effective Date:
Option
period
(both dates
inclusive)

Number
of unissued
ordinary
shares

22/4/2000
to
20/4/2003

4,328,450

$1.91 per share
payable in full
on application

13/5/2000
to
11/5/2003

1,442,000

$2.98 per share
payable in full
on application

Price and
terms of
issue

Singapore Technologies
Industrial Corporation Ltd
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– ordinary shares of $0.25 each
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Sembawang Corporation Limited
– ordinary shares of
$1 each

(iii) options were granted and accepted under the Executives’ Share Option Scheme of the
following subsidiaries:
Option
period
(both dates
inclusive)

Number
of unissued
ordinary
shares

22/4/2000
to
21/4/2003

832,500

$1.27 per share
payable in full
on application

28/4/2000
to
27/4/2003

877,000

$7.85 per share
payable in full
on application

21/4/1999
to
20/4/2003

540,000

$1.99 per share
payable in full
on application

28/4/1999
to
27/4/2003

171,000

$1.82 per share
payable in full
on application

Price and
terms of
issue

ST Computer Systems &
Services Limited
– ordinary shares of $0.25 each

Jurong Shipyard Limited
– ordinary shares of
$0.50 each
SembCorp Logistics Ltd
(formerly known as Sembawang
Marine & Logistics Limited)
– ordinary shares of
$1 each

Directors’ Report (cont’d)

Share Options (Cont’d)
(b)

Issue of Shares Under Option
During the financial period, the following shares were issued by the respective subsidiaries as a
result of the exercise of options:
Number of
Par value
shares issued
per share
The Company
Singapore Technologies Industrial
Corporation Ltd *
ST Computer Systems & Services Limited
Jurong Shipyard Limited

97,000

$0.25

2,017,000

$0.25

134,000

$0.50

Issued prior to Effective Date

Unissued Shares Under Option
On the Effective Date of the Scheme of Arrangement, all outstanding options granted by the
Scheme Companies were converted into options under the SembCorp Executives’ Share Option
Scheme.
As at 31 December 1998, total options granted by the Company and its subsidiaries which
remained unissued are as follows:
Option period
(both dates
inclusive)

Number
of unissued
ordinary shares

3/10/1998 to
12/1/2000

368,893

$1.267 per share payable
in full on application

3/10/1998 to
22/7/2000

536,204

$1.159 per share payable
in full on application

3/10/1998 to
11/8/2001

4,255,066

$2.236 per share payable
in full on application

3/10/1998 to
1/10/2001

110,672

$2.175 per share payable
in full on application

11/4/1999 to
10/4/2002

4,873,048

$2.535 per share payable
in full on application

22/4/2000 to
20/4/2003

6,084,270

$1.294 per share payable
in full on application

3/10/1998 to
25/6/1999

1,174,917

$4.392 per share payable
in full on application

3/10/1998 to
27/11/1999

1,134,227

$4.632 per share payable
in full on application

3/10/1998 to
18/12/1999

76,293

$4.644 per share payable
in full on application

Price and
terms of issue

The Company
– ordinary shares of
$0.25 each
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(c)

$0.25
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*

101,240
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Share Options (Cont’d)
Option
period
(both dates
inclusive)

Number
of unissued
ordinary
shares

3/10/1998 to
31/7/2000

2,438,841

$3.775 per share payable
in full on application

3/10/1998 to
8/8/2001

2,217,591

$2.874 per share payable
in full on application

9/5/1999 to
7/5/2002

3,153,454

$2.623 per share payable
in full on application

13/5/2000 to
11/5/2003

2,960,179

$1.172 per share payable
in full on application

Price and
terms of
issue
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The Company

29,383,655
ST Computer Systems
& Services Limited
– ordinary shares
of $0.25 each

5/4/1996 to
3/4/1999

147,000

$0.88 per share payable
in full on application

5/4/1997 to
3/4/2000

60,000

$0.68 per share payable
in full on application

6/9/1998 to
4/9/2001

189,000

$0.69 per share payable
in full on application

15/4/1999 to
13/4/2002

747,000

$0.65 per share payable
in full on application

22/4/2000 to
21/4/2003

832,500

$1.27 per share payable
in full on application

1,975,500
SembCorp Logistics Ltd
(formerly known as
Sembawang Marine
& Logistics Limited)
– ordinary shares of
$1 each

13/5/1998 to
12/5/2002

1,887,489

$4.13 per share payable
in full on application

5/9/1998 to
4/9/2002

43,000

$4.45 per share payable
in full on application

21/4/1999 to
20/4/2003

540,000

$1.99 per share payable
in full on application

28/4/1999 to
27/4/2003

171,000

$1.82 per share payable
in full on application

2,641,489
Jurong Shipyard Limited
– ordinary shares of
$0.50 each

28/4/2000 to
27/4/2003

877,000

$7.85 per share payable
in full on application

Directors’ Report (cont’d)

Share Options (Cont’d)
The persons to whom the options have been granted do not have the right to participate, by virtue of
the option, in any share of any other company.
Except for the above, during the financial period, there were:–
•

no options granted by the Company or its subsidiaries to any person to take up unissued
shares in the Company or any subsidiaries; and

•

no shares issued by virtue of any exercise of options to take up unissued shares of the
Company or any subsidiaries.
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There were no unissued shares of any other subsidiaries under options as at the end of the financial
period.

The members of the Audit Committee at the date of this report are as follows:–
Peter Seah Lim Huat (Chairman)
Lua Cheng Eng
K Shanmugam

(Appointed on 29 July 1998)
(Appointed on 29 July 1998)
(Appointed on 29 July 1998)

The financial statements, accounting policies and system of internal accounting controls are the
responsibility of the Board of Directors acting through the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
met to review the scope of work of the internal and external auditors, and the results arising
therefrom, including their evaluation of the system of internal controls. The Audit Committee also
reviewed the assistance given by the Company’s officers to the auditors. The financial statements of
the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group were reviewed by the Audit
Committee prior to their submission to the directors of the Company for adoption.
In addition, the Audit Committee has reviewed the requirements for approval and disclosure of
interested person transactions, reviewed the procedures set up by the Company to identify and report
and where necessary seek approval for interested person transactions and with the assistance of the
internal auditors, reviewed interested person transactions.
The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors that the auditors, KPMG, be
nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the
Company.
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Audit Committee
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Auditors
At meeting of the directors held on 9 July 1998, the auditors, KPMG Peat Marwick, were appointed
auditors of the Company.
On 19 November 1998, our auditors changed the name under which they practise to KPMG, and,
accordingly, have signed their report in their new name. A resolution for the re-appointment of
KPMG as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
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On behalf of the Board of Directors

Philip Yeo Liat Kok
Director

Wong Kok Siew
Director

Singapore
26 April 1999

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
as at 31 December 1998

We, Philip Yeo Liat Kok and, Wong Kok Siew, being directors of SembCorp Industries Ltd, do hereby
state that in our opinion:–

(a)

the financial statements set out on pages 81 to 178 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 1998, and of
the results of the business of the Group and of the Company and cash flows of the Group for
the period ended on that date; and

(b)

at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be
able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

Philip Yeo Liat Kok
Director

Wong Kok Siew
Director

Singapore
26 April 1999
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On behalf of the Board of Directors

REPORT OF THE AUDITORS TO THE MEMBERS OF
SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES LTD
We have audited the financial statements of SembCorp Industries Ltd and consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the period ended 31 December 1998 as set out on pages 81 to 178.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s directors. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those Standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statements presentation. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
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In our opinion:–
(a)

(b)

the financial statements and consolidated financial statements are properly drawn up in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Statements
of Accounting Standard and so as to give a true and fair view of:–
(i)

the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 1998 and of the
results of the Company and of the Group and of the cash flows of the Group for the
period ended on that date; and

(ii)

the other matters required by Section 201 of the Act to be dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company and consolidated financial statements of the Group;

the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the
Company and by those subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors,
have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

We have considered the financial statements and auditors’ reports of the subsidiaries which have been
audited by our associated firms and those of which we have not acted as auditors, being financial
statements that have been included in the consolidated financial statements. We have also considered
the financial statements of those subsidiaries which are not required by the law of their country of
incorporation to be audited, being financial statements that have been included in the consolidated
financial statements. The names of these subsidiaries are stated in note 59 to the financial statements.
We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the
financial statements of the Company are in form and content appropriate and proper for the
purposes of the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and we have received satisfactory
information and explanations as required by us for those purposes.
The auditors’ reports on the financial statements of the subsidiaries were not subject to any
qualification and in respect of subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore did not include any comment
made under Section 207(3) of the Act.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants
Singapore
26 April 1999

BALANCE SHEETS
as at 31 December 1998

Note

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

1998
$’000

Fixed Assets

4

1,709,168

1,684,677

–

Investment Properties

5

174,166

222,117

–

Investments in Subsidiaries

6

–

–

394,500

Interests in Associated Companies

7

369,347

685,247

–

Interests in Joint Ventures

8

235,050

228,916

–

Long-Term Investments

9

261,337

387,039

–

Long-Term Receivables

10

96,501

151,894

–

Hire Purchase and Lease Receivables

11

143,021

109,399

–

Deferred Expenditure

12

24,192

15,550

–

Current Assets

13

2,696,460

3,089,776

51,571

Current Liabilities

14

(2,997,317)

(3,115,395)

(31,281)

(300,857)

(25,619)

20,290

2,711,925

3,459,220

414,790

(914,383)

(990,114)

–

1,797,542

2,469,106

414,790

Net Current Assets/(Liabilities)
Non-Current Liabilities

15

Represented by:
Share Capital

16

394,525

394,500

394,525

Capital Reserves

17

530,532

541,292

97

Asset Revaluation Reserve

18

34,220

105,253

–

(304,422)

242,889

20,168

2,275

7,790

–

Share Capital and Reserves

657,130

1,291,724

414,790

Minority Interests

790,412

827,382

–

350,000

350,000

–

1,797,542

2,469,106

414,790

Revenue Reserves
Currency Translation Reserve

19

Interests of Preference
Shareholders in a Subsidiary

20

The notes set out on pages 86 to 178 form part of these financial statements.
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The Company
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The Group

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNTS
for the period ended 31 December 1998

The Group
Note

Turnover

43

Profit before taxation
Exceptional item

44
45

Share of results of:
– associated companies
– joint ventures
46

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

1998
$’000

3,900,066

3,309,333

69,477

184,964
(150,000)

123,039
–

67,427
–

34,964

123,039

67,427

17,207
11,002

75,276
4,694

–
–

63,173
(83,456)

203,009
(83,447)

67,427
(18,064)

(20,283)
(36,831)

119,562
(27,270)

49,363
–

(57,114)
(457,990)

92,292
(37,967)

49,363
–

(515,104)

54,325

49,363

236,479

468,204

–

–
6,410

2,122
10,138

–
–

242,889

480,464

–

(272,215)
(21,985)

534,789
(220,320)

49,363
–

18,849
(5,842)
5,822

(26,625)
(9,500)
–

–
–
–

(701)
13

–
–

(2,590)
(29,195)

(2,590)
(32,177)

–
(29,195)
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Taxation

The Company

(Loss)/Profit after taxation but before
minority interests and extraordinary items
Minority interests
(Loss)/Profit after taxation but before
extraordinary items
Extraordinary items
(Loss)/Profit attributable to shareholders
Unappropriated profit brought forward
As previously reported
Transfer of cumulative exchange
differences on consolidation to
Currency Translation Reserve
Prior years’ adjustments

47

3

As restated
Goodwill written off
Transfer (to)/from Capital Reserves arising
17
from:
– changes in group structure
– issue of bonus shares by subsidiaries
– realisation upon liquidation of subsidiary
Statutory reserve of an associated company
transferred to Capital Reserves
17
Transfer from Currency Translation Reserves
Redeemable Cumulative Preference
Dividend of 1% per annum less 26%
tax paid and payable to preference
shareholders of a subsidiary
Dividends
48

–
2,734

(Accumulated Loss)/Unappropriated profit
carried forward

49

(304,422)

242,889

Basic Earnings per share (in cents)

50

(3.78)

5.69

The notes set out on pages 86 to 178 form part of these financial statements.

20,168

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the period ended 31 December 1998

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

63,173

203,009

(51,709)
(1,754)
98,198
145,876
(28,209)
(21,583)
(871)
60
–
3,500
–
101
1,763
150,000
6,843
6,922
(864)
19,698
1,292

(26,752)
(1,398)
61,285
110,952
(79,970)
(12,918)
(884)
–
(55)
1,878
109
26,183
6,756
–
2,497
10,791
1,091
(5,031)
3,000

10,828
(2,527)
210
534
–

–
–
–
54
336

401,481

300,933

–
172,571
172,753
39,903
(8,109)
(127,755)
(77,444)
(184,415)
(11,651)

(4,388)
44,719
(257,418)
(172,764)
–
124,025
(11,654)
595,348
(11,164)

Income tax paid
Interest paid

377,334
(89,679)
(81,363)

607,637
(42,257)
(61,208)

Net cash inflow from operating activities

206,292

504,172

Operating profit before working capital changes
(Increase)/Decrease in working capital:Currency translation adjustment
Stocks and work-in progress
Debtors
Development properties
Short term investments
Creditors
Balances with related corporations
Short-term borrowings
Deferred expenditure incurred

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

Profit before taxation, minority interests and extraordinary items
Adjustments for:Interest income
Dividend income
Interest expense
Depreciation of fixed assets
Share of results of associated companies and joint ventures
Profit on disposal of fixed assets
Profit on disposal of long term investments
Loss on disposal of associated company
Amortisation of net discount on bonds
Amortisation and write-off of deferred expenditure
Amortisation of loan stock issue expense
Provision for doubtful debts (net)
Provision for diminution in value of long-term investments
Provision for net exposure arising on legal claims
Fixed assets written off
Provision for stock obsolescence and foreseeable losses (net)
Provision for third-party stock loss
Provision for long-term hire purchase and lease receivables
Provision for losses on development properties
Provision for warranty, deferred maintenance of floating docks,
cranes and other major facilities
Write back of provision for quarry restoration
Investment property written off
Stocks written off
Others
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

1998
$’000

1997
$’000
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84

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received
Proceeds from sales of long-term investments
Proceeds from sales of fixed assets
Acquisition of long-term investments
Acquisition of investment properties
Acquisition of fixed assets
Acquisition of subsidiaries net of cash acquired
Proceeds from disposal of interests in associated and joint
ventures companies
Reduction of minority interests in a subsidiary company
Net cash at bank of subsidiaries disposed
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities

51,709
195,215
22,377
(48,415)
–
(214,517)
(8,333)

26,404
78,397
39,289
(399,217)
(59,335)
(400,342)
(317,287)

40,390
–
4,142

–
(17,708)
(10,899)

42,568

(1,060,698)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Redemption of loan stocks
Proceeds from issue of shares (net)
Proceeds from issue of shares to minority
shareholders of subsidiaries
Additional contributions from minority
shareholder of subsidiaries
Proceeds from term loans (net)
Other long-term liabilities
Dividends paid to shareholders of the Company
Dividends paid to minority shareholders of subsidiaries
Dividend income
Hire purchase and finance lease obligations
Loans receivables

(4,508)
122

–
8,329

12,128

58,905

10,287
(80,136)
21,553
(23,947)
(28,246)
1,754
(36,028)
29,099

–
558,205
–
(34,702)
(8,806)
1,398
390
–

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities

(97,922)

583,719

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents

150,938
389,898
(54)

27,193
363,293
(588)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year (Note 51)

540,782

389,898

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (cont’d)

The attributable net assets of subsidiaries acquired and disposed of during the period are as follows:

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

Less:
New shares issued by a subsidiary
Interests already held by subsidiaries
Less:
Net cash at bank of subsidiaries acquired
Cash outflow on acquisition

3,534
–
6,790
–
11,498
–
(1,132)
408
–

386,045
1,747
66,057
515
358,550
(64,772)
(297,427)
214,999
(459)

21,098

665,255

–
–

(11,048)
(152,633)

21,098

501,574

(12,765)

(184,287)

8,333

317,287

Disposal
Fixed assets and assets on lease
Non-current assets
Investments
Long-term receivables
Deferred expenditure
Net current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Minority interests
Gain on disposal
Cost of investment in a former subsidiary utilised for shares exchange
Net assets transfer to long-term investment
Cost of investment transferred to the Group
Amount owing by a subsidiary to the Group
Non-cash consideration received
Net cash at bank of subsidiaries disposed

The notes set out on pages 86 to 178 form part of these financial statements.

13,355
–
(3,091)
–
–
(41,957)
(101)
30,067

135,130
112
122,030
413,888
578
(366,451)
(158,947)
(61,504)

(1,727)
2,508
–
–
(1,980)
(2,379)
7,720

84,836
399
(17,708)
(78,277)
–
–
–

4,142
–

(10,750)
(149)

4,142

(10,899)
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Fixed assets
Non-current assets
Investments
Deferred expenditure
Net current assets
Non-current liabilities
Minority interests
Goodwill
Currency translation adjustment
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Acquisition

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 1998

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
balance sheets, profit and loss accounts and consolidated statement of cash flows.

1.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Company, incorporated in the Republic of Singapore, are those of
an investment holding company, as well as a corporate headquarters which gives direction,
provides management services, integrates the activities of its subsidiaries and undertakes
engineering and technology related businesses.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 59 to the financial statements.
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2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a)

Basis of Financial Statements Preparation
The financial statements, expressed in Singapore dollars, are prepared in accordance
with the historical cost convention modified by the revaluation of certain fixed assets
and investment properties.

(b)

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries made up to the end of the financial period. All intercompany
balances and significant intercompany transactions are eliminated on consolidation and
the consolidated financial statements reflect external transactions only.
The results of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are included
from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal. The
difference between the cost to the Group and the net assets of the subsidiary at the date
of acquisition is included as goodwill or capital reserve on consolidation and is taken to
capital reserves. Where the capital reserves result in a net debit balance, the net debit
balance will be taken to revenue reserves.
The merger of Singapore Technologies Industrial Corporation Ltd (“STIC”) and
Sembawang Corporation Limited (“SCL”) pursuant to a Scheme of Arrangement under
Section 210 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (“the Act”) constitutes a uniting of
interests. Thus, the merger of STIC and SCL and the acquisition of subsidiaries which
meet the criteria set out in Section 69B of the Act and in Statement of Accounting
Standard No. 22, “Accounting for Business Combinations”, are accounted for under the
pooling of interests method in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Under this method of accounting, where the consideration paid exceeds/is less than the
nominal value of the share capital issued, the difference is taken to the merger deficit/
reserve.

(c)

Subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the financial statements of the Company at cost.
Provision is made for any diminution in value that is other than temporary.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

(d)

Associated Companies and Joint Ventures
Associated companies are defined as companies, not being subsidiaries and joint ventures,
in which the Group has an equity interest of at least 20% and in whose financial and
operating policy decisions the Group exercises significant influence.
Joint ventures are those equity investments in which the Group has a long-term interest
and has, by way of contractual arrangements, joint control in the companies’ operational
and financial affairs.

Equity accounting of associated and joint venture companies’ results is discontinued
where the Group’s share of losses equals or exceeds the cost of investment in the
associated and joint venture companies unless the Group has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf to satisfy obligations of the associated and joint venture
companies that the Group has guaranteed or otherwise committed.
The difference between the cost to the Group and the net assets of an associated company
or joint venture at the time of acquisition is included as goodwill or capital reserve on
consolidation and is taken to capital reserves. Where the capital reserves result in a net
debit balance, the net debit balance will be taken to revenue reserves.
(e)

Basis of Revenue Recognition
(i)

Income on long-term contracts
Income on repair work, engineering, overhaul, service work and marine and civil
construction contracts are recognised based on the percentage of completion
method provided that the work is at least 20% complete and the outcome of the
contract can be reliably estimated. Provision is made where applicable for any
foreseeable losses on uncompleted contracts as soon as the possibility of the loss is
ascertained.

(ii)

Shipping income
Shipping income, which comprises charter hire fees, is recognised on an accrual
basis.

(iii)

Income for hire purchase, mortgage, lease and instalment receivables
Interest income on hire purchase is recognised in the profit and loss account based
on the “sum-of-digits” method.
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The Group’s share of the results of associated companies and joint ventures, based on the
latest available audited financial statements or unaudited management financial
statements, is included in the consolidated profit and loss account. The attributable share
of post acquisition retained reserves less accumulated losses is added to the cost of
investments in associated companies and joint ventures shown in the consolidated balance
sheet.
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Investments in associated companies and joint ventures are stated in the financial
statements of the Company at cost. Provision is made for any diminution in value that is
other than temporary.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Interest on finance leases and mortgage loans are recognised in the profit and loss
account based on the “sum-of-digits” method or as and when they become due.
Interest income on instalment sale is recognised based on the accrual of instalments
from customers.
(iv)

Dividend and interest income
Dividends from the subsidiaries and associated companies are included in the
financial statements on a proposed basis. Dividends from other investments are
recognised on receipt basis.
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis.
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(v)

Income from factoring accounts
Factoring commission is recognised upon acceptance of the factored invoices.
Factoring interest is recognised on the accrual basis.

(vi)

Income from salvage, harbour towage and ferry services
Salvage income is recognised when a job is completed, based on management’s
estimates of salvage awards. The final salvage awards are dependent on subsequent
negotiations with interested parties or at arbitration proceedings in London,
pursuant to Lloyds Standard Form of Salvage Agreements under which such salvage
work is normally undertaken. Accordingly, the amounts taken to income are
subject to adjustments when the eventual outcome of negotiations and awards is
determined. These adjustments are taken to income in the year in which the
receivable value is determined.
Harbour towage revenue is recognised upon the arrival of the tow at its destination.
Income from ferry services is recognised upon the use of the tickets.

(vii) Income from development properties
Income from development of residential properties, industrial parks and resorts is
recognised on the percentage of completion method determined by physical stage of
completion and losses are provided for as and when they become known.
(viii) Income on goods sold and services rendered
Income from freight services, service work, sales of purchased products and
commission from insurance services are taken into account when the work is
completed.
Income from warehouse management is recognised over the period of the contracts
in proportion to the estimated services rendered.
Income on goods sold and other services rendered is recognised on completion of
delivery.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

(f)

Turnover
Turnover for the Group represents sales and services rendered by the subsidiaries
excluding intercompany transactions and include revenue recognised on contracts,
which are at least 20% complete, under the percentage of completion method.

(g)

Depreciation of Fixed Assets

Improvements to premises
Dry docks
Floating docks
Plant and machinery
Marine vessels
Tools and workshop equipment
Motor vehicles
Office equipment, computers and furniture

Remaining lease period
Remaining lease period
50 years or remaining lease period,
if lower
1 to 8 years
Remaining lease period
20 years
3 to 10 years
10 to 20 years
3 to 10 years
2 to 6 years
1 to 10 years

No depreciation is provided on capital work-in-progress.
Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no
longer in use.
There is no fixed policy with regards to the regular revaluation of fixed assets.
Where fixed assets are revalued, the surplus or deficit on revaluation is taken to the
revaluation reserve account except where there are insufficient surpluses, in which
case, the shortfall is written off to the profit and loss account.
(h)

Investment Properties
Significant investment properties, which are held on long-term basis for their
investment potential and income, are stated at valuation. Valuation is made every
year by an independent professional valuer.
The net surplus or deficit on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve account
except where there are insufficient surpluses, in which case, the shortfall is written
off to the profit and loss account.
Investment properties held on long-term basis which are not significant in value to
the Group’s net assets are stated at cost unless there has been a decline in value that
is other than temporary, in which case provision is made to recognise the
diminution in value.
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Leasehold land and wet berthage
Land improvements
Buildings
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Fixed assets are depreciated on the straight line basis at rates which are calculated to
write down the cost or valuation of the assets over the estimated useful lives as follows:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(i)

Deferred Expenditure
Deferred expenditure is amortised over a period of between 1 and 10 years or over the
life of operational projects and such amortisation is charged to the profit and loss
account.

(j)

Deferred Repair and Maintenance Expense
Provision is made annually for major repair and maintenance work on the floating
docks, cranes and other major facilities and for future dredging expenses. No further
provision is made when the existing provision is considered adequate for foreseeable
future expenditure.
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(k)

Foreign Currency Translation
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies, except for foreign currency
liabilities hedged by forward exchange contracts, are translated into Singapore dollar at
rates of exchange closely approximate to those ruling at the balance sheet date. Foreign
currency liabilities hedged by forward exchange contracts are translated into Singapore
dollar at the contracted forward exchange rates. Transactions in foreign currencies
during the year are translated at rates ruling on transaction dates. Except for situations
described below, translation differences are included in the profit and loss account:
(i)

Where foreign currency loans provide an effective hedge against the net
investment in foreign subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures,
exchange differences arising on the loans are taken directly to Currency
Translation Reserve until the disposal of the investments.

(ii)

Where a monetary item in substance forms part of the Group’s net investment in
the foreign subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures, exchange
differences arising on such a monetary item are taken directly to Currency
Translation Reserve until the disposal of the investments.

(iii)

Unrealised exchange differences arising on translation of long-term foreign
currency monetary items other than those set out in (i) and (ii) above are deferred
and amortised over the period to maturity of the monetary items.

For inclusion in the Group financial statements, the assets and liabilities of foreign
subsidiaries are translated into Singapore dollar at the exchange rates ruling at balance
sheet date. The results of foreign subsidiaries are translated into Singapore dollar at the
average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising therefrom are taken
directly to the Currency Translation Reserve.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

The Group’s share of the results for the year and share of net assets of its foreign
associated companies and joint ventures are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year and those ruling at the balance sheet date respectively. Any exchange
differences arising therefrom are taken directly to the Currency Translation Reserve.
(l)

Investments
Other quoted and unquoted investments held for long-term are stated at cost adjusted
for amortisation of premium and accretion of discount. Provision is made when there
has been a decline, other than temporary, in the value of the investments.
Premium or discount on acquisition of investment is amortised on the straight line basis
over the period of the investment.

(m)

Stocks
Except for stocks of gold bullion and numismatic items containing gold which are stated
at current market price, finished goods and components are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is principally determined on the weighted average method other
than machines and air ticket stocks which are determined on specific identification basis.
Provision is made for all deteriorated, damaged, obsolete and slow moving stocks.

(n)

Work-in-Progress
Uncompleted contracts are valued at cost and, where the percentage of completion
method is adopted, include an appropriate proportion of estimated profits recognised to
date less advances and progress payments received and receivable. Costs include direct
materials and labour at actual costs and an appropriate proportion of production
overheads, after taking into account amounts provided for foreseeable losses to
completion of the contracts.
Development costs for projects are capitalised as work-in-progress and taken to income
at a later date in the same manner as other contract costs, provided that costs incurred
relate directly to securing the contract and can be separately identified and measured
reliably, and that the probability of securing the contract is high. Otherwise, all such
costs are expensed as and when incurred.

(o)

Taxation
Current taxation is provided based on the tax payable on the income for the year that is
chargeable to tax.
Deferred taxation is provided using the liability method for all material timing differences
in the recognition of certain income and expenses for accounting and for taxation
purposes. Deferred tax benefits are recognised only to the extent of any deferred tax
liability or where such benefits are expected to be realisable in the foreseeable future.
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Short-term investments are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on an
aggregate portfolio basis. Cost is arrived at based on the weighted average basis.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(p)

Deferred Asset Grants
Asset related grants are credited to a deferred asset grants account and are released to
the profit and loss account on the straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
relevant assets.
Income related grants are credited to the profit and loss account in the period to which
they relate.

(q)

Finance leases are those leasing agreements that give rights approximating to ownership.
Assets financed under such leases are treated as if they had been purchased outright at
the present value of the minimum lease payments during the periods of leases and the
corresponding leasing commitments are shown as obligations to the lessor. Depreciation
of the relevant assets is provided for as in note (g) above. Lease payments are treated as
consisting of capital and interest elements and the interest is amortised on the straight
line basis over each lease term and charged to the profit and loss account.
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Finance Leases and Hire Purchase Assets

Assets acquired on hire purchase arrangements are capitalised in the financial
statements, and the corresponding obligation treated as a liability. The assets so
capitalised are depreciated in accordance with the policy for depreciation of fixed assets
set out in note (g) above. The total interest, being the difference between the total
instalments payable and the capitalised amount, is charged to the profit and loss account
over the period of such hire purchase arrangements in equal monthly instalments.
(r)

Provision for Warranties
Provision for warranties on completed construction contracts is made based on a
percentage of the contract value. Costs incurred are charged against the provision and
any over or under provision is charged to the profit and loss account.
Provision for warranties on sales of consumer durables acquired by club members,
which are covered under extended warranties, are made based on past experience and is
calculated as a percentage of sales of relevant products. Claims are required to be made
by club members within a stipulated period and are charged to the provision account.
Any balance remaining in the provision account beyond that date is charged or credited
to the profit and loss account.
Specific provision for sales warranty is made on major programmes for coins, ingots,
medallions and numismatic items when warranty obligations are first foreseen. In
addition, a general provision for sales warranty expenses is made.

(s)

Provision for Staff Retirement Benefits
Retirement benefits payable to certain categories of employees upon their retirement are
provided for in the financial statements based on their entitlement under the staff
retirement benefit plan or, in respect of unionised employees who joined on or before 31
December 1988, based on an agreement with the Union.
The provision covers the maximum benefits to which existing employees may become
entitled based on current salaries but excludes the effect of future salary increases.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

(t)

Provision for Doubtful Debts
All known bad debts are written off and specific provision is made for accounts which
are considered doubtful of collection. In addition, an amount is set aside as a general
provision for doubtful debts to cover losses which although not separately identified can
be present in any portfolio of receivables.

(u)

Development Properties
Development properties are those properties which are held with the intention of sale in
the ordinary course of business and are classified as current assets. These include
completed properties and properties in the course of development.

(v)

Salvage Operating Costs
Due to the nature of salvage operations, all operating costs are deemed to be period
costs and taken to the profit and loss account in the year they are incurred.

(w)

Provision for Third Party Stock Loss
Provision is made for any losses, claims and other adversities that may arise in the
course of managing stocks for customers.

(x)

Interest Rate Swaps
The interest rate swap agreements are accounted for in a manner consistent with the
costs of the underlying borrowings being hedged. Where there is an excess of such
interest rate swap agreements over the underlying borrowings, these interest rate swap
agreements are valued at market prices and the resultant profits and losses are taken up
in the profit and loss account.

(y)

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, bank deposits and highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible to cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, net of bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and which form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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Booking deposits received and progress bills rendered on properties in the course of
development are deducted from the book value of such properties.
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Development properties are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
includes cost of land, construction cost, interest expense and other direct expenditure
and related overheads incurred during construction.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.

Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates – The Group
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(a)

During the financial period, there were the following changes in accounting policies by
certain subsidiaries within the Group:

(i)

Income from long–term
construction contracts

(ii)

Accounting of joint
ventures

(iii)

Investment properties

New Accounting
Policies

Previous Accounting
Policies

Percentage of Completion

Completion method

Equity accounting

Proportionate consolidation

At valuation

At cost less depreciation

The financial effect of the above changes in accounting policies on the results of the Group is
to increase and decrease profit before tax by $551,000 and $4,994,000 for the current and
previous finanical periods respectively.
The financial effect noted above has been reflected in the profit and loss account for the
financial period and the comparatives for the previous year have been restated for such
financial effect.
Prior years’ adjustments arising from the above change in accounting policies are as follows:
The Group

Profit before taxation
Taxation

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

8,706
(2,296)

13,700
(3,562)

6,410

10,138

(b)

During the financial period,

(i)

certain subsidiaries within the Group revised the economic useful lives of the following
fixed assets:

Freehold and leasehold building

Office and computer equipment
Furniture and fittings
Plant and machinery

After Revision

Before Revision

Over the lower of
lease period or 30
years
1 to 3 years
5 years
5 years

Over the lease period

3 to 5 years
3 to 10 years
7 years

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

(ii)

two subsidiaries increased the general provision rates for stock obsolences
and doubtful debts.

The above changes in estimates are to be in line with the rates adopted by
Singapore Technologies Pte Ltd. The effect of the revision to the
Group is as follows:

2,228
3,526
2,473

Decrease in profit before taxation

8,227
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Increase in depreciation expense
Increase in provision for stock obsolescence
Increase in provision for doubtful debts
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The Group
$’000

4.

–

–

700,908

At end of the period

68,598

–

691
–
950
(2,032)

–
–
72,180
(33,740)
(4,597)

2,373

(213)

(2,470)
30,301

66,829

639,234

Improvements
to premises
$’000

Disposals/liquidation
of subsidiaries
Provision for loss

Additions
Additions on acquisition
of subsidiaries
Adjustment on revaluation
Reclassification
Disposals/write offs

At beginning of the period
Translation differences on
consolidation

Cost/Valuation

Freehold and
leasehold land
and buildings
and wet
berthage
$’000

Fixed Assets – The Group

31 December 1998

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

430,280

–

–

–
–
–
(172)

839

–

429,613

Dry
docks
$’000

379,968

(912)

(332)

177
–
7,791
(34,485)

28,905

(1,474)

380,298

Plant &
machinery
$’000

426,592

–

–

–
6,620
13,533
(42,717)

53,928

2,422

392,806

Marine
vessels
$’000
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40,191

–

–

–
–
491
(2,103)

2,017

23

39,763

Tools and
workshop
equipment
$’000

96

212,369

(47)

(1,082)

2,446
–
1,184
(20,881)

28,543

(1,526)

203,732

Furniture,
fittings
and office
equipment
$’000

59,835

(144)

(882)

220
–
(258)
(8,427)

9,274

(258)

60,310

Motor
vehicles
$’000

168,889

–

(13,024)

–
–
(64,264)
(2,445)

68,078

(139)

180,683

Capital
Work–in
progress
$’000

2,487,630

(1,103)

(19,917)

3,534
6,620
31,607
(147,002)

224,258

(3,635)

2,393,268

Total
$’000

4.

Depreciation charge
for 1997

Reclassification
Disposals/write offs
Disposals/liquidation
of subsidiaries
At end of the period

At beginning of the period
Translation differences
on consolidation
Charge for the period
Additions on acquisition
of subsidiaries
Adjustment on revaluation

Accumulated Depreciation

20,837

133,541

(255)
(6,375)
–

–

237
22,521
–

117,413

Freehold and
leasehold land
and buildings
and wet
berthage
$’000

Fixed Assets – The Group (Cont’d)

31 December 1998

97,385

–
(172)
–

–

3,940

28,079

206,050

2,391
(29,211)
(152)

–

18,716

92,323

(642)
(15,966)
(4,211)

(325)

(97)
23,797
4,211

85,556

97

3,625

28,984

(3)
(1,454)
–

–

8
4,160
–

26,273

Tools and
Marine workshop
vessels equipment
$’000
$’000
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8,185

41,937 109,328

–
(1,315)
–

–

(1,077)
38,443
–

195,656

Dry
Plant &
docks machinery
$’000
$’000

(75)
–
3,211 12,115
300
–

39,816

Improvements
to premises
$’000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23,374

143,505

(2,064)
(16,586)
(321)

–

(343)
34,246
1,480

127,093

Furniture,
fittings
and office
equipment
$’000

3,976

22,794

109
(2,981)
(436)

–

(644)
7,235
112

19,399

Motor
vehicles
$’000

–

–

–
–
–

–

–
–
–

–

Capital
Work–in
progress
$’000

110,732

778,462

(464)
(74,060)
(5,120)

(325)

(1,991)
145,728
6,103

708,591

Total
$’000

4.

At cost
At valuation

68,598
–
68,598

700,908

27,013

26,661

Improvements
to premises
$’000

576,161
124,747

521,821

31 December 1997

The Group

567,367

31 December 1998

Net Book Value

Cost/Valuation

Freehold and
leasehold land
and buildings
and wet
berthage
$’000

Fixed Assets – The Group

31 December 1998

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

430,280

301,532
128,748

332,228

320,952

Dry
docks
$’000

379,968

379,301
667

184,642

173,918

Plant &
machinery
$’000

426,592

351,988
74,604

307,250

334,269

Marine
vessels
$’000

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

40,191

40,191
–

13,490

11,207

Tools and
workshop
equipment
$’000

98

212,369

212,369
–

76,639

68,864

Furniture,
fittings
and office
equipment
$’000

59,835

59,835
–

40,911

37,041

Motor
vehicles
$’000

168,889

168,889
–

180,683

168,889

Capital
Work–in
progress
$’000

2,487,630

2,158,864
328,766

1,684,677

1,709,168

Total
$’000

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Fixed Assets – The Group (Cont’d)
If the following revalued fixed assets have been included in the financial statements at cost less
accumulated depreciation, the net book value would have been:

Leasehold land and buildings and wet berthage
Dry docks
Marine vessels

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

34,498
49,592
66,487
150,577

35,836
53,421
–
89,257

Note

Charge for the period
Amount capitalised in work–in–progress

Amount previously capitalised in
construction in progress now charged to
the profit and loss account
Amount utilised from provision made for diminution
in value of a subsidiary company
44

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

145,728
(1,127)

110,732
(195)

144,601

110,537

1,602
(327)

415
–

145,876

110,952

The following fixed assets have been pledged to secure loan and bank overdraft facilities
granted to subsidiaries:

Leasehold land and building
Plant and machinery
Marine vessels
Capital work in progress
Other fixed assets

Net book
value
1998
$’000

Net book
value
1997
$’000

17,037
6,646
12,210
75,247
167,411

33,008
5,568
25,627
61,373
125,712

278,551

251,288

Fixed assets with net book value of $23,072,000 (1997: $28,175,000) were acquired under
hire purchase and lease agreements.
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The depreciation charge of the Group for the period as shown in the profit and loss account is
arrived at as follows:
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4.

Fixed Assets – The Group (Cont’d)
The leasehold land and building of a subsidiary stated at valuation of $3,300,000 (1997:
$3,300,000) was valued by Jones Lang Wootton Property Consultant Pte Ltd on 31 December
1997, on the basis of open market valuation.
An independent professional valuation of a subsidiary’s leasehold land, buildings and
improvements, stated at valuation of $64,847,000 (1997: $64,847,000) was carried out by
Knight Frank Cheong Hock Chye & Baillieu (Property Consultants) Pte Ltd on an open
market existing use basis as at 5 June 1998.
Dry docks are stated at 1973 directors’ valuation of $27,853,000 (1997: $27,853,000) with
subsequent additions stated at cost. The revalued net book value of dry docks is $13,488,000
(1997: $13,907,000).
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The valuation of a subsidiary’s shipyard complex comprising leasehold land of 390,800 square
metres, wet berthage, buildings and dry docks, valued at $49,862,000 (1997: $49,862,000)
was performed by a firm of professional valuers at 31 December 1972. No revaluation has
since been made.
A subsidiary’s marine vessels, valued at $74,604,000 (1997: $Nil) were revalued by a firm of
professional valuers at 29 April 1998 on an open market existing use basis.
A subsidiary’s buildings and dry docks stated at valuation of $24,405,000 (1997:
$24,405,000) and $83,895,000 (1997: $83,895,000) respectively are based on a valuation
performed by Amalgamated Appraisal Consultants Pte Ltd, independent valuers, on an open
market existing use basis at 8 July 1994.

5.

Investment Properties – The Group
Note

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

141,234
(210)
708

230,956
–
–

(40,020)
–

–
(89,722)

101,712

141,234

79,814
(8,426)

79,549
265

71,388

79,814

173,100
1,066

221,048
1,069

174,166

222,117

Stated at:–
Valuation
At cost
Amount written off
Addition during the period
Reclassified to
– fixed assets
– development properties

Revaluation Reserve
Balance on 1 January
Revaluation (deficit)/surplus

Cost

44
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Investment Properties – The Group (Cont’d)

(i)

Leasehold apartment units in Shanghai, People’s Republic of China. These apartment
units, stated at cost, are held by a subsidiary. The market value, estimated by the
directors of the subsidiary, at 31 December 1998 is $567,102 (1997: $821,110).

(ii)

Shop units at Junction 8 office cum retail complex in Singapore, occupied by companies
not related to the Group. Addition during the period relates to another single-storey
extension adjacent to the existing building complex. These shop units were revalued by
an independent professional valuer, Jones Lang Wootton Property Consultant Pte Ltd,
on 22 December 1998, based on the investment method. The unexpired lease term of
the property at 31 December 1998 is 91 years and 8 months.
This investment property which is stated at valuation of $140,000,000 (1997:
$133,200,000), is pledged to a bank to secure loan facilities for the subsidiary.

(iii)

a nine–storey office building on a 99-year lease commencing from 1997 situated at 52
Chin Swee Road, Singapore and occupying 1,882 sqm of land with 2,172 sqm of
lettable area.

(iv)

six units of freehold shophouses designated for conservation development located at 748
to 758 (even numbers), North Bridge Road, Singapore, with a combined area of 675
sqm and gross built–in area of 1,298 sqm.

During the financial period, service apartments at Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam, was reclassified
from investment properties to fixed assets. In the last financial period, a proposed commercial
development at Hill Street was reclassified to development properties.
Investment properties (iii) and (iv) are stated at open market value of $33,100,000 (1997:
$87,848,000) at 31 December 1998 based on valuations carried out by independent
professional valuers, Colliers Jardine Consultancy & Valuation (Singapore) Pte Ltd.
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Investment properties comprise:
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6.

Investments in Subsidiaries – The Company
1998
$’000

Unquoted equity shares at cost in:
Singapore Technologies Industrial Corporation Ltd
Sembawang Corporation Limited

252,443
142,057
394,500

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES
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Details of the subsidiaries are set out in note 59 to the financial statements.

7.

Interests in Associated Companies – The Group
1998
$’000

1997
$’000

Quoted equity shares, at cost
Quoted warrants, at cost
Unquoted equity shares, at cost

111,305
825
322,814

212,880
825
329,372

Provision for diminution in value of investments

434,944
(68,083)

543,077
(3,995)

Goodwill written off

366,861
(39,545)

539,082
(37,736)

327,316
4,876

501,346
4,906

10,618
–
26,537

10,708
59,866
108,421

37,155

178,995

369,347

685,247

63,499
858

175,177
742

Currency translation adjustment
Share of post–acquisition reserves
– Capital reserves
– Asset revaluation reserve
– Revenue reserves

Market value of
– Quoted equity shares
– Quoted warrants

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

7.

Interests in Associated Companies – The Group (Cont’d)
The movements in provision for diminution in value of investments during the financial period
are as follows:
Note
1998
1997
$’000
$’000
Balance at beginning of the period
Provision made during the period, net of amount
written back
Movements arising from (disposals)/acquisition
of subsidiaries

47

Balance at end of the period

3,995
65,066

2,785
1,210

(978)

–

68,083

3,995
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Details of the associated companies are set out in note 60 to the financial statements.

Interests in Joint Ventures – The Group
1998
$’000
Unquoted equity shares, at cost
Goodwill written off
Provision for diminution in value of investments

Currency translation adjustment
Share of post-acquisition reserves
– Capital reserves
– Revenue reserves

1997
$’000

272,025
(687)
(39,010)

213,094
(3,364)
(2,680)

232,328
1,422

207,050
6,074

165
1,135

(133)
15,925

1,300

15,792

235,050

228,916

Subsequent to balance sheet date, investment in one of the joint ventures amounting to
$15,727,307 is pledged to secure loan facilities, granted to the joint venture.
The movements in provision for diminution in value of investments during the financial period
are as follows:
Note
1998
1997
$’000
$’000
Balance at beginning of the period
Provision made during the period, net of amount
written back
Amount utilised
Balance at end of the period

47

2,680
39,010

–
2,680

(2,680)

–

39,010

2,680

Details of the joint ventures are set out in note 61 to the financial statements.
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9.

Long–Term Investments – The Group

Quoted investments at cost:
Equity shares
Bonds, loan stocks and NCDs
Warrants in a subsidiary*

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES
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Unquoted investments at cost:
Equity shares
Other investments

Investments in venture funds and limited partnership
Transferable licence fees
Corporate club memberships

Provision for diminution in value of investments

Market value of:
– Quoted equity shares
– Quoted bonds, loan stocks and NCDs
– Quoted warrants in a subsidiary*

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

225,016
2,100
5,216

197,349
1,067
5,216

232,332

203,632

67,459
109,659

75,250
111,699

177,118

186,949

8,866
2,220
3,276

11,071
2,006
1,780

14,362

14,857

423,812
(162,475)

405,438
(18,399)

261,337

387,039

103,089
1,968
1,470

243,645
5,020
–

* Market value of the quoted warrants in a subsidiary, Sembawang Resources Limited (“SRL”),
for 1997 was not available as no trade took place on 31 December 1997. The 4,742,250
warrants each carry the right to subscribe for one new ordinary share of SRL at the exercise
price of $2.07 per share. The last traded share price of SRL at 31 December 1997 was $2.30.
The movements in provision for diminution in value of investments during the financial period
are as follows:–
Note
1998
1997
$’000
$’000
Balance at beginning of the period
Transfer of provision of a former associated
company to long-term investments
Adjustments due to disposal of a subsidiary
Provision made during the period net of
amount written back for items held for:
– treasury management
– others
Amount utilised
Balance at end of the period

18,399

4,452

26

–
(425)

514
–

44
47

1,763
145,088
(2,350)

6,756
6,714
(37)

162,475

18,399

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Loans receivable - secured
Loans receivable - unsecured
Staff loans
Convertible loans
Consultancy fee receivable
Long-term trade debtors
Factoring receivables
Amount due from associated companies

24
26

Less: provision for doubtful debts

Amount due within one year

13

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

–
95,249
5,314
3,500
2,371
441,077
19,643
20,646

76,611
41,829
1,389
3,500
2,371
62,986
–
–

587,800
(33,309)

188,686
(7,015)

554,491
(457,990)

181,671
(29,777)

96,501

151,894

The movements in provision for doubtful debts during the financial period are as follows:
Note

Balance at beginning of the period
Provision made during the period, net of
amount written back
– trade
– loans
Amount utilised
Balance at end of the period

44
47

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

7,015

7,015

17,174
11,509
(2,389)

–
–
–

33,309

7,015

There are two convertible loans to investee companies existing as at balance sheet date. These
convertible loans may at the option of the two subsidiaries, be converted into shares in these
investee companies at any time prior to maturity date. The loans are not expected to be repaid
within the next 12 months.
The consultancy fee receivable is due within 90 days of 25 June 2000 or within 90 days of the
completion of a public offering of an associated company’s shares, whichever is earlier.
Included in staff loans is an amount of $170,086 (1997:$210,039) in respect of loans to
directors of subsidiaries and associated companies which were granted in accordance with
employee loan schemes approved by the members of the subsidiaries and associated
companies.
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10. Long–Term Receivables – The Group

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11. Hire Purchase and Lease Receivables – The Group
Note

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

Contracts receivable
Estimated residual value

160,992
14,791

199,056
15,720

Unearned income

175,783
(17,066)

214,776
(20,388)

Provision for doubtful debts

158,717
(4,314)

194,388
(1,908)

154,403
(11,382)

192,480
(83,081)

143,021

109,399

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES
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Amount due within one year

13

The movements in provision for doubtful debts during the financial period are as follows:

Balance at beginning of the period
Provision made during the period, net of
amount written back
Amount utilised

44

Balance at end of the period

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

1,908

6,997

2,524
(118)

(5,031)
(58)

4,314

1,908

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

5,771
831
20,606

6,994
129
8,427

882
3,291

785
3,442

31,381
(1,433)
(5,756)

19,777
(448)
(3,779)

24,192

15,550

12. Deferred Expenditure – The Group
Note
Major conversion costs incurred on vessels
for long-term projects
Development costs
Preliminary and pre-operating expenses
Professional fees incurred in relation to debt issuance
programme and proposed merger and acquisition projects
Others
Amount written off
Accumulated amortisation

44

The movements in accumulated amortisation during the financial period are as follows:
Note
Balance at beginning of the period
Translation adjustments
Amortisation charged during the period
Balance at end of the period

44

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

3,779
(43)
2,020

2,288
61
1,430

5,756

3,779

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

13. Current Assets
The Company
1998
$’000

21
22
23
24

209,043
285,894
14,970
601,901

375,006
462,995
18,865
1,085,002

–
–
–
–

10

457,990

29,777

–

11

11,382

83,081

–

25
26
27

–
59,091
135,959
168,598

–
28,502
148,403
149,181

51,325
–
–
–

2,464

–

–

139,471
246
30,597
578,854

177,510
138
22,488
508,828

32
–
–
214

2,696,460

3,089,776

51,571

The Group
1998
1997
$’000
$’000

The Company
1998
$’000

28
29
30

14. Current Liabilities
Note

Trade creditors
Excess of progress billings over
work-in-progress
Advanced payments from customers
Other creditors and accrued charges
Amounts due to
– subsidiaries (non-trade)
– related companies
– associated companies
– joint ventures
– minority shareholders of subsidiaries
Term loans repayable
within one year
Loan stocks (unsecured)
Provision for income tax
Short-term loans
Hire purchase and lease creditors
due within one year
Bills payable
Bank overdrafts
Proposed dividend (net)

31
32
33
34

35
36
37
38
39
40

814,319

912,557

–

34,278
30,972
785,533

32,552
13,563
546,384

–
–
158

–
6,811
58,727
–
1,825

–
21,834
49,053
4,705
12,078

1,928
–
–
–
–

291,247
–
92,169
810,884

58,071
4,508
85,453
1,223,967

–
–
–
–

3,285
–
38,072
29,195

3,418
4,375
118,930
23,947

–
–
–
29,195

2,997,317

3,115,395

31,281
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Development properties
Stocks and work-in-progress
Salvage claims
Trade debtors less provision
Long-term receivables due
within one year
Hire purchase and lease receivables
due within one year
Amounts due from:
– subsidiary (loan)
– related companies
– associated companies
– joint ventures
Amount due from minority
shareholders of a subsidiary
Other debtors, deposits and
prepayments
Advance to suppliers
Short-term investments
Bank balances, deposits and cash

The Group
1998
1997
$’000
$’000
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15. Non–Current Liabilities – The Group
Note

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

91,903
754,473
10,000
1,295
6,441
7,016
43,255

104,842
834,609
10,000
1,282
9,799
7,880
21,702

914,383

990,114

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

Authorised:–
Ordinary shares of $0.25 each

500,000

500,000

Issued and fully paid:–
Ordinary shares of $0.25 each

394,525

394,500
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Deferred taxation
Term loans
Loan stocks (unsecured)
Deposits from customers
Hire purchase and lease creditors
Provision for third party stock loss
Other long-term liabilities

35
36
38
41
42

16. Share Capital – The Group and The Company

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

Note

On the date of incorporation, the Company issued 2 ordinary shares of $1 each at par for cash
as subscribers’ shares.
On 10 July 1998, the Company:
(i)

sub-divided its ordinary shares of $1 each into ordinary shares of $0.25 each.

(ii)

increased its authorised share capital from $100,000 comprising 400,000 ordinary
shares of $0.25 each to $500 million, comprising 2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of
$0.25 each, by the creation of 1,999,600,000 new ordinary shares of $0.25 each.

Pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement, the Company issued 1,577,999,238 ordinary shares
of $0.25 each at par in exchange for the whole of the issued and paid up share capital of the
Scheme Companies.
The Company also issued 101,240 ordinary shares of $0.25 each for cash upon the exercise of
the options under the SembCorp Executives’ Shares Option Scheme.
At the end of the financial period, unissued ordinary shares of $0.25 each of the Company
under options granted to eligible employees and directors under the SembCorp Executives’
Share Option Scheme amounted to a total of 29,383,655 ordinary shares of $0.25 each.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

17. Capital Reserves

Other Capital Reserves:
Balance at beginning of the period
Capital Reserve/(Goodwill) arising
on consolidation
Share of capital reserve of associated
companies
Share premium arising on issue of
of shares by subsidiaries
Transfer from /(to) Unappropriated Profit
arising from:
– changes in group structure
– issue of bonus shares by subsidiaries
Transfer from Asset Revaluation
Reserve on disposal of an
associated company
Statutory Reserves of an associated
company transferred from
Revenue Reserves
Capital Reserve realised on
liquidation of subsidiary

Merger Reserve

97

–

97

541,304

496,328

–

6,743

(2,435)

–

–

(1,040)

–

1,203

10,990

–

(18,849)
5,842

26,625
9,500

–
–

–

635

–

–

701

–

–

–

(5,822)
530,421
14

541,304
(12)

530,532

541,292

–
–
97

Included in other capital reserves is an amount of $164,450 (1997: $164,450) relating to
Foreign Restricted Reserves. These represent reserves required under the relevant laws in
the People’s Republic of China and may be utilised to offset accumulated losses or increase
the capital of Vie de France (Beijing) Ltd., subject to the approval of the People’s Republic of
China authorities. Appropriations to these reserves from the profit and loss account are
required each year until the reserves are equal to 50% of the registered capital. The
amounts appropriated to these reserves are based on the discretion of Vie de France (Beijing)
Ltd’s board of directors. These reserves are not available for dividend distribution to the
joint venture partners.
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Share Premium Account
Premium on issue of shares

The Company
1998
$’000

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

Note

The Group
1998
1997
$’000
$’000
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18. Asset Revaluation Reserve – The Group

Balance at beginning of the period
Revaluation (deficit)/surplus for the period
Share of revaluation deficit
of an associated company
Transfer to other Capital Reserves on disposal of
an associated company
Realised on provision for diminution in value
Transfer to Extraordinary item on disposal of
associated company

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES
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Balance at end of the period

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

105,253
(11,167)

108,360
1,209

–

(3,681)

–
(55,555)

(635)
–

(4,311)

–

34,220

105,253

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

7,790
(5,279)

(2,183)
11,215

19. Currency Translation Reserve – The Group

Balance at beginning of the period
Current year exchange gain/(loss) on consolidation
Net investment in foreign entities
– foreign currency liability for hedged investment
– current year exchange differences taken to
profit and loss account on repayment
– monetary item that in substance forms part of
net investment in foreign entities
Balance at end of the period

378
68
(682)
2,275

(2,985)
–
1,743
7,790

20. Interests of Preference Shareholders in a Subsidiary – The Group
This represents the issue price of 350,000,000 1% redeemable cumulative preference shares of
$0.01 per share issued by a subsidiary. The subsidiary may exercise a call option to redeem all
or part of the preference shares semi-annually, commencing from the 31 2 anniversary to the 7th
anniversary of the issue date at redemption values ranging from 116.377% (on 31 2 anniversary)
to 134.8678% (on final redemption) of the issue price.
Alternative Accounting Treatment under International Accounting Standard No. 32 “Financial
Instruments: Disclosures & Presentation” (“IAS 32”)
In Singapore, the generally accepted accounting treatment for an issue of redeemable
cumulative preference shares (“RCPS”) which are redeemable at a premium is to record the
RCPS at their par value. Any premium on redemption would only be taken up upon
redemption and, in accordance with Section 70(4) of the Companies Act, Chapter 50, such
premium on redemption is to be provided out of profits or share premium account. However,
under IAS 32, the premium on redemption is to be accreted such that the amount of the
accretion and the dividend payable on the RCPS would yield the holders of the RCPS a
constant rate of return over the period from the date of issue to the date of redemption of the
RCPS. Had the subsidiary adopted the alternative accounting treatment under IAS 32, the
effects in relation to the RCPS for the year would have been as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

20. Interests of Preference Shareholders in a Subsidiary – The Group (Cont’d)

Profit and loss account:
Reduction in profit after taxation representing
the accretion of the premium on redemption

11,008

11,008

Balance Sheet:
Reduction in revenue reserve representing the
cumulative accretion of the premium on redemption

22,016

11,008

22,016

11,008

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

Cost of land
Development costs

287,275
51,076

341,201
62,095

Progress payments received

338,351
(248)

403,296
(25,290)

338,103
(129,060)

378,006
(3,000)

209,043

375,006

Increase in interests of preference shareholders
in a subsidiary

21. Development Properties – The Group

Provision for foreseeable losses

The movements in provision for foreseeable losses during the financial period are as follows:
Note
Balance at beginning of the period
Provision made during the period
Amount utilised
Balance at end of the period

44/47

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

3,000
128,560
(2,500)

–
3,000
–

129,060

3,000

Interest expenses capitalised as development costs, representing actual borrowing costs
incurred in financing the purchases of land and development, amounted to $13,517,000
(1997: $6,968,000) during the financial period.
Development properties for the Group mainly relate to the following development projects:
Moulmein Lodge
A proposed eighteen-storey residential development at 21 Moulmein Rise on a freehold land
area of 1,207 sqm and gross floor area of 3,425 sqm.
Pinewood Terrace
Eight units of three–storey terrace house at Woodlands Avenue 1 on a 99-year leasehold land
of 1,806 sqm and gross floor area of 3,046 sqm. All units had been sold and the Temporary
Occupation Permit and Certificate of Statutory Completion were obtained in February 1998
and February 1999 respectively.
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1997
$000
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The Group
1998
$000
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21. Development Properties – The Group (Cont’d)
Eunos Green (47% interest)
A joint venture development of a four-storey block (34 units) with swimming pool and
facilities on Lot 2522 MK23 on a freehold land area of 4,698 sqm and gross floor area of
5,561 sqm. The Temporary Occupation Permit was obtained in August 1998.
Jalan Bilal
Two units of three-storey semi-detached house and three units of three-storey terrace house at
Jalan Bilal/Bilal Lane, on a freehold land area of 1,077 sqm and gross floor area of 1,107 sqm.
The Temporary Occupation Permit was obtained in November 1998.
Jalan Soo Bee
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A proposed development of six units of terrace house at 8 Jalan Soo Bee on a freehold land
area of 1,130 sqm and gross floor area of 1,556 sqm.
La Salle Street
A retrofitting project of a two-storey bungalow house at 50 La Salle Street on a freehold land
area of 556 sqm and gross floor area of 354 sqm. The Temporary Occupation Permit was
obtained in February 1999.
Tanah Merah Besar
A proposed development of four units of three-storey semi-detached house at 122/122B and
993 Mk 31, Tanah Merah Besar Road/Lane on a freehold land area of 896 sqm and gross
floor area of 1,103 sqm.
The Paterson Edge
Sixty-one units of nine-storey residential development at 26 Paterson Road, on a freehold land
area of 2,465 sqm and gross floor area of 6,901 sqm. The Temporary Occupation Permit is
expected by May 1999. The property has been pledged as security for a loan granted to a
subsidiary (Note 35).
The Edge On Cairnhill Road
A proposed 20-storey residential development at 130 Cairnhill Road, on a freehold land area
of 4,304 sqm and gross floor area of 12,051 sqm. The property has been pledged as security
for a loan granted to a subsidiary (Note 35).
Yan Kit Road
A proposed 10-storey residential development at 27 - 35 Yan Kit Road, on a freehold land
area of 2,283 sqm and gross floor area of 6,360 sqm.
Hill Street
A proposed 5-storey commercial development at 30 Hill Street, on a freehold land area of
2,865 sqm and gross floor area of 11,585 sqm. The property has been pledged as security for
a loan granted to a subsidiary (Note 35).
Banyu Biru and Indra–Maya Villas
Completed resort villa development in Bintan, Indonesia, comprise 12 units of Banyu Biru
Villas and 10 units of Indira Maya Villas.
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22. Stocks and Work–In–Progress – The Group

Work-in-progress, at cost and attributable profits less losses
Progress payments
Provision for foreseeable losses

36,994
78,897

38,894
91,591

115,891
(19,553)

130,485
(14,125)

96,338

116,360

2,025,955
(1,833,691)
(2,708)

2,130,372
(1,780,131)
(3,606)

189,556

346,635

285,894

462,995

The movements in provision for stock obsolescence and foreseeable losses during the period
are as follows:
Note
1998
1997
$’000
$’000
(a)

Provision for stock obsolescence:–
Balance at beginning of the period
Translation adjustments
Movements arising from acquisitions/
(disposals) of subsidiaries
Provision made during the period,
net of amount written back
Amount utilised

44

Balance at end of the period
(b)

14,125
(136)

11,728
(52)

505

(1,070)

6,690
(1,631)

8,291
(4,772)

19,553

14,125

Provision for foreseeable losses:
Balance at beginning of the period
Translation adjustments
Movements arising from acquisitions/
(disposals) of subsidiaries
Provision made during the period,
net of amount written back
Amount utilised
Balance at end of the period

44

3,606
–

4,297
(2)

632

(312)

232
(1,762)

2,500
(2,877)

2,708

3,606

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

6,588
8,382

14,296
4,569

14,970

18,865

10,320

17,322

23. Salvage Claims – The Group

Estimated claims
Agreed claims

Total salvage income taken to revenue
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Provision for stock obsolescence

1997
$000
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Stores and materials
Finished goods, purchased products and components

1998
$000
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24. Trade Debtors – The Group
Note
Trade debtors including work completed
but unbilled
Provision for doubtful debts
Amount due after one year

10

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

1,069,381
(26,403)

1,181,195
(33,207)

1,042,978
(441,077)

1,147,988
(62,986)

601,901

1,085,002

The movements in provision for doubtful debts during the financial period are as follows:
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Note
Balance at beginning of the period
Translation adjustments
Movements arising from acquisitions
of subsidiaries
Provision made during the period,
net of amount written back
Amount utilised

44

Balance at end of the period

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

33,207
33

12,203
(122)

3,242

2,405

(8,804)
(1,275)

26,183
(7,462)

26,403

33,207

Included in the trade debtors are retention monies on contracts amounting to $9,871,000
(1997: $13,958,000).

25. Due from Related Companies – The Group
1998
$’000

1997
$’000

Trade accounts
Loan accounts

49,147
12,811

28,630
1,978

Provision for doubtful debts

61,958
(2,867)

30,608
(2,106)

59,091

28,502

The movements in provision for doubtful debts during the financial period are as follows:
Note
Balance at beginning of the period
Translation adjustments
Movements arising from (disposals)
of subsidiaries
Provision made during the period, net of
amount written back
Amount utilised
Balance at end of the period

44

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

2,106
–

1,760
22

(349)

–

1,111
(1)

324
–

2,867

2,106

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

26. Due from Associated Companies – The Group
Note

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

Trade accounts
Loan accounts
Others

117,952
63,991
21,611

110,103
46,259
1,571

Provision for doubtful debts

203,554
(46,949)

157,933
(9,530)

156,605

148,403

135,959
20,646

148,403
–

156,605

148,403

13
10

Movements in provision for doubtful debts during the financial period are as follows:
Note

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

9,530
24
–

2,590
–
(514)

7,791
32,817
(3,213)

4,834
3,020
(400)

46,949

9,530

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

Trade accounts
Loan accounts
Others

26,780
147,067
2,929

78,108
78,419
(870)

Provision for doubtful debts

176,776
(8,178)

155,657
(6,476)

168,598

149,181

Balance at beginning of the period
Translation adjustment
Reclassification to long-term investment
Provision made during the period
– trade
– loans
Amount utilised
Balance at end of the period

9
44
47

27. Due from Joint Ventures – The Group

The loan accounts include $5,250,000 1% unsecured loan stocks 1999 which may, at the
option of a subsidiary, be converted at a certain ratio into shares in whole or in part at any
time prior to the maturity date provided that all the stockholders shall convert the stocks at the
same time.
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Amount due within 12 months
Amount due after 12 months
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27. Due from Joint Ventures – The Group (Cont’d)
The movements in provision for doubtful debts during the financial period are as follows:
Note

Balance at beginning of the period
Provision made during the period
– trade
– loans
Amount utilised

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

6,476

40

3
1,700
(1)

1
6,435
–

8,178

6,476

1998
$’000

The Group
1997
$’000

The Company
1998
$’000

19,530
22,505
8,513
63,990
22,331
2,986

22,028
24,758
11,925
107,530
10,231
1,474

–
7
–
25
–
–

139,855
(384)

177,946
(436)

32
–

139,471

177,510

32

44
47
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Balance at end of the period

28. Other Debtors, Deposits and Prepayments

Deposits
Prepayments
Tax recoverable
Sundry debtors
Recoverables
Interest receivable

Provision for doubtful sundry debtors

The movements in provision for doubtful sundry debtors during the financial period are as
follows:
The Group
Note
1998
1997
$’000
$’000
Balance at beginning of the period
Translation adjustments
Movements arising from acquisitions
of subsidiaries
Amount written back
Amount utilised
Balance at end of the period

44

436
6

1,535
58

–
–
(58)

55
(312)
(900)

384

436

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

1997
$’000

Quoted:
– Equity shares
– Bonds and loan stocks
Unquoted:
– Bonds and loan stocks
– Floating Rate Notes
– Funds under management
– Other

6,097
358

8,873
5,010

472
26,000
–
522

7,971
–
1,316
2,170

Provision for diminution in value of investments

33,449
(2,852)

25,340
(2,852)

30,597

22,488

3,382
370

6,048
4,008

Market value
– Quoted equity shares
– Quoted bonds and loan stocks

The movements in provision for diminution in value of investments during the financial period
are as follows:
Note
1998
1997
$’000
$’000
Balance at beginning of the period
Provision made during the period
Amount utilised
Adjustments due to disposal of subsidiary

44

Balance at end of the period

2,852
–
–
–

655
2,852
(647)
(8)

2,852

2,852

The Floating Rate Notes are issued by a related corporation, and guaranteed by another
related corporation. Interest on the Floating Rate Notes is at an annual rate ranging from
2.19% to 4.39 % per annum.

30. Bank Balances, Deposits and Cash – The Group
Fixed deposits amounting to $8,040,000 (1997: $5,825,000) were used to secure bank
facilities granted to subsidiaries.

31. Excess of Progress Billings over Work-In-Progress – The Group

Progress billings received and receivable
Work–in–progress, at cost

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

54,673
(20,395)

162,558
(130,006)

34,278

32,552
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1998
$’000
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29. Short–Term Investments – The Group

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. Other Creditors and Accrued Charges
1998
$’000

The Group
1997
$’000

The Company
1998
$’000

110,076
321,632
8,104
21,399

100,416
369,531
3,933
4,564

18
140
–
–

10,788

10,170

–

41,185
26,184
9,100
5,500

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

30,029

20,014

–

47

10,380

–

–

45

150,000
1,578
39,578

–
2,691
35,065

–
–
–

785,533

546,384

158
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Note

Other creditors
Accrued operating expenses
Deposits
Accrued interest payable
Provision for:
– staff benefits and incentives
– share of losses in:
– subsidiaries
– associated companies
– joint venture company
– contingent losses
– losses on cessation/disposal
of subsidiaries
– commitment of investment in a
subsidiary and investee companies
– net exposure arising from
legal claims
Purchase of fixed assets
Other provisions

47

The movements in provisions during the financial period are as follows:
The Group
Note

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

10,170
(91)
12,248

8,152
(275)
10,533

506
(12,045)

–
(8,240)

10,788

10,170

45,848
(4,663)

–
–

41,185

–

35,780
(496)

–
–

35,284

–

Provision for:
(i) Staff benefits and incentives
Balance at beginning of the period
Translation adjustments
Provision made during the period
Movements arising from acquisitions
of subsidiaries
Amount utilised

44

Balance at end of the period
(ii) Share of losses in subsidiaries
Provision made during the period
Amount utilised

47

Balance at end of the period
(iii) Share of losses in associated and joint venture companies
Provision made during the period
Amount utilised
Balance at end of the period

47
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32. Other Creditors and Accrued Charges (Cont’d)

The Group

Note

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

20,014
16,000
(5,985)

–
29,998
(9,984)

30,029

20,014

35,065
2

26,192
14

(iv) Losses on cessation/disposal of subsidiaries
Balance at begining of the period
Provision made during the year
Amount utilised

47

Balance at end of the period

44

477

(193)

10,828
(6,794)

12,799
(3,747)

39,578

35,065

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

5,782
1,029

6,291
15,543

6,811

21,834

33. Due to Related Companies – The Group

Trade accounts
Loan accounts

The loans from related companies are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of
repayment.

34. Due to Associated Companies – The Group

Trade accounts
Loan accounts

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

28,965
29,762

30,202
18,851

58,727

49,053

Loans due to associated companies are unsecured and bear interest ranging from 0.56% to
4.8% (1997: 3.78% to 7.5%) per annum and have no fixed repayment terms.
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Balance at beginning of the period
Translation adjustments
Movements arising from acquisitions/(disposals)
of subsidiaries
Provision made during the period, net
of amount written back
Amount utilised

119

(v) Others (warranty, deferred maintenance
expenses and others)
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35. Term Loans – The Group
Note

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

428,220
617,500

439,290
453,390

14

1,045,720
(291,247)

892,680
(58,071)

15

754,473

834,609

Secured
Unsecured

Repayable within one year

Secured
Bank loans of $3,222,000 (1997:$3,594,000) are secured by a floating charge over the assets
of a subsidiary. Interest is charged at 1.25% above LIBOR and are repayable in equal
quarterly instalments of $90,000 (1997:$90,000) ending in 2007.

(ii)

Bank loans of $45,800,000 (1997:$51,600,000) are secured by a legal mortgage over the
leasehold property and a fixed and floating charge over all the assets of a subsidiary. These
loans are repayable within 1 to 2 years at interest rates ranging from 3.69% to 11% (1997:
5.13% to 11.1%) per annum.

(iii)

A bank loan of $12,616,000 (1997: $Nil) is secured by fixed deposits and assets of a
subsidiary amounting to $3,154,000 (1997: $Nil) and $22,119,456 (1997: $Nil) respectively.
The loan is repayable by 5 semi-annual instalments from 30 December 1997. Interest is
charged at 1.5% per annum over SIBOR.

(iv)

A loan of $3,156,552 (1997: $Nil) from a former related company is repayable in 78 equal
monthly instalments of $71,497 each commencing from July 1997. Interest is charged at 3.5%
per annum. The loan is secured by a first fixed charge on certain equipment of a subsidiary
with a net book value of $3,956,000 (1997: $Nil).

(v)

Bank loan of $712,000 (1997: $547,000) of an overseas subsidiary is supported by a standby
letter of credit from the bank of another subsidiary’s bank. It is on a 90-day rollover and bears
interest at a rate of 6% (1997: 7.43%) per annum.

(vi)

Bank loan in the form of a discounted bank bills facility of $509,000 (1997: $657,000) is
secured by a registered mortgage over the land and building of a subsidiary with a net book
value of $1,412,000 (1997: $1,551,000) and a registered equitable mortgage over the whole of
the assets of the subsidiary. The facility bears interest at a rate of 6% (1997: 6.93%) per
annum and is repayable over 9 years. Interest payment commenced in February 1993 whereas
the principal sum is repayable over 7 years which commenced in 1995.

(vii)

Bank loan of $1,230,000 (1997: $Nil) is secured on plant and equipment of a subsidiary with
a net book value of $1,169,000 (1997: $Nil).
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(i)

(viii) A bank loan of $1,567,000 (1997: $1,670,000) bears interest at rates ranging from 6.875% to
10.125% (1997: 6.875%) per annum and is secured by a legal mortgage over the land and
building of a subsidiary with net book value of $5,452,000 (1997: $5,425,000). It is
repayable in 160 equal monthly instalments.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Bank loans of $55,187,000 (1997: $57,418,000) bear interest at rates ranging from 3.3% to
9% (1997: 5% to 9.6%) per annum and are secured over the marine vessels and other fixed
assets of subsidiaries with net book value of $87,456,000 (1997: $89,303,000). The loans are
repayable in semi-annual instalments from date of drawdown.

(x)

A $37,887,900 (1997: $19,029,000) bank loan is secured by a charge over the shares of a
subsidiary and a guarantee from its parent. The loan bears interest at 1.25% per annum above
SIBOR and is payable in 11 equal semi-annual instalments with the first instalment
commencing in June 1999 and an additional final repayment on 14 August 2004.

(xi)

A $322,000 (1997: $737,000) bank loan is secured by certain assets of a subsidiary and a
banker’s guarantee. The loan bears interest of 1% per annum above SIBOR and is payable in
10 equal quarterly instalments commencing 1 October 1997.

(xii)

A bank loan of $80,000,000 (1997: $80,000,000) is secured on a freehold land. The loan is
payable over 3 years after 3 October 1997 (the first drawdown) or one month after the
issuance of Temporary Occupation Permit for the secured property, whichever is earlier, and
interest is charged at the bank’s funding costs plus 0.6% per annum.

(xiii) A bank loan of $19,900,000 (1997: $40,000,000) is secured on a freehold land. The loan is
payable over 3 years after 2 April 1997 (date of Facility Agreement) or 6 months after the
issuance of Temporary Occupation Permit for the secured property, whichever is earlier, and
interest is charged at swap cost plus 0.625% per annum.
(xiv) A bank loan of $49,000,000 (1997: $73,000,000) is secured on a freehold land and a
corporate guarantee from a subsidiary. The loan is repayable by end of 30 November 2000 or
3 months after the issuance of Temporary Occupation Permit, whichever is earlier. The loan
bears interest at 1.9% per annum above the bank’s first tier savings rate.
(xv)

A bank loan of $50,000,000 (1997: $40,000,000) is secured by land including the
development being carried out. The loan is repayable in 16 semi-annual instalments
commencing on the sixtieth month after the first drawdown and the first capital repayment is
due on 22 April 2002. The loan bears interest at three-month Singapore Dollar deposit rates
plus 1.5% per annum.

(xvi) Bank loans amounting to $67,110,000 (1997: $38,756,000) are secured over certain fixed
assets of the subsidiaries with a net book value of $92,165,000 (1997: $62,036,000).
(xvii) A bank loan of $Nil (1997: $32,282,000) is secured by a proportionate corporate guarantee
and assignment of rights, proceeds and/or benefits in respect of all lease/tenancy and sale and
purchase agreement, performance bonds, insurance, construction and other relevant
agreements/contracts of the project. The loan is payable in 15 quarterly instalments and final
repayment is due in August 2002. The loan bears interest at SIBOR plus 1.65% per annum.
Unsecured
(i)

Bank loans of $83,446,000 (1997: $83,446,000) bear interest at rates ranging from 2.49% to
6.61% per annum (1997: 3.63% to 8%) and are repayable within 12 months.

(ii)

A bank loan of $14,195,901 (1997: $Nil), bears interest at 1.5% above SIBOR per annum and
is repayable in six semi-annual instalments from July 2000.

(iii)

A bank loan to a subsidiary of $40,000,000 (1997: $Nil) drawn in 2 tranches, is repayable on
23 October 2001. $20,000,000 of the loan bears a fixed interest rate of 6.117% per annum
and the remaining $20,000,000 bears interest at the bank’s swap cost plus 1.25% per annum.
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35. Term Loans – The Group (Cont’d)
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35. Term Loans – The Group (Cont’d)
(iv)

A $3,985,000 (1997: $5,455,000) bank loan to a subsidiary is secured by a guarantee from its
parent. The loan was drawn in two tranches, and each bears interest rate at 1% per annum
above SIBOR. The first tranche is repayable in equal monthly instalments up to June 2000. The
second tranche is repayable in equal monthly instalments from April 1999 to September 2001.

(v)

A subsidiary issued three tranches of unsecured medium term notes of $50,000,000,
$55,000,000 and $50,000,000 totalling $155,000,000 during 1997 at interest rate of
4.9375%, 4.9375% and 5.5% respectively. These loans are redeemable at par in June 2002,
July 2002 and November 2002 respectively.
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The Group’s discontinuance of its property development and hospitality businesses and the
consequent write-downs and provisions made against the assets of the Group as disclosed in
note 47 has resulted in the subsidiary’s non-compliance with certain provisions and financial
covenants of the Trust Deed under which the notes are constituted. On 1 March 1999, the
noteholders passed an extraordinary resolution to waive compliance with the relevant financial
covenants and deleting and modifying the relevant provisions of the Trust Deed. In
consideration, the subsidiary has agreed to increase the interest rate payable on the notes by 50
basis points per annum, and the notes will be guaranteed by the Company. Alternatively the
noteholders may elect to require the subsidiary to redeem the notes at its principal amount
including any accrued interest thereon at the prevailing interest rate.
The amount of the notes that the subsidiary has been required to redeem pursuant to the above
scheme amounted to $36.75 million. These notes were redeemed in cash on 19 March 1999.
(vi)

A subsidiary issued $100,000,000 principal amount of 3.25% unsecured bonds in December
1997. According to the terms of the Trust Deed under which the bonds are constituted, the
bonds were originally redeemable by the subsidiary at par in December 2002.
The Group’s discontinuance of its property development and hospitality businesses and the
consequent write-downs and provisions made against the assets of the Group as disclosed in
note 47 has resulted in the subsidiary’s non-compliance with certain provisions and financial
covenants of the Trust Deed under which the 3.25% bond are constituted. On 1 March 1999,
the bondholders passed an extraordinary resolution to waive compliance with the relevant
financial covenants and deleting and modifying the relevant provisions of the Trust Deed. In
consideration, the subsidiary has agreed to increase the interest rate payable on the bonds from
3.25% to 3.75% per annum, and the bonds will be guaranteed by the Company. Alternatively
the bondholders may elect to require the subsidiary to redeem the bonds at its principal
amount including any accrued interest thereon at the interest rate of 3.25% per annum.
The amount of the bonds that the subsidiary has been required to redeem pursuant to the above
scheme amounted to $86.25 million. These bonds were redeemed in cash on 19 March 1999.
Alternative Accounting Treatment under International Accounting Standard No. 32 “Financial
Instruments: Disclosures & Presentation” (“IAS 32”)
In Singapore, the generally accepted accounting treatment for an issue of bonds with warrants
is to record the bonds at their principal value. However, under IAS 32, the proceeds of a bond
with warrant issue are allocated separately between the value of the bonds and the value of the
warrants. The discount on the value of the bonds is amortised to maturity and charged to the
profit and loss account. Had the subsidiary adopted the alternative accounting treatment
under IAS 32, the effects in relation to the bonds for the year would have been as follows:
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35. Term Loans – The Group (Cont’d)

102

9,005

9,005

(6,718)

Net increase in reserves
3.25%/3.75% Unsecured Bonds
Present value on initial recognition
Cumulative amortisation of bond discount
Present value at year end
(vii)

6,616

(102)

2,287

8,903

90,995
6,718

90,995
102

97,713

91,097

A bank loan of $95,000,000 (1997: $Nil) is repayable in full on 1 April 2001. Interest is
charged at 5.25% per annum.

(viii) A bank loan of $50,000,000 (1997: $Nil) is repayable in full on 30 May 2000. Interest
is charged at 7.25% per annum.
(ix)

Other unsecured bank loans are repayable within 1 to 5 years and interest is charged at
rates ranging from 1.25% to 7.25% (1997: 1.25% to 9.6%) per annum.

36. Loan Stocks (Unsecured) – The Group

Repayable within one year
Repayable after one year

Note

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

14
15

–
10,000

4,508
10,000

10,000

14,508

Loan stock issued by a subsidiary in respect of a $70,000,000 1.5% Convertible Unsecured
Loan Stock on 25 October 1993 was redeemed by the subsidiary on 25 October 1998. Holders
of the loan stocks were entitled to convert every $3 principal amount of the Loan Stock into
one ordinary share of the subsidiary company at any time from the date of the issue of the Loan
Stock to the date of redemption. The expenses incurred for the issue of the Loan Stock were
amortised to the profit and loss account over a period of 5 years.
The redeemable unsecured loan stocks of a subsidiary amounting to $10,000,000 are
redeemable on 31 October 2000 or convertible to ordinary shares of the subsidiary at the
option of the loan stock holders on 31 October 2000. Interest at the rate of 6% per annum
shall be due and payable on 31 October 2000 subject to certain conditions. In the opinion of
the directors of the subsidiary, such interest is not likely to be due for payment then.
Accordingly, no interest has been accrued in the financial statements of the subsidiary. If
accrued, the interest would amount to $1,762,000 (1997: $1,152,000).
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Balance Sheet:
Increase in capital reserve representing value
of warrants, net of issue expenses
Reduction in revenue reserve representing
cumulative amortisation of bond discount

The Group
1997
$’000
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Profit and loss account:
Reduction in profit before taxation representing
the amortisation of the bond discount

1998
$’000
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37. Short-term Loans – The Group
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Secured
Unsecured

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

400
810,484
810,884

12,680
1,211,287
1,223,967

(i)

A short-term bank loan of $400,000 (1997: $672,000) is secured on plant and machinery
of a subsidiary with a net book value of approximately $1,521,000 (1997: $1,958,400).
Interest is charged at approximately 6.4% (1997: 11.1%) per annum.

(ii)

A short-term bank loan of $Nil (1997: $2,008,000) which was secured on short term
bank deposits of a subsidiary amounting to $Nil (1997: $2,194,000) was fully repaid in
the current financial period.

(iii) A short-term bank loan of $Nil (1997: $10,000,000) is secured on land and development
properties of a subsidiary with a net book value of $Nil (1997: $13,722,000).

38. Hire Purchase and Lease Creditors – The Group
Note

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

11,142
(1,416)

14,613
(1,396)

14

9,726
(3,285)

13,217
(3,418)

15

6,441

9,799

Minimum lease payments
Finance charges allocated to future periods

Due within one year

Included in the above is an amount of $5,943,000 (1997: $6,588,000) which is secured on the
primemovers, trailers and forklifts acquired under hire purchase contracts having net book
value of $9,864,000 (1997: $9,401,000).

39. Bills payable – The Group
Bills payable amounting to $Nil (1997: $3,162,000) are secured by a legal mortgage over the
building of a subsidiary with net book value of $Nil (1997: $5,425,000).
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40. Bank Overdrafts – The Group
Note

Secured
Unsecured

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

5,080
32,992

11,257
107,673

38,072

118,930

Bank overdraft of $Nil (1997: $2,028,000) is secured by a legal mortgage over the land and
building and plant and machinery of subsidiaries with net book value of $Nil (1997:
$17,557,000).

41. Provision for Third Party Stock Loss – The Group
This is in respect of provision made for any losses, claims and other adversities that may arise
in the course of managing stocks for customers. The movement in the provision during the
financial period are as follows:
Note
Balance at beginning of the period
Provision made during the period,
net of amount written back
Balance at end of the period

44

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

7,880

6,789

(864)

1,091

7,016

7,880

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

Bank overdraft of $5,080,000 (1997: $5,729,000) is secured by a floating charge over all the
assets of a subsidiary.
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Bank overdraft of $Nil (1997: $3,500,000) is secured on fixed deposit of $Nil (1997:
$3,500,000) of a subsidiary.
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42. Other Long-term Liabilities – The Group

Deferred grants
Amount due to minority shareholder
Other long term loan
Provision for retirement benefits and gratuities
Long-term retention monies payable
Purchased goodwill payable
Provision for quarry restoration and relocation

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

89
29,228
2,500
4,926
212
1,800
4,500

234
253
2,500
5,404
1,856
2,225
9,230

43,255

21,702

The movements in provisions during the financial period are as follows:
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Note

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

5,404

5,334

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

Provision for retirement benefits and gratuities
Balance at beginning of the period
Movements arising from (disposals)
of subsidiaries
Translation adjustments
Provision made during the period,
net of amount written back
Amount utilised

44

–
–

(279)
(1)

419
(897)

506
(156)

4,926

5,404

9,230
(2,527)
(2,203)

9,230
–
–

4,500

9,230

Provision for quarry restoration and relocation
Balance at beginning of the period
Write back of provision during the period
Amount utilised

44

The loan relates to a loan from a shareholder of an unquoted equity investment held by a
subsidiary. The loan is unsecured, interest free and is repayable after 12 months. The
subsidiary has granted an option to this shareholder to purchase all of the subsidiary’s interest
in the unquoted equity investment for $2,500,000 (1997: $2,500,000).
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43. Turnover – The Group
1998
$’000

1997
$’000

237,393
27,918
335,012

201,485
28,042
225,967

144,225
93,240

151,678
103,991

7,830
426,801
586,720
1,829,397
169,335

7,699
336,461
479,302
1,478,737
244,448

18,348
23,847

19,477
32,046

3,900,066

3,309,333

44. Profit before Taxation
The Group
Note

1998
$’000

The Company

1997
$’000

1998
$’000

583
2,372

608
1,746

20
–

236
361

129
519

–
–

2,020
–

1,430
109

–
–

49
89
1,433
145,876

336
60
448
110,952

–
–
–
–

Profit before taxation is arrived at:
After Charging:
Auditors’ remuneration
– auditors of the Company
– other auditors
– fees for other professional
services paid/payable to
– auditors of the Company
– other auditors
Amortisation of:
– Deferred expenditure
– Loan stock issue expenses
Bad debts written off:
– Trade
– Other
Deferred expenditure written off
Depreciation of fixed assets

12

12
4
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Food Supplies
Abattoir, auction and related services
Sales of computer equipment and software
Software development, maintenance and other
services
Sales of consumer durables
Discount revenue from airline ticketing/
hotel reservations
Construction related activities
Sales of goods
Services rendered (net)
Integrated logistics services
Rental income and property management
service fees
Others
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Turnover comprises the following:–
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44. Profit before Taxation (Cont’d)
The Group
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Note

Directors’ remuneration
– directors of the Company
Fixed assets written off
Interest expense:
– Related companies
– Associated companies
and joint ventures
– Unsecured loan stocks
– Bank loans and others
Investment property written off
Loss on disposal of:–
– trading securities
– associated company
Preliminary expenses written off
Provision for doubtful debts, net
of amount written back
– Associated companies
and joint ventures
– Related companies
– Trade debtors
– Hire purchase and lease
receivables
– Long term receivables
Provision for:
– stock obsolescence
– foreseeable losses on development
properties
– foreseeable losses
– warranty
– deferred maintenance of floating
docks, cranes and other major
facilities
– staff benefits and incentives
– third party stock loss
– retirement benefits and gratuities
Provision for diminution in
value of investments:–
– long-term
– short-term
Research and development
expenditure
Stocks written off

1998
$’000

The Company
1997
$’000

1998
$’000

3,139
6,843

1,653
2,497

–
–

979

1,046

–

409
420
96,390
210

474
70
59,695
–

–
–
–
–

–
60
47

334
–
256

–
–
–

26,27
25
24

7,794
1,111
–

4,835
324
26,183

–
–
–

11
10

2,524
17,174

–
–

–
–

22

6,690

8,291

–

21
22
32

1,292
232
8,672

3,000
2,500
11,161

–
–

32
32
41
42

5,959
12,248
–
419

1,638
10,533
1,091
506

–
–
–
–

9
29

1,763
–

6,756
2,852

–
–

5,092
534

6,050
54

–
–

5
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44. Profit before Taxation (Cont’d)
The Group
Note

1998
$’000

The Company
1997
$’000

1998
$’000

–

55

–

74
–
7,989

51
150
16,134

–
–
–

435
639

2,086
178

–
–

1,416
338

723
675

–
69,477

13,191

593

–

10,367
28,151

4,769
21,390

–
–

21,583

12,918

–

124
747

–
884

–
–

11
24
28

–
8,804
–

5,031
–
312

–
–
–

32
42

3,803
2,527
915
864

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
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45. Exceptional Item - The Group
In November 1993, Sembawang Corporation Limited (“SCL”) was awarded a $230 million
contract by Allseas, owners of the vessel Solitaire (“the Owners”) for the conversion of a bulk
carrier into a dynamically positioned pipe lay vessel. The Owners terminated the contract on
24 October 1995 before works were fully completed alleging failure on the part of SCL to
complete the project in time as well as for breaches of certain contractual obligations. SCL is
challenging this action of termination and is counter-claiming for damages and work done
prior to the wrongful termination.
Arbitration commenced in London between SCL and the Owners in 1996.
Since then, two main hearings and several preliminary issues hearings have taken place over
the last three years on various issues, amongst others, an assessment of the Owners’ ability to
recover loss of profit and the design responsibility of SCL.
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Amortisation of discount on bonds
Bad debts recovered
– Trade
– Non-trade
Exchange gain
Grants received:
– Income related
– Assets related
Gross dividend income:
– Quoted equity investments
– Unquoted equity investments
Interest income:
– Related companies
– Associated companies and
joint ventures
– Banks and others
Profit from disposal of:
– Fixed assets
– Investments
– Quoted
– Unquoted
Write back of provision for
doubtful debts:
– Hire purchase and lease receivables
– Trade debtors
– Other debtors
Write back of provision for:
– deferred repair and
maintenance expense
– quarry restoration and relocation
– advances to third party
– third party stock loss
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And Crediting:
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45. Exceptional Item – The Group (Cont’d)
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The Owners’ claims totalled approximately GBP142 million (equivalent to approximately
$410 million). SCL has filed claims totalling approximately $231 million (comprising $137
million for Variation Orders Requests and $94 million for work done but which was not paid)
less the offset of $115 million in respect of the balance of the original contract value. The net
balance of the cost of work-in-progress in SCL’s books stood at $86 million as at 31 December
1998. These claims and counter claims could result in a net exposure of approximately $150
million for SCL.
The latest hearing which took place in September 1998 lasted 12 weeks. The main issue was
whether SCL was in repudiatory breach of its obligations. Following the latest hearing, the
Tribunal has recently indicated that it has not reached a final decision on the issue of
termination. A hearing is now scheduled for September 1999 to deal with the state of
completeness of the vessel as at the date of termination. Further evidence on the issue
concerning termination will be given to the Tribunal in a final hearing on termination, which
is expected to commence in September 2000.
Notwithstanding the fact that the Owners’ alleged claim of the right to terminate the contract
has not been decided upon by the Tribunal, the Directors and management feel that it will be
most prudent to provide a one-time exceptional item of $150 million in the financial year.
This provision is made for financial prudence only and merely reflects a cautious approach to
discount the difference that may result from the extreme positions of winning or losing the
case. It is in no way an admission of any fault or liability as SCL intends to continue to
strenuously defend its position that the Owners’ termination was unlawful.

46. Taxation
The Group
Note

Taxation charge in respect of
profit for the period
– Current taxation
– Deferred taxation

Adjustment in respect of prior years
– Current taxation
– Deferred taxation

Share of:
– associated companies’ taxation
– joint ventures’ taxation

The Company

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

1998
$’000

83,271
(1,729)

56,988
(37)

18,064
–

81,542

56,951

18,064

(872)
(9,337)

(6,082)
(1,232)

–
–

(10,209)

(7,314)

–

8,348
3,775

30,329
3,481

–
–

12,123

33,810

–

83,456

83,447

18,064

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

46. Taxation (Cont’d)
The tax charge is higher than the amounts arrived at by applying the statutory tax rate of 26%
less the one-off tax rebate of 10% to the profit for the year excluding those income falling
under Overseas Enterprise Incentive Scheme primarily because of the non-deductibility of
certain expenses for taxation purposes, and the tax losses of certain subsidiaries which are not
available for set-off against the profits of the other subsidiaries in the Group.
As at balance sheet date, subsidiaries within the Group have unutilised tax losses and
investment allowances amounting to approximately $102,166,000 (1997: $133,912,000)
available for set-off against future taxable income subject to the provisions of the Income Tax
Act and agreement by the Comptroller of Income Tax.

Balance carried forward

1998
$’000

32

(35,780)
–

–
(48)

32
7
8
9

(45,848)
(65,066)
(39,010)
(145,088)

–
(1,210)
(2,680)
(6,714)

26
27
10

(32,817)
(1,700)
(11,509)
–

(3,020)
(6,435)
–
(445)

122,092
133
(8,885)
(2,632)

3,113
–
15,911
4,557

32

1997
$’000

(902)
–

6,330
(1,550)

(16,000)

(29,998)

–

288

–

(1,112)

–
–

(765)
(318)

–

(13,339)

(283,012)

(37,435)
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Provision made in respect of foreseeable losses in
associated and joint venture companies
Ex-gratia payment for downsized operations
Provision for diminution in value of investment in:
– subsidiaries
– associated companies
– joint ventures
– others held for long-term
Provision for amounts due from:
– associated companies
– joint ventures
– others
Amount due from associated company written off
Gain/(Loss) on disposals of:
– long-term investments
– joint ventures
– associated companies
– subsidiaries
Share of extraordinary items of associated
companies
Provision for cessation costs
Provision for losses relating to cessation/
disposal of subsidiaries
Gain on disposal of property of a subsidiary on
cessation of business
Rationalisation expense relating to relocation of a
subsidiary’s factory
Provision for cost relating to the liquidation
of a subsidiary
Unconditional cash offer expense of a subsidiary
Provision for loss of value of fixed assets and
assets under construction due to decision
to restructure operations

Note
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47. Extraordinary Items – The Group
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47. Extraordinary Items – The Group (Cont’d)
Note

1998
$’000

Balance brought forward
Provision for development properties:
– foreseeable losses
21
– losses incurred subsequent to decision
to exit business
Write-off of payment of bank loan on behalf
of investee company
Write down of fixed assets
Write off of loans to a subsidiary and an associated company
Provision for commitments of investment
in subsidiary and investee companies
32
Compensation for loss of office
Provision for non-cancellable operating
lease commitments
Write-off of fixed assets due to early termination
of leases and cessation of business
Provision for contingent losses
32
Write-off of losses from intended joint venture
Others

(283,012)

Minority interests

1997
$’000
(37,435)

(127,268)

–

(9,042)

–

(1,178)
(64,903)
(74,776)

–
–
–

(10,380)
(1,878)

–
–

(379)

–

(3,951)
(5,500)
(340)
1,459

–
–
–
–

(581,148)
123,158

(37,435)
(532)

(457,990)

(37,967)

48. Dividends
The Group
1998
$’000

The Company
1997
$’000

1998
$’000

Dividends paid in respect of prior year

–

23

–

Interim dividends:
– SCL (5% less tax at 26%)

–

8,207

–

Proposed final dividends:
– STIC (15% less tax at 26%)
– SCL (3% less tax at 26%)

–
–

18,987
4,960

–
–

Proposed final dividend of 10%
less tax at 26%

29,195

–

29,195

29,195

32,177

29,195

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

49. Unappropriated Profit Carried Forward – The Group

Retained in:
The Company
Consolidation adjustments

1997
$’000

20,168
(51,413)

–
–

(31,245)
(8,499)
27,672
(292,350)

–
388,908
124,346
(270,365)

(304,422)

242,889
133

Subsidiaries
Associated and joint venture companies
Goodwill on acquisition written off

1998
$’000

Earnings per share is calculated based on the consolidated (loss)/profit attributable to the
shareholders, being net (loss)/profit after taxation and minority interests and preference share
dividend but before extraordinary items of ($59,704,000) (1997: $89,702,000), on the
weighted average $1,578,010,000 (1997: $1,577,856,000), fully paid ordinary shares in issue
during the year.
Fully diluted earnings per share in respect of unissued shares of the Company under option has
not been shown as the effect is not material.

51. Cash and Cash Equivalents – The Group
Cash and cash equivalents included in the cash flow statement comprise the following balance
sheet amounts:
1998
1997
$’000
$’000
Bank balances, deposits and cash
Bank overdrafts
– secured
– unsecured

578,854

508,828

(5,080)
(32,992)

(11,257)
(107,673)

540,782

389,898

52. Holding Company
The ultimate holding company is Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited which is incorporated in
the Republic of Singapore.
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50. Earnings Per Share – The Group
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53. Related Party Transactions – The Group
In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the
Group had the following significant transactions with related parties during the period at terms
agreed between the parties as follows:
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Immediate Holding Company
Management fee paid/payable
Related Companies
Corporate costs recovery
Sales
Rental income received/
receivable
Expenses recovered
Purchases including rental
Management fees paid/payable
Sale of investment in subsidiaries in exchange for shares
Partial disposal of shares in ST Capital Limited in
exchange for remaining equity interest in
Singapore Technologies Logistics Pte Ltd
Share exchange under scheme of amalgamation
Sales of quoted investments
Associated Companies and Joint Ventures
Corporate costs recovery
Sales
Rental income received/receivable
Purchases including rental
Charter of vessels

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

–

3,192

53
167,435

1,434
235,169

2,174
148
5,071
4,459
–

1,962
1,594
12,365
–
23,754

–
–
180,727

49,685
122,807
–

562
113,645
487
6,138
3,198

496
72,600
166
4,045
2,272

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

–

443

151,048

256,582

192,214
21,486
200

138,960
12,710
–

289,041
19,512

2,140
–

54. Contingent Liabilities (Unsecured) – The Group

Letters of guarantee granted on behalf of third party
Performance guarantees of subsidiaries and related
companies
Guarantees given to banks to secure banking
facilities provided to:
– Associated companies
– Joint venture companies
– Investee company
– Subsidiary and an associated company of
joint venture companies
– Others

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

54. Contingent Liabilities (Unsecured) – The Group (Cont’d)
In addition, at 31 December 1998, the subsidiaries have the following significant contingent
liabilities:

55. Commitments – The Group
Commitments not provided for in the financial statements are as follows:

Capital expenditure for:
Commitments in respect of contracts placed
Construction of new building
Amounts approved by directors but not contracted
Commitments for purchases of land
Long term loan to an associated company
Investment in a joint venture
Uncalled capital and commitments to subscribe for
additional shares in investments

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

2,969
92,272
–
30,656
4,684
–

260,784
26,704
145,576
–
–
1,950

27,798

21,582

158,379

456,596

As at the balance sheet date, outstanding commitments in respect of the following financial
derivatives which were entered into as part of the subsidiaries’ treasury management activities,
are as follows:

Interest rate swap agreements with notional
amounts equivalent to
Currency swap commitments
Forward exchange contracts for hedging purposes

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

459,355
44,670
30,929

98,500
44,670
29,093

534,954

172,263

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

(b) A claim filed in 1982 by a contractor against a subsidiary, in which the Court of Appeal
declared that the contractor was entitled to damages and costs to be assessed, was settled
amicably on 3 September 1997. By a Deed of Indemnity dated 22 November 1986, the
former holding company of the subsidiary had agreed to indemnify the subsidiary for any
damages and costs which may be payable to the contractor in respect of the claim. The
settlement reached with the contractor therefore has no financial impact on the financial
statements.
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(a) An incentive payment amounting to $2,354,360 (1997: $2,371,400) is to be made to a major
shareholder of an associated company upon that associated company being listed on any
recognised stock exchange within a stipulated time frame and achieving an agreed initial
offer price.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

55. Commitments – The Group (Cont’d)
At the balance sheet date, commitments in respect of payments for non-cancellable operating
leases with a term of more than one year are as follows:
1998
$’000

1997
$’000

44,764
75,018
105,864

38,934
74,043
112,171

225,646

225,148

Lease payments due:
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Within 1 year
Between 1 and 5 years
After 5 years

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

56. Subsequent Events – The Group
Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the following significant events took place :–
(i)

Sembawang Marine and Logistics Limited (“SML”) acquired the entire share capital of
Singapore Technologies Logistics Pte Ltd from STIC for $126 million. The consideration
is satisfied by new issued shares of SML which STIC renounced in favour of Sembawang
Corporation Limited for $126 million. The Group realised an extraordinary gain of
about $19,889,000. Subsequent to that, SML changed its name to SembCorp
Logistics Ltd.

(ii) Singapore Food Industries (Pte) Limited acquired additional 4.5% equity interest in
Primary Industries Pte Ltd from SembFood Pte Ltd for a consideration of $4,049,000. No
effect is expected on the Group as both companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries within
the Group.

(iii) STIC acquired additional equity interest in ST Computer Systems Services Limited
(“STCS”) for a consideration of $1,998,820, thus, increasing the Group’s effective interest
in STCS from 59.75% to 60.87%.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

56. Subsequent Events – The Group (Cont’d)
(iv) Delifrance Asia Ltd (“DAL”) set up a wholly-owned subsidiary in Shanghai, People’s
Republic of China, to manufacture and sell French bakery and pastry products and
operate cafe-bakeries. This subsidiary, Shanghai Delifrance Foodstuff Co. Ltd, was
incorporated on 15 January 1999 with an authorised and paid-up capital of
US$1,000,000 and US$700,000 respectively. In addition, an associated company, DLF
(Thailand) Ltd, was set up in Thailand on 12 January 1999. The authorised and paid-up
capital is THB5,000,000. DAL holds 49% of the paid-up capital.

(vi) On 5 February 1999, Pacific Internet Limited (“PI”) launched its initial public offer of
3,000,000 ordinary shares of $2 per share, at an offer price of US$17 per share on the
Nasdaq Stock Market’s National Market (“NASDAQ”) in New York. 2,100,000 and
900,000 ordinary shares were offered by PI and its existing shareholders respectively.
The Group divested 815,516 ordinary shares and realised an extraordinary gain of $22
million. The Group now holds 54.6% of PI.
With PI’s registration on the NASDAQ, in accordance with an agreement entered into
with its holding company, Sembawang Ventures Pte Ltd (“SV”), PI reacquired a direct
50.01% interest in Hong Kong Supernet Limited from SV by the issue of shares in PI to
SV in the aggregate value of $4.1 million, comprising 143,566 ordinary shares of $2 each
at US$17 per share.

(vii) Pacific Internet Limited (“PI”) was informed that two U.S. based companies are alleging
that each of them owns certain rights in the name “Pacific Internet” and that PI use of the
name “Pacific Internet” in the United States infringes upon the complaining companies’
rights in such name. As PI does not regularly conduct business in the United States, such
allegations appear to relate to the conduct of the initial public offering and the
anticipated trading of the shares on the NASDAQ. PI has reviewed the nature of the
infringement claims and the relevant facts, and believed that there has been no
infringement by PI of the complaining companies’ rights.

(viii) SembCorp Engineering Pte Ltd transferred its interests in Sembawang Construction Pte
Ltd to SembCorp Construction Pte Ltd with effect from 1 January 1999.
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Sembawang Corporation Ltd and Sembawang Resources Limited redeemed $36.75
million of Medium Term Notes and $86.25 million of Bonds respectively .
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(v)
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57. Business Segment Analysis – The Group
Turnover

Profit/(Loss) before taxation
1998
1997
$’000
$’000

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

Infrastructure
Construction & Engineering
Logistics Management
Industrial Parks
Others

1,286,797
420,704
15,446
–

1,304,544
25,632
437,573
–

48,846
53,029
7,171
(2,354)

30,541
53,619
10,250
6,092

Information Technology

1,722,947
538,329

1,767,749
420,735

106,692
33,425

100,502
19,928

935,285

537,440

(50,988)

29,817

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES
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By Industry Segment

Marine Engineering
Leisure & Lifestyle
Leisure and lifestyle
Food Processing &
Distribution

161,670

242,433

(1,262)

4,824

417,876

259,726

34,406

22,987

Corporate and Others

579,546
123,959

502,159
81,250

33,144
(59,100)

27,811
24,951

3,900,066

3,309,333

63,173

203,009

Total

Percentage of
Assets Employed
1998
1997
%
%
By Industry Segment
Infrastructure
Construction & Engineering
Logistics Management
Industrial Parks
Others

17
13
3
2

17
14
3
2

Information Technology

35
5

36
4

Marine Engineering

24

20

6
4
1

6
4
–

11
25
100

10
30
100

Leisure & Lifestyle
Leisure & Lifestyle
Food Processing & Distribution
Others

Corporate and Others

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

57. Business Segment Analysis – The Group (Cont’d)
Turnover

Profit before taxation
1998
1997
$’000
$’000

1998
$’000

1997
$’000

3,446,270
268,293
185,503

2,912,383
247,770
149,180

75,363
(13,277)
1,087

199,337
5,435
(1,763)

3,900,066

3,309,333

63,173

203,009

The operations of the Company and its subsidiaries are based predominantly in Singapore.
Through its investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures, the Group
has interests in Malaysia, Indonesia, Thailand, Brunei, People’s Republic of China, Hong
Kong, Australia, New Zealand, United Kingdom, Myanmar, India, Mauritius and United
States of America.

58. Comparative Figures
Certain items in the comparative figures have been reclassified so as to conform with the
current period’s presentation. The comparative figures have been restated to incorporate the
effect on the change in the accounting policies as set out in note 3 to the financial statements.
There are no comparative figures for the Company as the Company was incorporated during
the financial period. The comparative figures for the Group were derived from the financial
statements of the Scheme companies based on the pooling of interests method of accounting.
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Singapore
Rest of Asia
Others
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By Country of Incorporation
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59. Subsidiaries

Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business

Percentage
of equity
held
1998
%

Principal Activities

Cost of
Investment
1998
$’000

Held by the Company:
Singapore

100

Holding company
giving direction,
promoting international marketing
services and integrating
the activities of its
subsidiaries,
associated companies
and joint ventures

252,443

** Sembawang
Corporation
Limited

Singapore

100

Holding company
and provision of
management services

142,057

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES
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Singapore
Technologies
Industrial
Corporation
Ltd

394,500
The details of subsidiaries held by the Group are as follows:

Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business

Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%

Principal Activities

* Concode Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

100

100

Marketing industrial
machine tools, automotive
equipment and mint
products

SAFE Enterprises
Pte Ltd

Singapore

75

75

Sale of consumer durables
under the credit instalment
scheme and cash basis

Singapore

38.25

38.25

Under members’ voluntary
liquidation

SAFE & Mansfield
Travel Group Pte Ltd

Singapore

75

75

Provision of services relating
to corporate ticketing and
hotel reservations, outbound
and inbound travel and
conventions and exhibitions

** SAFE Superstore Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

75

75

Dormant

@ SAFE-KNT Travel
Pte Ltd

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

59. Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
%

Principal Activities
1997
%

Singapore

100

100

Provision of freight
forwarding, warehousing,
stores management and
general insurance services

Asia Pacific Logistic
Services Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Investment holding

Asia Pacific Air Cargo
Pte Ltd

Singapore

81

71.4

Dormant

@ ST Logistics
(USA) Inc.

United States
of America

100

100

Investment holding

@ Leo Services, Inc.

United States
of America

100

100

Export trading

@ Plexis Services, Inc.

United States
of America

100

100

Freight forwarding

United
Kingdom

100

100

Freight handling and
procurement of materials
and equipment

People’s
Republic of
China

51

51

Warehousing, cargo handling
and transportation services

ST-Airport Services Pte Ltd

Singapore

51

51

Supply of jet fuel, aviation
gasoline and related services

ST-KWE Logistics Pte Ltd

Singapore

51

51

Freight forwarding

Khong Guan Engineering
Private Limited

Singapore

100

100

Provision of integrated
warehousing services

Dangerous Goods
Management (Singapore)
Pte. Ltd.

Singapore

70

70

Freight forwarding,
transportation and packing
services for hazardous goods

ST Medical Services Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Provision of specialised
aeromedical, general health
care and occupational
medical services

Indonesia

70

70

Warehousing, logistics and
freight services

** ST Logistics (UK) Ltd

** Shenzhen ST–Anda
Logistics Co., Ltd.

@ PT ST Logistik Nusantara
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Singapore Technologies
Logistics Pte Ltd
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59. Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business
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ST Computer Systems &
Services Limited

Singapore

Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%
59.75

60.75

Principal Activities

Supply and maintenance,
systems development and
integration, project
implementation, facilities
management, system
support, servicing and
sale of computer equipment
and provision of consultancy

and software development

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

services
** Computer Processing
Services Limited

Hong Kong

59.75

60.75

Dormant

ChannelLinks Pte Ltd

Singapore

59.75

60.75

Dormant

Chartered Systems &
Networks Pte Ltd

Singapore

59.75

–

Trading of local area network software and hardware,

provision of maintenance and
network linking services
and the distribution of
computer products and
software
*

CSN Systems Sdn Bhd

** CSN Systems
(Thailand) Ltd
*

CSN Systems, Inc.
MicroAsia Private Limited

Malaysia

59.75

–

Distribution of computer
products and software

Thailand

59.75

–

Distribution of computer
products and software

Philippines

59.75

–

Distribution of computer
products and software

Singapore

59.75

60.75

Direct retail and distribution
of microcomputer products
and services

*

SCS Australia Pty Ltd

Australia

59.75

60.75

Marketing and development
of computer franchises

*

Claustral Pty Ltd

Australia

59.75

60.75

Marketing and development
of computer franchise

Hong Kong

59.75

60.75

Sale of computer equipment
and software and the
provision of related services

Malaysia

50.19

51.03

Sale of computer
equipment and software

** ST Computer Systems
(HK) Limited
*

SCS Computer Systems
Sdn Bhd

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

59. Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Principal Activities

* Computer Processing
Services (Malaysia)
Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

50.19

51.03

Sale of computer equipment
and software and data
processing services

* SCS Technologies Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

50.19

51.03

Dormant

@ SCS Computer Systems
(UK) Limited

United
Kingdom

59.75

60.75

Dormant

Singapore

59.75

60.75

Research, consultation and
implementation of schemes
and projects including the
supply of related hardware
for computer integrated
manufacturing and supercomputing

United States
of America

59.75

60.75

Provision of marketing and
local support for the Group’s
IT products and services

Brunei

41.83

42.53

Computer consultancy, sale
of computer equipment and
software, and the provision
of marketing, maintenance
and other computer related
services

* SCS New Zealand
Limited

New Zealand

47.8

48.6

Supply and distribution of
computer hardware and
software products and
support services

* Brimaur Technologies
Limited

New Zealand

47.8

48.6

Supply and distribution of
computer hardware and
software and peripheral

@ Advanced Computation
Centre Pte Ltd

Singapore

59.75

60.75

Under members’ voluntary
liquidation

@ STCS Electronics
Investments Pte Ltd

Singapore

38.68

39.07

Under members’ voluntary
liquidation

@ Computer Engineering
Systems Pte Ltd

Singapore

–

60.75

Dissolved during the period

@ Advanced Integration
Systems Pte Ltd

Singapore

–

44.96

Dissolved during the period

Singapore

48.4

–

Management of a regional
electronic commerce centre

STCS Systems Pte Ltd

@ SCS Systems, Inc.

* SCS Information
Technology Sdn Bhd

Commerce Network
Singapore Pte Ltd
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Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business

Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%

Principal Activities

** Singapore Food Industries
(Pte) Limited

Singapore

100

100

Importing, processing, and
manufacturing of food
products, wholesale and
retail distribution, butchery
and catering of cooked food

** LM Food Industries Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Investment holding

** ST Agritech International
Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Provision of technical and
management services for
agri-food business

** Primary Industries Pte Ltd

Singapore

78.5

78.5

Provision of abattoir services

** Hog Auction Market Pte Ltd

Singapore

78.5

78.5

Auctioneers of pigs

** Farmers Abattoir Pte Ltd

Singapore

78.5

78.5

Abattoir related activities

** International Cuisine
Limited

United
Kingdom

100

89.47

Production and marketing of
chilled ready-cooked food

People’s
Republic of
China

60

60

** Singapore Food
Development Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

66.67

** Myanmar ST Food
Industries Ltd

Myanmar

100

100

Distribution and trading of
food products

** ST Da-Sing Pte Ltd

Singapore

51

51

Investment holding

** ST Da-Yang Foods Pte Ltd

Singapore

51

51

Investment holding

** Shanghai Zhongxin
Agriculture Co., Ltd

People’s
Republic of
China

51

51

Rearing and sales of breeder
pigs and pigs for slaughter
and other related activities

** Wuxi Singapore
Industrial
Park Food Co Ltd

People’s
Republic of
China

79.12

79.12

Catering of cooked food (in
voluntary liquidation)

** Shanghai ST Food
Industries Co Ltd.

Manufacture
and sales of
frozen foodstuff
Investment holding

** Piesin Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

100

100

Dormant

** ST Seafood International
Pty Ltd

Australia

100

100

Dormant

** Primary Industries (Qld)
Pty Ltd

Australia

100

100

Investment holding
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Principal Activities

** Goldwhale Pty Ltd

Australia

51

51

Processing of seafood

** Schulz Fisheries Pty Ltd

Australia

50

50

Fishing of seafood

Singapore Precision
Industries Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Manufacturing, assembling,
fabricating, exporting and
general dealing in machinery
and parts, tools, equipment,
robots and hardware,
minting of coins, ingots,
medallions and the sale of
numismatic items

Singapore Mint Private
Limited

Singapore

100

100

Minting of coins, ingots,
medallion and the sale of
numismatic items

People’s
Republic
of China

52.17

52.17

Manufacturing and sales of
decelerators

Singapore

100

100

Provision for procurement
consultancy services and
sales of electrical products

@ Singapore Technologies
Industrial B.V.

Netherlands

100

100

Under members’ voluntary
liquidation

@ Singapore Technologies
Industrial
Corporation (USA)

United States
of America

100

100

Investment holding

@ Chartered Electronics,
Inc.

United States
Of America

100

100

Dormant

Japan

100

100

Marketing of products and
services provided by related
companies

Singapore

100

100

Investment holding and
dealing, and management of
treasury activities

British Virgin
Island

75

75

Investment holding

52.56

52.56

* Tianjin Everbest
Gear Co Ltd
Asia–Pacific Retail
Concepts Pte Ltd

@ SembCorp Industries K.K.
(formerly known as Singapore
Technologies Industrial K.K.)
STIC Investments Pte Ltd

** Cathech Investments
Ltd
Wuxi International
Management Services
Pte Ltd

Singapore

Provision of technical and
marketing services to
industrial parks
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Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business

Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%

Principal Activities

Regional Infrastructure
Management Pte Ltd

Singapore

52.56

52.56

Ventura Development
Pte Ltd

Singapore

55

55

Owner and manager of an
office cum retail store
complex

STIC Hotels
International Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Investment holding

STIC Garden City
Hotels Pte Ltd

Singapore

88.89

–

STIC Chengdu Hotel
Investment Pte Ltd

Singapore

82

82

45.1

45.1

Singapore

51

51

People’s
Republic of
China

65

–

Hotel development and
hotelier

SembCorp Energy Pte Ltd
(formerly known as
ST Energy Pte Ltd)

Singapore

100

–

Developments of investment
in and operations of power
plant

ST-Huaneng Energy
International Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

–

Dormant

SembCorp Construction
Pte Ltd (formerly known
as Singapore Technologies
Construction Pte Ltd)

Singapore

100

100

Building Contractor

ST Construction
(Int’l) Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Dormant

ST Construction
(Yangon) Limited

Myanmar

100

100

Dormant

Ventura (India) Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Dormant

** Sichuan Huayang
Garden City Hotel
Co Ltd
Sedona Hotel Bintan
Management Pte Ltd
@ Chongqing Zhong Xin
Garden City Hotel
Co Ltd

People’s
Republic of
China

Provision of project
management and
consultancy services

Provision of management
and consultancy services
to a hotel
Investment holding
Hotel owner

Hotel management
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Principal Activities

ST Development Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Dormant

Ventura Development
(DST) Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Investment holding

Singaruda Properties Pte Ltd

Singapore

#

100

Dormant

* PT Synergy Technology
Construction

Indonesia

80

80

Building contractor

* PT Indo-Precast Utama

Indonesia

100

100

Manufacturing of precast
slabs and other construction
related activities

* PT Indo Unggul Wasturaya

Indonesia

67

67

Provision of civil
construction, mechanical
and electrical services

* Sin-Ke (Tianjin)
Engineering &
Construction Co Ltd

People’s
Republic of
China

70

70

Project management and
construction related design
consultancy services

* Wuxi Sinlian Precast
Manufacturing Co Ltd

People’s
Republic of
China

85

85

Manufacturing of precast
slabs and other construction
related activities

Construction Technology
Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Building construction and
construction project
management

Contech Trading Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Manufacture and sale of
fibrecon and precast panels

Indonesia

60

60

Dormant

Contech Realty Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Investment holding

Contech-Meyer
Development Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Property development

Brunei

75

75

Building construction
and sub-contracting

Specon Builders Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Building construction,
sub-contracting and sale
of building materials

Contech Remedial
Engineering Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Remedial engineering

@ PT Contech Bulan

* Construction Technology
(B) Sdn Bhd
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Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business

Principal Activities

Contech Vietnam
Investment Pte Ltd

Singapore

#

100

Investment holding and
building construction

Condotel Investment
Pte Ltd

Singapore

#

100

Investment holding

* Warisan Kontractor (M)
Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

100

100

Under members’
voluntary liquidation

Singapore

100

100

Investment holding

People’s
Republic of
China

75

75

Manufacturing and
sales of tiles

** ST Infrastructure
Technologies (Mauritius) Ltd

Mauritius

100

100

Investment holding

** ST Infrastructure
Technologies (India) Pvt Ltd

India

80

80

Building construction

Singapore

60

60

Provision of consultancy
services in environmental
engineering

** Jurong Shipyard Limited

Singapore

59.82

70.64

Ship repair

** Jurong Shipbuilders
Private Limited

Singapore

59.82

70.64

Ship owner

** Jurong Shipping Company
Private Limited
(formerly known as
Sembawang Shipping
Company Private Limited)

Singapore

59.82

100

Ship owner

** Jurong Shipping Company
Beta Pte Ltd
(formerly known as
Sembawang Shipping
Company (Beta) Pte Ltd)

Singapore

59.82

100

Ship owner

** Jurong Shipping Company
Gamma Pte Ltd
(formerly known as
Sembawang Shipping
Company (Gamma) Pte Ltd)

Singapore

59.82

100

Ship owner

Singajaya Investment Pte Ltd
SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%

* Baoding Taili Pottery and
Porcelain Company Ltd

Singapore Environmental
Management Engineering
Services Pte Ltd
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Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%

Principal Activities

British Virgin
Islands

59.82

100

Investment holding

Singapore

59.82

70.64

Provision of
contract services

Hong Kong

59.82

70.64

Provision of
management services

** Dolphin Shipping Company
Private Limited

Singapore

59.82

70.64

Dormant

** JPL Corporation Pte Ltd

Singapore

41.87

49.45

Investment holding

** JPL Services Pte Ltd

Singapore

41.87

49.45

Equipment rental services
and trading in copper slag

** JPL Marine Works Pte Ltd

Singapore

41.87

49.45

Abrasive blasting, anticorrosion engineering
services

** JPL Construction Pte Ltd

Singapore

–

34.61

Civil and building
maintenance works

** JPL Industries Pte Ltd

Singapore

21.54

25.43

Processing and
distribution
of copper slag

** Jurong Technologies
Industrial Corpn. Pte Ltd

Singapore

35.89

42.38

Marine and
general electronic
and electrical works

** Compacific Engineering
Pte Ltd

Singapore

35.89

42.38

Production and sale of
simulators, game machines
and information display
systems

Malaysia

35.89

42.38

Electronic assembly

United States
of America

35.89

42.38

Investment holding

** Sembawang Shipyard
Pte Ltd

Singapore

59.82

70.64

Ship repairing and related
services

** SES Marine Services
(Pte) Ltd

Singapore

59.82

36.03

Marine services

Malaysia

59.82

36.03

Fabrication of metal
structures

Name

@ Tridex Investment Inc

** Jurong Marine
Contractors Private Limited
** Jurong Marine
Management Pte Limited

** Jurong Hitech (M)
Industries Sdn Bhd
** JTIC (USA) Corporation

** SES Engineering
(M) Sdn Bhd
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and place of
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Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business

Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%

Principal Activities

** Tat Wai Enterprise Pte Ltd

Singapore

–

42.38

Business of interior
decorators and consultants

** Vina Crafts Pte Ltd

Singapore

–

42.38

Sale and distribution of
classical replica furniture
and related furniture
products

** Design Development Atelier
International Pte Ltd

Singapore

–

33.92

Consultancy services for
interior design and
decorators

** Sembawang Shipyard
(S) Pte Ltd

Singapore

59.82

70.64

Investment holding

** Karimum Shiprepair
and Engineering Pte Ltd

Singapore

59.82

70.64

Investment holding

** PT Karimun Sembawang
Shipyard

Indonesia

38.88

45.92

Ship repairing and related
services

** Sinna Services Pte Ltd

Singapore

38.88

45.92

Ship repairing and related
services

** Bulk Trade Pte Ltd

Singapore

59.82

70.64

Bulk trading of marine
products

** Sembawang Jurong
Corrosion Control Pte Ltd

Singapore

47.86

56.51

Investment holding

** Jurong Marine Services
Pte Ltd

Singapore

58.49

61.33

Provision of tugging and sea
transportation services

** SembCorp Logistics Ltd
(formerly known as
Sembawang Marine &
Logistics Limited)

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Investment holding and
provision of tug services
for berthing and
docking of ships, port and
shipping related services

** Auto Batam Ferries &
Tours Pte Ltd

Singapore

40.01

36.41

Owning and operating of
passenger ferries

** Auto Batam Ferry
Services Pte Ltd

Singapore

40.01

36.41

Dormant

** Auto Batam Pte Ltd

Singapore

40.01

36.41

Dormant

** Star Ferry Services Pte Ltd

Singapore

40.01

36.41

Chartering of passenger
ferries

** Tioman Island Resort
Ferries Pte Ltd

Singapore

24

21.84

Owning and operating of
passenger ferries
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Principal Activities

** Dilmun Navigation
Company Limited

United
Kingdom

57.15

52.01

Owning and
operating of vessels

** Dilmun Navigation
Company Pty Limited

Australia

57.15

52.01

Agency services

Fiji

57.15

52.01

Agency services

** Dilmun Navigation (PNG) Papua New
Limited (formerly known as
Guinea
Bulk Transportation (PNG)
Pty Limited)

57.15

52.01

Charter of vessels

** Faversham Pte Ltd

Singapore

57.15

–

** Offshore Joint Services
Company of Singapore
Pte Ltd

Singapore

45.72

41.61

Investment holding

** Offshore Joint Services
(Bases) Company of
Singapore Pte Ltd

Singapore

39.89

36.3

Investment holding

Thailand

34.29

31.21

Supply of logistic services
to the offshore oil and gas
industry

** Precision Towing Pte Ltd

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Tug management services

** PTA Industries Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

57.15

52.01

Dormant

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Dormant

** Dilmun Navigation
Singapore
(Singapore) Pte Ltd (formerly
known as Sembawang
Henan Corporation Pte Ltd)

57.15

52.01

Dormant

** Sembawang Salvage
Management Pte Ltd

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Dormant

** SembCorp Salvage (I)
Pte Ltd (formerly known
as Sembawang Salvage (I)
Pte Ltd)

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Charter of vessels

** Dilmun Navigation (Fiji)
Limited

** Oil-Tex (Thailand)
Company Limited

** Semseas Agencies Pte Ltd

Dormant
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Principal Activities

** SembCorp Salvage (II)
Pte Ltd (formerly known
as Sembawang Salvage (II)
Pte Ltd)

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Charter of vessels

** SembCorp Salvage (III)
Pte Ltd (formerly known
as Sembawang Salvage (III)
Pte Ltd)

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Charter of vessels

** SembCorp Salvage (IV)
Pte Ltd (formerly known
as Sembawang Salvage (IV)
Pte Ltd)

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Charter of vessels

** SembCorp Salvage (V)
Pte Ltd (formerly known
as Sembawang Salvage (V)
Pte Ltd)

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Charter of vessels

** SembCorp Salvage (VI)
Pte Ltd (formerly known
as Sembawang Salvage (VI)
Pte Ltd)

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Charter of vessels

** SembCorp Salvage (VII)
Pte Ltd (formerly known
as Sembawang Salvage (VII)
Pte Ltd)

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Charter of vessels

** Sembawang
Shipmanagement Pte Ltd

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Ship management

** Semjom Agencies Pte Ltd

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Shipping agency services

** Semco Salvage Pte Ltd

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Dormant

Hong Kong

57.15

52.01

Dormant

** Semco (HK) Ltd
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Principal Activities

** Semco Salvage & Marine
Pte Ltd

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Towing, marine
transportation, charter of
vessels, port operations,
marine salvage

** SML Investments Pte Ltd

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Investment holding and
operating of passenger ferries

** SML Ocean Shipping (I)
Pte Ltd

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Charter of vessels

** SML Shipyard Pte Ltd

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Ship repair

** SMLazar Asia
Pacific Pte Ltd

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Dormant

** Singapore Offshore
Petroleum Services Pte Ltd

Singapore

71.44

68.01

Supply of logistics services to
the offshore oil and gas
industry

** SOPS Inter-Trans Service
Pte Ltd

Singapore

71.44

68.01

Dormant

** SOPS Investment Pte Ltd

Singapore

71.44

68.01

Dormant

** Singapore Oil Spill
Response Centre Pte Ltd

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Provision of services dealing
with oil spillages and
pollution control

** South East Pacific
Shipping Pte Ltd

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Dormant

** Umberpride Limited

United
Kingdom

57.15

52.01

Dormant

** Sem-PC Maritime Co Ltd

Thailand

48.58

31.21

Operation of container depot

** Sembawang Mulpha
Pte Ltd

Singapore

33.15

30.17

Charter of ferries

** SembCorp Express Pte Ltd
(formerly known as
Sembawang Express Pte Ltd)

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Provision of logistics services

Hong Kong

57.15

52.01

Provision of logistics services

** Sembawang Kimtrans
(S) Pte Ltd

Singapore

29.15

26.53

Project logistics, project
freight management,
procurement services, road
transport and warehousing

** Sembawang Aviation
Pte Ltd

Singapore

57.15

52.01

Dormant

** Sembawang Express
(HK) Ltd
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59. Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Name

** Semair Pte Ltd

Principal Activities

51.44

46.81

Dormant (In voluntary
liquidation)

United States
of America

57.15

52.01

Dormant

Singapore

59.37

56.29

Dormant

Netherlands
Antilles

32

29.13

Owning of
passenger ferries

Philippines

32

29.13

Operating of passenger
ferries

** Sembawang Wah Kwong
Shipping Pte Ltd

Singapore

29.15

26.53

Investment holding

** Anzaro Pte Ltd

Singapore

29.15

26.53

Investment holding and
general trading

** Elegance Carriers Inc.

Republic of
Liberia

29.15

26.53

Charter of vessels

** Welwin Shipping Ltd

Hong Kong

29.15

26.53

Shipowning

India

29.15

26.53

Provision of logistics
services

** Sembrown Equipment
Pte Ltd

Singapore

43.22

41.8

Rental of cranes and
equipment leasing (under
members’ voluntary
liquidation)

** SembCorp Engineering
Pte Ltd (formerly known
as Sembawang Engineering
and Construction Pte Ltd)

Singapore

100

100

Engineering, construction
fabrication and investment
holding

** Sembawang Engineering
Investments Pte Ltd

Singapore

95.72

95.2

Dormant

** SUT (Seraya) Pte Ltd
(formerly known as
Sembawang Engineering
and Construction
(Vietnam) Pte Ltd)

Singapore

100

100

Receipt and disposal of
industrial waste through high
temperature incineration
production, sale and
distribution of high grade
industrial water

** Pace Airconditioning &
Engineering Pte Ltd

Singapore

84

60

Design, installation and
servicing of air-conditioning
systems

** Sembwin Pte Ltd
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Singapore

@ Semair Inc.
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Country of
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and place of
business

** WaterJet Netherlands
Antilles N.V.
** Water Jet Shipping
Corporation

** Sembawang Shriram
Integrated Logistics (P) Ltd

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

59. Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Principal Activities

** Air Tech Products
Pte Ltd

Singapore

84

60

Sales and marketing of airconditioning parts and
accessories

** Environ Technologies
Pte Ltd

Singapore

–

39

Provision of air-conditioning
cleaning services

** Pasco Pte Ltd

Singapore

84

60

Dormant

** Pace Tower Tech
Pte Ltd##

Singapore

42.84

30.6

Dormant
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** Pace Teknikal Sistem
Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

84

36

Installation and servicing of
air-conditioning systems

@ PT Pace Dharmala
Airtech##

Indonesia

50.4

36

Supply, installation and
maintenance of air
conditioning systems

** Enviro Consult Singapore
Pte Ltd

Singapore

60

60

Provision of consultancy
and engineering services for
environmental engineering

** Sembawang-JTCI (China)
Pte Ltd

Singapore

51

51

Engineering,
construction and
project management

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business

** Sembawang Engineering
and Construction
International Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Engineering, construction
and fabrication

@ PT Sempec Indonesia

Indonesia

80

80

Engineering, procurement
and construction

** Sembawang (Malaysia)
Sdn Bhd##

Malaysia

45

45

Marketing of engineering
services

Singapore

100

100

Investment holding

** VSIP Power Pte Ltd

Vietnam

100

100

Build, own and operate an
electricity generation
plant in Vietnam

** Sembawang Huanqiu
Engineering Co Ltd

People’s
Republic
of China

51

51

Petrochemical engineering

** Sembawang Cogen Pte Ltd
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59. Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
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Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business

Effective
Percentage
equity held
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1997
%
%

Principal Activities

** Sempec Pakistan
(Private) Limited##

Pakistan

50

50

Engineering design, plant
construction

** Sempec Philippines,
Inc.##

Philippines

40

40

Engineering, procurement
construction and management
for turnkey projects

Singapore

51

51

Engineering and
construction
works (under members’
voluntary liquidation)

** Sembawang Thailand Co.
Ltd.

Thailand

60

60

Engineering, construction
and fabrication services

** SembCorp Air Products
(Hyco) Pte Ltd (formerly
known as Sembawang Air
Products (Hyco) Pte Ltd)

Singapore

See
note
61

100

Manufacture, purchase,
storage, processing and sale
of industrial chemical and
specialty gases

Saudi Arabia

60

60

Engineering

** Sembawang Construction
Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Civil engineering and
construction work

** Semcon Cahaya Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Dormant

** Semcon Indo Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Builders and contractors for
construction work

** Sembawang Engineering
(China) Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Engineering, construction
and fabrication

** Sembawang Indonesia
Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Investment holding

** SembCorp Gas Pte Ltd
(formerly known as
Sembawang Gas Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Build, own and operate a
submarine pipeline to
transport gas

** SembCorp Electric Pte Ltd
(formerly known as
Sembawang Pipeline Pte Ltd)

Singapore

100

100

Dormant

** Sembawang Indovest
Holding Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Investment holding (under
members’ voluntary
liquidation)

** Sempec Engineering
Construction Company
Pte Ltd

** Sembawang Alsuwaiket
Arabia Ltd.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

59. Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Principal Activities

** SembCorp Systems Pte Ltd
(formerly known as
Sembawang Systems
Pte Ltd)

Singapore

100

100

Provision of integration,
repairs and construction of
electrical, instrumentation
and control services

** Sembawang SMI Asia
Pte Ltd

Singapore

70

70

Marketing, sale and servicing
of all marine related products

** Semsys Indonesia Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Dormant

** SembCorp Cogen Pte Ltd
(formerly known as
SUT Cogen Pte Ltd)

Singapore

See
note
61

100

Invent, design, build, own
and operate power and
co-generation plant

** Wong Heng Engineering
Pte Ltd

Singapore

70

70

Mechanical engineering
and non-building
construction work

Malaysia

45

45

Engineering

** Sembawang Industrial
Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Investment holding and
provision of management
services

** Sembawang Industrial
Manufacturing Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Dormant

** Sembawang Corporation
Holdings Pte Ltd (formerly
known as Pink Onion
Pte Ltd)

Singapore

100

100

Dormant

** Paterson Land Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Dormant

** Sembawang Resources
Limited

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Trading of granite and
manufacture of ready-mixed
concrete, asphalt premix
and graded stones.

** RDC Construction Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Building and civil
engineering contractor

** RDC Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Waste management

** RDC International Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Investment holding

** Jurubina Sembawang (M)
Sdn Bhd##
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59. Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
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Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business

Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%

Principal Activities

** SembOCL Pte Ltd
(formerly known as
Agrotech Farms Pte Ltd)

Singapore

43.89

62.7

Dormant

** RDC Marine Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Marine transportation

** Sembawang Properties Pte
Ltd (formerly known as
RDC Land Pte Ltd)

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Property investment

** RDC (Vietnam) Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Investment holding and
provision of management
services

** RBS Concrete Products
Pte Ltd

Singapore

31.98

31.98

Manufacture and sale of
precast concrete products

** RDC Cement Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Investment holding

** Megastone Holdings
Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Dormant

** Sembawang Property
Services Pte Ltd (formerly
known as Sembawang
Properties Pte Ltd)

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Project management for
property development in
Singapore and overseas

** Sembawang Land Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Property development

** Pyramid Hill Properties
Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Property development

** Pivot Development Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Dormant

** Spire Properties Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Dormant

** Zenith Development
Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Property development and
investment

** Singapore Vietnam
Investments Pte Ltd

Singapore

–

37.62

Investment holding

** Vietnam Singapore
Industrial Park Pte Ltd

Singapore

See
22.57
note 60

Investment holding

Vietnam

See
11.29
note 60

Development of
Industrial Park

** Vietnam Singapore
Industrial Park JV Co Ltd

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

59. Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Principal Activities

** Sembawang Leisure
Private Limited

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Investment holding,
provision of marketing
financial and
administration services

** Sembawang Development
& Management Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Property management and
development services

** Vietnam Singapore
International Marketing
Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Management of marketing
and promotion of Vietnam –
Singapore Industrial Park

** Sembawang Leisure
Investments Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Investment holding

** Pulau Holdings Pte Ltd

Singapore

33.86

33.86

Investment holding

** Karimun Investments
Holdings Pte Ltd

Singapore

47.03

47.03

Investment holding

Taiwan

62.7

62.7

Civil engineering contractor
(under members’ voluntary
liquidation)

** Raya Marine Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Marine transportation

** Thomas Walk Properties
Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Property development

** RDC Development Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Property development

** RDC Realty Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Property development

** Zippy Properties Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Property development
and investment

** Tembeling Development
Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Property development

** RDC Woodlands
Development Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Property development

** RDC Moulmein
Development Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Property development

** RDC Properties Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Property development

** RDC Simei Development
Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Property development

** Apogee Properties Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Property development

** RDC (Taipei) Construction
Co Ltd
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59. Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business

Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%

** Lam Guan Development
Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Property development

** Bonafide Development
(S) Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Property development

** Highway Resources
Pte Ltd

Singapore

43.89

43.89

Investment holding and
trading in bitumen and
construction materials

Vietnam

35.74

26.33

Import and distribution of
bitumen/asphalt premix

Singapore

59.57

59.57

Investment holding

** RSC Joint Venture Company
Limited

Vietnam

35.74

35.74

Property development and
investment holding

** Concrete Technology Pte Ltd

Singapore

42.01

42.01

Investment holding

Vietnam

25.08

25.08

Manufacture of
ready-mixed concrete
and bored piling work

British Virgin
Islands

51.41

51.41

Investment holding

** Norfolk Hotel
Joint Venture Co. Ltd

Vietnam

30.72

30.72

Hotel operations and
management

** Megastone (Vietnam)
Company Limited

Vietnam

62.7

62.7

Manufacture of
bricks and tiles

** Resort Asia Consultancy
Services Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Project management and
development services

** SLRC Investments Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.7

62.7

Investment holding

** Sembawang Golden Maya
Investments Pte Ltd

Singapore

–

31.98

Investment holding

** PT Alam Indah Bintan

Indonesia

21.95

21.95

Resort development

** Sembawang Reefer Lines
(Jambu) Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Dormant

@ Sembawang Reefer Lines
(Jambu) Bahamas Limited

Bahamas

–

100

Liquidated
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Principal Activities

** Asphalt Distribution
Company
** RSC (Vietnam) Investments
Pte Ltd

** Saigon–RDC Co. Ltd

** Norfolk Development
Group (Norfolk Hotel)
Limited
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59. Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%

Principal Activities

Singapore

100

100

Dormant

@ Sembawang Reefer Lines
Bahamas Ltd

Bahamas

100

100

Dormant

** SembCorp Energy (Tuas)
Singapore
Pte Ltd (formerly known
as Oregan Pte Ltd,
Sembawang–SMRT Holdings
Private Limited and Connix
Investments Pte Ltd)

100

100

Dormant

** Sembawang Power Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Dormant

** Sembawang Shipyard
and Engineering Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Dormant

** Sembawang Engineering
Investments Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Project development

** Sembawang Ventures
Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Investment holding,
provision of management to
services related companies

** Information Frontiers
Pte Ltd

Singapore

62.5

62.5

Provision of financial
information via internet

British
Virgin Island

100

100

Investment holding

@ MSI (BVI) Limited
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** Sembawang Reefer Lines
(Manggis) Pte Ltd

**Pacific Internet Limited
(formerly known as
Sembawang Media Pte Ltd)

Singapore

74.99

100

Provision of public
internet access services

** Sembawang Business
International Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Business management and
consultancy services

** Sembawang Capital Pte Ltd

Singapore

87.15

85.6

Leasing and hire
purchase business

Hong Kong

87.15

85.6

Leasing business

** Sembawang Repromac
Pte Ltd

Singapore

82.79

81.32

Leasing business

** Semrental (B) Sdn Bhd

Brunei

76.26

74.9

Owning and chartering
of tug boats

** Sembawang Capital
(Hong Kong) Limited

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES
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Country of
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and place of
business
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59. Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Principal Activities

** Regional Equipment
Leasing Pte Ltd

Singapore

44.45

43.66

** Sembawang Chemicals
Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Dormant

** SembFood Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Investment holding
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** Sembawang Food
Investment Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Investment holding
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Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business

** Inpact Enterprise Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Retailing of food products

** Pacific Internet Corporation
Pte Ltd

Singapore

74.99

74.99

Dormant

Hong Kong

50.1

50.1

Provision of
internet services

** Sembawang PacMann
Pte Ltd

Singapore

50.1

50.1

Investment holding
and provision of
management services

** Coleford Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Dormant

** Farievo Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Dormant

** Riau Petroleum Holdings
Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Dormant

** Sembawang (UK) Ltd

United
Kingdom

100

100

Dormant

** Sembawang Bethlehem
Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Building of rigs, vessels
and specialised
marine equipment.

** Sembawang Nominees
Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Dormant

** Sembawang Corporation
Investments (S) Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Holding long-term
investments

** Sembawang Holdings
Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Investment holding

** Sembawang Investments
Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Holding long-term
investments

** Hong Kong Supernet
Limited

Leasing business

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

59. Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Principal Activities

** Sembawang Services
Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Dormant

** Sembawang Shipyard
(India) Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Dormant

** Sembawang Asia Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

Investment holding

** Delifrance Asia Ltd

Singapore

76.14

61.38

Management and holding
company and development
and sale of franchising activities

** Delifrance Singapore
Pte Ltd

Singapore

76.14

61.38

Manufacture and sale
of French bakery and pastry
products and the operation of
cafe-bakeries, bakery
corners and restaurants

** Delifrance (HK) Limited

Hong Kong

76.14

61.38

Manufacture and sale
of French bakery and pastry
products and the operation of
cafe-bakeries

** Delifrance Australia Pty
Limited

Australia

76.14

61.38

Manufacture and sale
of French bakery and pastry
products and the operation of
cafe-bakeries

** Delifrance Australia
(Retail) Pty Ltd

Australia

76.14

61.38

Provision of retail services

** Delifrance Australia
(Franchising) Pty Ltd

Australia

76.14

61.38

Development and
co-ordination of franchise
activities

** Delifrance Australia
(Management Services)
Pty Ltd

Australia

76.14

61.38

Provision of management
services

Singapore

76.14

61.38

Manufacture and wholesale
of cooked food and trading
of vacuum-packed food

** Delifrance (Malaysia)
Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

76.14

61.38

Manufacture, sale and retail
of French bakery and pastry
products and the operation
of cafe-bakeries

** Delifrance Food (M) Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

76.14

61.38

Dormant

** Nouvelle Carte Asia Pte Ltd

*
**
@
#

Audited by associated firms of KPMG.
Audited by firms other than KPMG.
Audit is not required by the laws of the country of incorporation.
These subsidiaries were de-registered from the Singapore Registry of Companies and Businesses during the
financial period.
## Deemed to be a subsidiary as the Group has effective control over the board of directors
pursuant to Section 5 of the Companies Act.
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60. Associated Companies
The details of associated companies held by the Group are as follows:

Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business
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Far East Biscuit Factory
(Hong Kong) Limited

Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%

Principal Activities

Hong Kong

40

40

Investment holding, trading
of biscuit products and
operation of a biscuit
factory

Thailand

30

30

Leasing, hire purchase and
factoring

ST Architects & Engineers
Pte Ltd

Singapore

33

33

Provision of design,
consultancy and advisory
services relating to any
professional engineering work

Reliance Contractors
Private Limited

Singapore

49.99

49.99

Ventura Development
(Myanmar) Pte Ltd

Singapore

35

35

Development, construction
and management of property

Ventura Development
(Surabaya) Pte Ltd

Singapore

50

50

Investment holding

LC Ventura (Tampines)
Pte Ltd

Singapore

40

40

Property development

Guam

50

50

Structural improvement
and rehabilitation

Permasteelisa Pacific
Holdings Ltd

Singapore

20

20

Design fabrication and
installation of architectural
curtain wall cladding for
commercial buildings

Realand Pte Ltd

Singapore

20

20

Investment holding

Reco Sin Han Pte Ltd

Singapore

20

20

Investment holding

Fairprice Homemart Pte Ltd

Singapore

21

21

Dormant

Funpolis Asia Pte Ltd

Singapore

37.5

37.5

Owner and manager of
family entertainment centres
and provider of consultancy
services to third parties

Malaysia

18.38

18.38

Provision of services relating
to travel and tours

TSD Leasing Co., Ltd

Minson Constructions
(Guam) Inc.

Mansfield Travel Sdn Bhd

Building and civil
engineering contractor

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

60. Associated Companies (Cont’d)

Principal Activities

National Car Rentals (Pte)
Limited

Singapore

–

30.83

ST-Zerust (SEA)
Pte Ltd

Singapore

30

30

Preservation and packaging
operations

Trans-Link Express Pte Ltd

Singapore

24.87

25

Freight forwarding

Zuellig Insurance Brokers
Pte Ltd

Singapore

49

49

General and life insurance
broking

CMS Translink Parami
Logistics (Myanmar) Ltd

Myanmar

30

30

Freight forwarding

BFR Combat Boots Pte Ltd

Singapore

–

50

Manufacturing, distributing
and marketing of combat
boots

Integrated Decision Systems
Consultancy Pte Ltd

Singapore

30

30

Business management and
consultancy services

KPN–ST Logistics Co., Ltd.

Thailand

46

46

Warehousing, inventory
management, transport and
distribution and freight
forwarding

Logistics Training and
Consultancy Pte Ltd

Singapore

40

40

Logistics training and
consultancy services

ST Logitrack Pte Ltd

Singapore

50

–

Development and
marketing of Radio
Frequency Identification
application in the logistics
and related market

APLS-Bok Seng Logistics
Pte Ltd

Singapore

50

50

Heavy lift transportation
and warehousing

Changi International
Logistics Centre Ltd

Singapore

22

22

Warehousing, distribution
and related services

Hong Kong

50

50

Transportation and freight
forwarding

46.94

46.94

Warehousing, freight
forwarding, transportation
and related services

Transport Groupage
International (HK) Limited
Wuxi-Singapore Industrial
Park Logistics Co Ltd

People’s
Republic
of China

Renting of motor vehicles
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60. Associated Companies (Cont’d)

Name
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Effective
Percentage
equity held
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1997
%
%

Principal Activities

Suzhou Logistics Pte Ltd

Singapore

20

20

Investment holding

Singapore Logistics
Consortium Pte Ltd

Singapore

20

20

Investment holding

Philippines

17.93

18.23

Provision of computer network products and services

Cognos Far East Pte Ltd

Thailand

22.41

22.78

Sales support and
maintenance of all Cognos
products

SCS Computer Systems
(Thailand) Co Ltd

Thailand

29.28

29.77

Software development and
sale, lease or rental of
computer equipment and
software packages

Twinsoft Asia Pte Ltd

Singapore

29.88

30.38

Dormant

ST-Straco Pte Ltd

Singapore

29.88

30.38

Sale of computer equipment
and related products and
provision of computer
related services

Telescience (Singapore)
Pte Ltd

Singapore

29.88

30.38

Provision of services relating
to telecommunication, data
communications systems
and the sale of network
and computer
peripheral equipment

Software Technology
(Singapore) Pte Ltd

Singapore

18.52

18.83

Investment holding

People’s
Republic
of China

29.28

29.77

Provision of network systems
integration services and
development, production
and marketing of various
kinds of software and hardware
products related to computer
application techniques
for the China Market

Singapore

17.93

–

Ayala Systems Technology
Inc.

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business

Shanghai Sunjoy System
Integration Ltd

NTUC Link Pte Ltd

Management of
Smartcard business

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Associated Companies (Cont’d)

SCS Consulting &
Services Pte Ltd

Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%

Principal Activities

Singapore

29.88

–

Provision of software
application programming,
consulting and
implementation services

Computer Recovery Centre
Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

22.59

22.97

Provision of backup
computer facilities
and operations support

IT Integrator (M) Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

15.06

15.31

Sale of computer
equipment and software

Sistem Kompakar Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

15.06

15.31

Sale of computer
equipment and software

DPBS-SCS Computer
Systems Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

24.59

25

Supply, manufacture and
assembly of computer
hardware and software
systems peripherals and
other electrical and electronic
equipment

RISIS Private Limited

Singapore

40

40

Manufacturer and
distributor of ‘RISIS’ gifts,
souvenirs and other
related products

Agrogen Pte Ltd

Singapore

25

25

Investment in
biotechnology
related investments

Zhengzhou Yellow River
Tourism Development
Co., Ltd

People’s
Republic
of China

20

20

Theme park and
related operations

Xi’an Lintong Zhongxin
Tourism Development
Co., Ltd

People’s
Republic
of China

20

20

Theme park and
related operations

Shanghai Ocean
People’s
Aquarium Co., Ltd
Republic
(formerly known as
of China
Underwater World
Project Development Co., Ltd)

20

20

Aquarium and
related operations
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Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business
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60. Associated Companies (Cont’d)

Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business

Infotainment Development
& Management Pte Ltd

Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%

Singapore

30

30

Management and
consultancy services to
entertainment parks and
resorts in China

Bermuda

18

17

Infrastructure development,
investment and management,
mainly in power plants, water
treatment plants, toll roads,
toll bridges and tunnel, as
well as hotel operations and
property investment

Singapore

20.94

24.72

Shipbuilding, shiprepair
and civil engineering works

CJ Management
International Limited

Hong Kong

17.95

21.19

Provision of management
services

Irano Singapore Shipyard
Company (Sadra Jurong)

Bandar
Abbas, Iran

15.55

18.37

Shipbuilding and shiprepair

Joint Shipyard Investment
Pte Ltd

Singapore

29.91

17.66

Investment holding

Joint Shipyard Management
Services Pte Ltd

Singapore

14.96

17.66

Proprietors of dormitories,
manage and let

Jurong Clavon Pte Ltd

Singapore

29.91

35.32

Engineering works

Jurong Engineering Ltd

Singapore

11.96

14.13

Construction and
engineering works

Jurong Gesco Pte Ltd

Singapore

29.91

35.32

Dormant

Neptune Associated
Lines Private Limited

Singapore

29.91

35.32

Ship owners

Toei Engineering Pte Ltd

Singapore

15.55

18.37

Mechanical engineering works

JPL Concrete Products
Pte Ltd

Singapore

12.56

14.83

Production of concrete
products

Dyna-Jet Pte Ltd

Singapore

–

24.72

Environmental hygiene,
chemical and tank cleaning
services

17.35

20.49

Aerospace simulator

28

25.48

Marine engineering,
shiprepair
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Cathay International Limited

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

Principal Activities

Atlantis Shipyard Pte Ltd

Beijing Bravery International
People’s
Simulator Engineering
Republic of
China
Albwardy Marine
Engineering (LLC)

United Arab
Emirates

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

60. Associated Companies (Cont’d)

Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business

–

11.70

Dormant

Cosem Pte Ltd

Singapore

28.58

26.01

Investment holding

Cosco Container Depot
Pte Ltd

Singapore

22.86

20.8

Operation of a container
depot

CWT-SML Logistics LLC

United Arab
Emirates

17.15

15.6

Warehouse distribution
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Hong Kong

Principal Activities

Dongguan Sinnan Marine
and Engineering Co., Ltd

People’s
Republic
of China

–

19.24

Manufacture of fibreglass
ferries, yachts and
specialised products

Instone Singapore Pte Ltd

Singapore

–

17.16

Travel agency

United Arab
Emirates

–

20.8

Marine consultancy,
tramping services,
owner and operator
of cargo vessels

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

Asia Offshore
Contractors Ltd

Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%

Lawrence Loat Ltd

Minah Marine Pte Ltd

Singapore

19.05

17.34

Dormant

Sang Muara Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

28

25.48

Tug services

Searching Maritime Pte Ltd

Singapore

19.05

17.34

Charter of vessels, OPL
services

Searching Offshore Pte Ltd

Singapore

19.05

17.34

OPL services

Searching Pte Ltd

Singapore

19.05

17.34

OPL services

People’s
Republic
of China

28

25.48

Operation of
a distripark

Hong Kong

28.58

26.01

Tug services

Wah Kwong Shipping
Holdings Ltd*

Bermuda

See
note 9

10.71

Owning and
operating of vessels

Chiwan Petroleum Supply
Base Company Limited

People’s
Republic
of China

12.08

10.99

Operation of an
offshore supply base

UCM Oil-Tex Threading
Ltd

Thailand

16.8

15.29

Oil field equipment
machining and repair

Shenyang SML
Distripark Ltd
South China Towing
Co Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

60. Associated Companies (Cont’d)

Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business
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Marine Pollution Response
Centres Sdn Bhd

Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%

Principal Activities

Malaysia

17.15

15.6

Provision of services dealing
with oil spillage and
pollution control

Sun Cruises Holdings
Pte Ltd*

Singapore

See
note 9

15.2

Owning and operating of
luxury cruise ships

Sun Cruises (S) Pte Ltd*

Singapore

See
note 9

15.2

Shipmanagement

Sun Cruises Travel
Pte Ltd*

Singapore

See
note 9

15.2

Tourist and travel services

Sun Cruises Ltd*

Bermuda

See
note 9

15.2

Shipowner

Sun Viva Ltd*

Bermuda

See
note 9

15.2

Shipowner

Sun Vista Ltd*

Bermuda

See
note 9

15.2

Shipowner

KJVC Agencies (M) Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

10.2

9.28

Dormant

Catic Sembawang Aircraft
Development Pte Ltd

Singapore

28.58

26.01

Dormant

PT Gema Sembrown

Indonesia

45

45

Engineering, construction
and fabrication

Sime SembCorp Engineering
Sdn Bhd (formerly known as
Sime Sembawang
Engineering Sdn Bhd)

Malaysia

30

30

Engineering, construction
and fabrication

Royal Sembawang
Thailand Co. Ltd.

Thailand

17.4

17.4

Engineering, construction
and fabrication

Singapore

32

32

Civil engineering and
construction work

India

50

50

Provision of marine and
industrial automation
services

Dragages Sembawang
Construction Pte Ltd
Semmac Ltd

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

60. Associated Companies (Cont’d)

Principal Activities

Shenzhen Sembawang
Huanqiu Engineering
Corporation Ltd

People’s
Republic
of China

26

26

Engineering design for
chemical, petrochemical and
civil building works

Bintulu Sembawang
Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

40

40

Engineering, construction
and fabrication

First Capital Corporation
Ltd *

Singapore

See
note 9

21.33

Indo Sembawang Nippon
Glass Pte Ltd

Singapore

28

28

Manufacture of glass

People’s
Republic
of China

26

26

Manufacture of rotary
screw air compressors

India

25.08

25.08

Manufacture and sale of
ready-mixed concrete and
concrete blocks

Singapore Suzhou
Industrial Holdings Pte Ltd

Singapore

13.17

15.68

Investment holding

Karimun Industrial
Management Pte Ltd

Singapore

25.08

25.08

Provision of project
management services

Vietnam Singapore
Industrial Park Pte Ltd

Singapore

22.57

See
note 59

Investment holding

Vietnam Singapore
Industrial Park JV Co Ltd

Vietnam

11.29

See
note 59

Development of
industrial park

Marketing & Consultancy
Services International
Pte Ltd

Singapore

25.08

25.08

Provision of marketing,
administrative and
consulting services

Sembawang KMP
Corporation Pte Ltd

Singapore

31.35

31.35

Investment holding

People’s
Republic
of China

17.56

–

Taiwan

25.08

25.08

Shenzhen Sullair Asia
Industrial Company Ltd
Unitech Prefab Limited

Shenzhen Guanchuang
BM Co. Ltd
Kaai Tuoh-RDC
Corporation Ltd

Investment holding,
investment dealing, property
investment and development,
fund management and advisory
services, insurance and
reinsurance of all classes of
general insurance business

Manufacture of ready-mixed
concrete, cement and other
concrete related products
Precast concrete products
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Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%
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60. Associated Companies (Cont’d)
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Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business

Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%

Principal Activities

Industrial Imex Pte Ltd

Singapore

30.72

30.72

Quarry operations,
exploiting, developing and
trading of granite resources

Granite Resources Pte Ltd

Singapore

18.81

18.81

Importing, marketing and
sale of granite products

Quarry Management
Services Pte Ltd

Singapore

24.45

24.45

Quarry management and
operations services

PT Multi Granitindo Utama

Indonesia

18.81

18.81

Quarrying

Chah Sing Investment Pte Ltd

Singapore

28.22

28.22

Investment holding

Golden Plus RDC Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

30.72

30.72

Manufacture and sale of
ready-mixed concrete

Huaxin Nantong Cement
Co Ltd

People’s
Republic
of China

16.3

16.3

Production and
sale of cement

Sin Heng Chan (Singapore)
Pte Ltd

Singapore

30.72

30.72

Cement trading

PT Karimun Indojaya
Corporation

Indonesia

18.81

18.81

Construction and development of an industrial estate
at Karimum Island, Indonesia

Delham Investments Pte Ltd

Singapore

27

27

Investment holding

British
Virgin Islands

27

27

Investment holding

Singapore

27

27

Investment holding

Philippines

30

–

Internet access service
provider

Silkroute Ventures Pte Ltd

Singapore

40

40

IT consultancy services
and provision of
information services

SRV Online (M) Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

24

24

IT consultancy services

Singapore

20

20

Investment holding

British
Virgin Islands

20

20

Investment holding

Fenton Assets Limited
Kinburgh Holdings Pte Ltd
Primeworld Digital
Systems Inc.

Camerlin Pte Ltd
Camerlin (BVI) Pte Ltd

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Principal Activities

Macondray Corporation
Pte Ltd

Singapore

24.47

24.47

Investment holding

Arian Engineering
Corporation Pte Ltd

Singapore

17.43

17.12

Sale, distribution and
leasing of specialist
engineering products

Star + Globe Technologies
Pte Ltd

Singapore

–

33.33

Development and sale of
multi-lingual software tools

The Capita Corporation
Singapore Pte Ltd

Singapore

50

35

Leasing business

Oslo Gas I LP

Republic of
Liberia

19.94

33.3

Ship owning and
charter

Oslo Gas II LP

Republic of
Liberia

19.94

33.3

Ship owning and
charter

Japan

See
note 9

14.37

Provide internet lines
between Japan and Singapore

Asia Internet Holdings
Co., Ltd*
*

Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%

These investments has been reclassified to long term equity investments.

61. Joint Ventures

Name

Batamindo Industrial
Management Pte Ltd

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business

Singapore

Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%

30

30

Principal Activities

Marketing of Batamindo
Industrial Park situated on
Batam Island, Indonesia and
provision of technical
assistance for projects in
Batam Island
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Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business
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61. Joint Ventures (Cont’d)

Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business

Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%

Bintan Industrial Estate
Management Pte Ltd

Singapore

40

40

Development and
management of Bintan
Industrial Estate situated on
Bintan Island, Indonesia

Bintan Resort
Management Pte Ltd

Singapore

28

28

Manager and operator of
hotel, leisure, recreational
resort and facility

InterIsland Marketing
Services Pte Ltd

Singapore

40

40

Provision of market and
support services for the
Bintan Industrial estate
situated on Bintan Island,
Indonesia

P.T. Batamindo
Investment Corporation

Indonesia

30

30

Development, construction
and operation of Batamindo
Industrial Park

Singapore-Bintan Resort
Holdings Pte Ltd

Singapore

26.25

26.25

P.T. Bintan Inti
Industrial Estate

Singapore

25

25

Singapore-Wuxi Investment
Holdings Pte Ltd

Singapore

43.43

43.43

Canada

50

50

Investment holding of a
subsidiary carrying on the
business of development and
operation of an international
hospital in China

Singapore

33

33

Developer, owner and
marketing agent of
immovable property, club
membership, and real estate
and investment holding
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Principal Activities

Inter-Health Canada
(China) Inc.

SAFE Bintan Resort Ltd

Investment holding
Development, construction
and operation of Bintan
Industrial Estate
Investment holding

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

61. Joint Ventures (Cont’d)

Principal Activities

Batamindo Shipping &
Warehousing Pte Ltd

Singapore

30

30

Provision of shipping,
freight forwarding, storage
and warehousing services

Golden-STIC Investment
Holdings Pte Ltd

Singapore

50

50

Investment holding

People’s
Republic of
China

29.91

35.32

Repair and conversion of all
types of marine vessels,
production of quayside and
container cranes and
installation and repair of
mechanical and
electronic equipment

Jiangyin Hualxin Corrosion
People’s
Control Co Ltd
Republic of
China

29.91

35.32

Tank coating and corrosion
resistance work for marine
vessels

Blackbeard Shipping
Limited

Republic of
Liberia

14.57

13.26

Ship owning and charter
of vessels

Cedonia Shipping Limited

Republic of
Liberia

14.57

13.26

Charter of vessels

28

25.48

Provision of specialised
logistics services

Singapore

28.58

26.01

Investment holding

Philippines

38.07

30.69

Manufacture and sale of
French bakery and pastry
products, lease of bakery
equipment and commercial
space and provision of
consultancy services

People’s
Republic
of China

38.07

30.69

Manufacture and sale of
French bakery, pastry
products and operation
of cafe bakeries

Republic of
Malta

14.57

13.26

Charter of vessels

Vietnam

40.01

36.41

Operating of passenger
ferries

Bohai Sembawang
Shipyard (Tianjin)

Katoen Natie SembCorp
Singapore
Pte Ltd (formerly known as
Katoen Natie Sembawang
Industrial Services Co Pte Ltd)
SembReta Pte Ltd
Delifrance Philippines, Inc.

Vie de France
(Beijing) Ltd

Gas Carrier Ltd
Vina Express

175

Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%
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61. Joint Ventures (Cont’d)
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Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business

Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%

Principal Activities

Kimtrans JV Carpentaria
(S) Pte Ltd

Singapore

14.57

13.26

Provision of shipping
agency services

RM Shipping Pte Ltd

Singapore

38.81

37.01

Owing and operating
of bitumen carrier.

28

–

Provision of warehousing
and logistics services

29.15

–

Freight forwarding

Katoen Natie SembCorp
Thailand
(Thailand) Ltd (formerly
known as Katoen Natie
Sembawang (Thailand) Co Ltd)
Fracht Forwarding &
Travels (Pvt) Ltd

India

SembCorp Air Products
(Hyco) Pte Ltd (formerly
known as Sembawang Air
Products (Hyco) Pte Ltd)

Singapore

45

See
note
59

Manufacture, purchase,
storage, processing and
sale of industrial chemical
and specialty gases

SembCorp Cogen Pte Ltd
(formerly known as SUT
Cogen Pte Ltd)

Singapore

40

See
note
59

Dormant

People’s
Republic
of China

50

50

Engineering services

Singapore Vietnam
Developments Pte Ltd

Singapore

20

20

Investment holding
(currently under
members’ voluntary
liquidation)

SembCorp Utilities
and Terminals Pte Ltd
(formerly known as
Sembawang Utilities and
Terminals Pte Ltd)

Singapore

45

45

Supply of utilities and
storage for petroleum
products and chemicals

Sembawang-IDC Joint
Venture *

Singapore

75

–

Design and build (turnkey)
project for printed circuit
board manufacturing
facility at Suzhou, China

Kumagai-SembawangMitsui Joint Venture *

Singapore

45

45

Design and construction
of the Sennett and
Boon Keng MRT stations
including tunnels

CIECC Sembawang
Engineering Consulting
Company Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

61. Joint Ventures (Cont’d)
Effective
Percentage
equity held
1998
1997
%
%

Principal Activities

People’s
Republic
of China

35

35

Engineering services

Shenzhen Chiwan
Sembawang Engineering
Co. Ltd (formerly
known as Chiwan
Sembawang
Engineering Co Ltd)

People’s
Republic
of China

32

32

Ship repair and
fabrication

Zhejiang Shengjie
Environment Protection
Engineering Co Ltd.

People’s
Republic
of China

–

50

Environmental
engineering

Worley Pte Limited
(formerly known as
Sembawang Worley Pte Ltd)

Singapore

–

50

Engineering
consultancy services

The Capita Corporation
Singapore Pte Ltd

Singapore

–

42.8

*

177

Shenzhen Chiwan Offshore
Petroleum Equipment Repair
& Manufacture Company
Limited (formerly known as
Chiwan Offshore Petroleum
Equipment Repair &
Manufacture Company
Limited)

Leasing business

Unincorporated jointly–controlled entities.

The Group’s share of the results and balance sheets of the joint ventures are as follows:
Group’s Share
1998
1997
$’000
$’000
Results of the Joint Ventures
Turnover
Expenses
Profit before taxation
Taxation
Profit after taxation

144,890
(133,888)

125,601
(120,907)

11,002
(3,775)

4,694
(3,481)

7,227

1,213

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

Name

Country of
Incorporation
and place of
business

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

61.

Joint Ventures (Cont’d)
Group’s Share
1998
1997
$’000
$’000

178

Balance sheets of the Joint Ventures
Properties
Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Minority interests

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

Net assets

82,844
484,487
127,313
(203,376)
(249,858)
(6,360)

338,677
117,227
213,501
(228,181)
(197,525)
(14,783)

235,050

228,916

The Group’s share of the capital commitments of the joint ventures are $65 million
(1997: $50 million)

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

(Under SES Listing Manual requirements)

(A) Directors’ Remuneration
The remuneration of directors of the Company falls within the following ranges:

1998

$500,000 and above
$250,000 to $499,999
Below $250,000

3
–
7
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10

Interested Person Transactions
In compliance with Chapter 9A of the Listing Manual of the Stock Exchange of Singapore, a
shareholders’ mandate was obtained for the following types of interested person transactions
(as defined in Chapter 9A of the Listing Manual). The aggregate value for these transactions
conducted pursuant to the shareholders’ mandate during the financial period are as follows:
1998
$
General Transactions
Sales of goods and services
Purchases of goods and services
Treasury Transactions

1,785,959
3,111,000
1998

Placement of funds with interested persons

Amounts ranging from $236,734 to
$44,600,000

Borrowing from interested persons

Amounts ranging from $105,061 to
$7,310,802

During the financial period, there is no foreign exchange, swap and options transactions
entered into with and no subscription of debt securities issued by any interested person (as
defined in Chapter 9A of the Listing Manual).
Management and Support Services
Payment of ST Group management and support services fee by the Group amounting to $4.5
million.

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

(B)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

This Statement outlines the main corporate governance practices that were in place during the
financial year ended 31 December 1998.
The Directors and Management are committed to high standards of corporate governance and
embrace the best practices contained in the Best Practices Guide issued by including amendments
made from time to time by the Stock Exchange of Singapore.
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The Board of Directors
The Board consists of three executive and eight independent non-executive directors, and meets at
least four times a year. The Board oversees the business and affairs of the Company. It sets the
overall strategy of the Group and sets policies on strategic matters relating to financial control and
financial objectives. To give effect to the more efficient discharge of its responsibilities, the Board has
established a number of Board Committees, including an Executive Committee, Audit Committee,
Executive Resource/Executives’ Share Option Scheme Committee and Budget Committee.

The Executive Committee
The Executive Committee comprises two executive directors and two non-executive directors and is
chaired by Mr Philip Yeo. The Committee meets monthly.
The principal responsibility of the Committee is to assist the Board of Directors to steer and direct the
Group towards enhancement of its management systems and strengthening of core competencies of
the Group thereby improving productivity and better asset management. This is with the ultimate
objective of attainment of SembCorp Industries’ financial objectives such as positive Economic Value
Added through better allocation and use of resources in the Group and through the elimination of
duplicating and overlapping functions.
The Committee also considers and makes recommendations to the Board of its subsidiaries about the
appointment of directors, the directorship fee structure and the structure and composition of the
Boards of its subsidiaries.

The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive directors and is chaired by Mr
Peter Seah. The Committee meets at least twice a year and receives reports from the internal and
external auditors of the Company. It follows up outstanding matters contained in those reports,
where appropriate. The Committee reviews the Group’s interim and annual results announcements
and reports before they are submitted to the Board for approval.
Special functions of the Committee include reviewing the system of internal controls of the Group,
scope of work of the internal auditors and of the external auditors, and deliberates on interested
persons transactions as required by the Stock Exchange of Singapore. The Committee also
recommends the appointment of the external auditors and reviews the level of audit fees.

Corporate Governance Statement (cont’d)

The Executive Resource/Executives’ Share Option Scheme Committee
The Executive Resource/Executives’ Share Option Scheme Committee comprises three independent
non-executive directors and is chaired by Ms Ho Ching. The role of the Committee is to review and
make recommendations to the Board on remuneration packages and policies for key executives. The
Committee also reviews and oversees the succession plans for key positions and the development of
talented executives.
The Executives’ Share Option Scheme Committee administers the Executives’ Share Option Scheme
of the Company and deliberates on matters of eligibility of full-time employees of the Company and
its subsidiaries as well as the number of options to be granted to each participant, in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the Scheme.

Dealings in Securities
The Group has a comprehensive system of controls in monitoring the dealing in the securities of the
Group, in particular, the identification of the parties subject to the control system, the notification of
the Group’s control system to the affected parties, and the reporting of securities dealings by the
affected parties.

Going Concern
The directors, having made appropriate enquiries, are satisfied that the Company and the Group have
adequate resources to continue in operational existence in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Internal Financial Control
The directors are responsible for the Group’s system of internal financial control. While no system
can provide absolute assurance against material loss or financial misstatement, the Group’s internal
financial controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, that
proper accounting records are maintained, and that financial information used within the business
and for publication is reliable. In designing these controls the directors have regard to the risks to
which the business is exposed, the likelihood of such risks occurring and the costs of avoiding or
mitigating them.
The directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal financial control in the
light of the key business and financial risks affecting its businesses.

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

The Budget Committee comprises one independent non-executive director and two executive
directors and is chaired by Mr Sat Pal Khattar. The main objective of the Committee is to review and
ensure that the Annual Financial Budget of the Company and its subsidiaries is in line with the
Group’s strategic and financial objectives.
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Budget Committee

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The main features of the systems are:
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Control environment - The strategic plan and business objectives of the Group are conceived by the
Management team with the guidance and supervision of the Board of Directors (“Board”). Both the
Management team and Board have responsibility for implementing the plan, identifying risks and
ensuring that appropriate internal financial controls are put in place. This is achieved through an
organisation structure that has clearly defined levels of responsibility and authority and appropriate
reporting procedures. It is the Group’s policy to recruit, develop and retain staff of a high calibre
who subscribe to the professional standards relating to their role and the business objectives and
ethics of the Group.
Financial reporting - There is in existence, a comprehensive budgetary control system with detailed
budgets prepared at individual business units, scrutinised in detail by a review panel comprising the
executive directors and chief financial officer (“CFO”). The consolidated Group budget is then
reviewed by the Budget Committee and thereafter approved by the Board. Monthly performance
indicators and operating results are prepared and monitored against budgets by the Management
team. In addition, the executive directors and CFO meet the senior management team of each
business unit quarterly to review financial and operational performance against agreed action plans.
Both Singapore Technologies Industrial Corporation Ltd and Sembawang Corporation Limited had
Finance Manuals, containing policies and procedures for a wide range of subjects, such as,
accounting policies, capital expenditure appraisal and approval procedures, requirements for
preparation and approval of annual budgets. Key procedures have been conformed since the merger
and a consolidated Finance Manual for SembCorp Industries will be issued in 1999, which will
incorporate the policies and procedures now adopted by the Group. Each business unit will be
required to confirm that it has implemented and completed an internal control self-assessment.
Operating controls - Within each business unit there is a management team running the business with
the Group setting guidelines on operating procedures designed to achieve effective yield and optimum
financial results consistent with prudent financial management. Specific controls are designed to
ensure that cash, stocks and equipment are safeguarded from physical loss, credit risks are limited
and that appropriate levels of insurance are in place.
Investment appraisal - The Group has clearly defined procedures for the approval of acquisitions and
other capital expenditure. Planned expenditure is approved in the annual budget and all major
capital expenditure is subject to Board approval. Business acquisitions and investments are subject to
detailed review and appraisal procedures and appropriate due diligence requirements.
Monitoring controls - The effectiveness of internal financial control systems and procedures is
monitored through management self-assessment and internal audit. At least once in each year, all
major operating units in the Group are subject to examination by internal audit, which reports to the
Audit Committee on operational and financial controls and procedures. The Audit Committee,
which meets at least two times a year, monitors the implementation of recommendations for
improvements in internal operational and financial controls. The external auditor attends the Audit
Committee meetings and receives its papers.

YEAR 2000 (Y2K) STATEMENT

Y2K Compliance Definition
“Year 2000 (Y2K) compliant” means information technology that accurately processes date/time
data (including, but not limited to, calculating, comparing and sequencing) from, into, and between
the twentieth and twenty-first centuries, and the years 1999 and 2000 and leap year calculations.
Furthermore, Y2K compliant information technology, when used in combination with other
information technology shall accurately process date/time data.
Impact on Group’s Business

Actions to Address Y2K Issue
Since 1997, the Group has taken steps to minimise risks associated with Y2K problems. A Group
Y2K Steering Committee, comprising key staff from Corporate HQ and major subsidiaries, was
established in 1997 to address the Y2K issues and to also monitor the Y2K activities in the Group to
ensure that appropriate Y2K compliance programmes are implemented on a timely basis.
Listed subsidiaries, major unlisted subsidiaries and other subsidiaries and associated companies that
are highly dependent on computerised systems for operations are also required to establish their own
Y2K Committee to address the Y2K issues.
Steps were taken to assess the Y2K readiness of its infrastructure and to ensure that all internal
systems were Y2K compliant. A comprehensive inventory of hardware and software systems in use
across all business units within the Group was compiled and reviewed by the Group. All critical
systems have been identified, assessed and tested. Wherever necessary the systems have been replaced
and/or modified to meet the standards of Y2K compliance. The Group is also working with its
customers and suppliers to prepare for Y2K compliance.
Progress of Y2K Effort
The Group is well advanced in ensuring all its computer systems will be Y2K compliant by third
quarter 1999. The Group continues to monitor the Y2K readiness of all third-party systems and
services. Letters have been sent to all appropriate vendors that supply goods and services to the
Group inquiring about their Y2K plans to ensure Y2K readiness. In addition, the Group is putting in
place business contingency plans to minimise the potential impact to the operations.
The Group also recently signed the Millennium Accord which allows settlement of disputes by
management negotiation or mediation before resorting to arbitration or court action arising from any
disputes on Y2K issues.

Estimated Cost of Y2K Programme
The cost of the Group’s Y2K compliance programme is estimated to be $14.0 million, of which $5.9
million have been accounted for in the financial statements up to December 31, 1998 ($3.8 million
capitalised, and $2.1 million expensed).
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The Y2K effort is being monitored very closely and based on current assessment and upon successful
completion of the Group’s Y2K programme, no significant impact is foreseen.
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The Group recognises that the Y2K problem will have some impact on its business as its customers,
key business partners and suppliers embark on their own initiatives and programmes to address the
problem. There is no absolute assurance that the Y2K problem will not materially affect the Group’s
operations and financial results. The Group has, however, made all efforts to ensure that any impact
on its business will be minimised with no disruption to its activities or undue exposure to liabilities.

VALUE ADDED STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December

1998
S$’000
VALUE ADDED FROM
Turnover
Less bought in materials and services
Gross value added
Investment, interest and other income
Share of associated companies’ profit
Share of joint ventures’ profit
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OTHER NON-OPERATING EXPENSES
Extraordinary items

DISTRIBUTION
To employees in wages, salaries and benefits
To government in income and other taxes
To providers of capital on:
Interest paid on borrowings
Dividends to shareholders
Dividends to preference shareholders of a subsidiary

RETAINED IN/(APPLIED FROM) BUSINESS
Depreciation
Retained (deficits)/profits
Share of profit of minority interest of subsidiary

OTHER NON-OPERATING EXPENSES
Extraordinary items

TOTAL DISTRIBUTION

PRODUCTIVITY ANALYSIS
Valued added per employee per annum (S$’000)
Valued added per dollar employment cost (S$)
Valued added per dollar sales (S$)
Valued added per dollar investment in fixed assets (S$)

3,900,066
(2,671,352)

1997
S$’000

3,309,333
(2,553,782)

1,228,714

755,551

88,036
17,207
11,002

58,687
75,276
4,694

(457,990)

(37,967)

886,969

856,241

570,612
92,566

472,173
92,269

98,198
29,195
2,590

61,285
32,177
2,590

793,161

660, 494

145,876
(546,889)
36,831

110,952
19,558
27,270

(364,182)

157,780

457,990

37,967

93,808

195,747

886,969

856,241

56#
2.15
0.32
0.72

63*
1.6
0.23
0.45

# With Exceptional Item of S$(150) million.
* The number of employees were pro-rated for acquisitions during the year. The comparative proforma headcount figures
were derived from the financial statements of the Scheme companies.

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDERS
as at 5 May 1999

Shareholders’ Information
Authorised Share Capital: 2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of S$0.25 each
Issued & Fully Paid: 1,578,412,573 ordinary shares of S$0.25 each

%

13.69
75.08
11.14
0.09

2,690,756
64,033,928
93,602,206
1,418,085,683

0.17
4.06
5.93
89.84

25,026

100

1,578,412,573

100

1
2
3

Number of Shares Held

Singapore Technologies Pte Ltd
Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited
DBS Nominees Pte Ltd
Raffles Nominees Pte Ltd
United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd
Oversea Chinese Bank Nominees Pte Ltd
Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd
HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd
Overseas Union Bank Nominees Pte Ltd
DB Nominees (S) Pte Ltd
Prudential Assurance Co S’pore (Pte) Ltd - Prulink Fund
J M Sassoon & Co (Pte) Ltd
NTUC Income Insurance Co-Operative Limited
Tokyo-Mitsubishi International (S) Ltd
Prudential Assurance Co S’pore (Pte) Ltd - Life Fund
BIL (Asia) Nominees Pte Ltd
Keppel Bank Nominees Pte Ltd
Phillip Securities Pte Ltd
ABN Amro Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd
Hong Leong Finance Nominees Pte Ltd

Substantial Shareholders

Temasek Holdings
(Private) Limited
Singapore Technologies
Holdings Pte Ltd
Singapore Technologies
Pte Ltd

%

3,427
18,790
2,787
22

Top Twenty Shareholders
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

Number of
Shares Held

%

711,254,167
215,054,693
121,174,686
117,468,250
57,242,910
48,922,260
35,642,836
35,300,127
15,915,856
8,402,097
8,065,440
7,820,147
7,640,767
6,590,493
5,811,701
4,645,928
3,983,187
2,409,650
1,670,541
1,033,076

45.06
13.62
7.68
7.44
3.63
3.10
2.26
2.24
1.01
0.53
0.51
0.49
0.48
0.42
0.37
0.29
0.25
0.15
0.11
0.07

1,416,048,812

89.71

Direct
Interest

Indirect
Interest

Total
Interest

215,054,693

712,436,129

927,490,822

58.77

–

711,264,704

711,264,704

45.07

711,254,167

1,074

711,255,241

45.06

%

185

1 - 1,000
1,001 - 10,000
10,001 - 1,000,000
1,000,001 and above

Number of
Shareholders
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Analysis of Shareholdings
Range of
Shareholdings

SHARE PRICES AND MONTHLY VOLUMES

Share Prices and Straits Times Index (STI) (January 1998 - April 1999)

SEMBCORP INDUSTRIES

186

Month

1998
January
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December

Closing Price (S$)
STIC

Sembawang

1.19
1.43
1.87
1.85
1.66
1.25
1.47
1.22
1.65

2.00
3.40
3.60
3.16
3.08
1.99
2.54
2.14
2.81

1999
January
February
March
April

STI Index
SembCorp
Industries

1.61
1.96
1.88

1,274.24
1,507.85
1,484.39
1,354.06
1,167.52
1,009.20
1,014.97
856.43
931.98
1,204.62
1,416.55
1,329.73

2.27
1.87
1.89
2.11

1,428.14
1,411.91
1,518.31
1,886.19

Monthly Volumes (January 1998 - April 1999)
Month

1998
January
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December
1999
January
February
March
April

Volume (‘000)
STIC

Sembawang

24,070
23,175
45,489
29,938
37,136
24,400
20,008
20,682
29,059

22,742
34,183
19,736
8,432
14,819
14,098
8,843
7,967
15,777

SembCorp
Industries

167,429
234,317
104,013
242,211
199,844
88,336
182,178

SHARE PRICES AND MONTHLY VOLUMES

Share Prices and Straits Times Index (STI) (January 1998 - April 1999)
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